
 
 
 

Mr S Hearse 
Chief Executive 
Torridge District Council 
Riverbank House 
Bideford 
Devon 
EX39 2QG 
 
DX 53606 BIDEFORD 
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700 
 

 

 

 

 
Date: 21 August 2020 

 

MEETING OF PLANS COMMITTEE 
 

Virtual Meeting via Zoom with Public Access via YouTube 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube - 

https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouT 

Thursday 3 September 2020 at 9.30 am 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

Temporary measures during the Coronavirus Pandemic: 

Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in the public forum are advised that 
all Plans meetings taking place during the Covid-19 Pandemic will be filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the YouTube channel - https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 

 

To: Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors: R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, D McGeough, P Watson 
and R Wiseman 

 
Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the Meeting 

 

AGENDA 

  

1.   Apologies For Absence  

 To receive apologies of absence from the meeting. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 14) 

 To receive the Minutes from the meeting held on 6 August 2020. 
 

https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube


 

 

3.   Declaration of Interest  

 Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered. 
 
Elected Members of Devon County Council and Town/Parish Councils who have 
considered a planning application by virtue of their membership of that Council hold a 
personal interest and are deemed to have considered the application separately and 
the expressed views of that Council do not bind the Members concerned who 
consider the application afresh. 
 

4.   Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II  

 There are no Part II items. 
 

5.   Urgent Matters  

 Information to be brought forward with the permission of the Chair. 
 

6.   Public Participation  

 The Chair to advise the Committee of any prior requests to speak made by members 
of the public and to advise of the details of the Council’s public participation scheme. 
 

7.   Planning Applications  

 The information, recommendations and advice contained in the reports are correct as 
at the date of preparation which is more than ten days in advance of the Committee 
meeting.   Due to these time constraints any changes or necessary updates to the 
reports will be provided in writing or orally at the Committee meeting. 
 

(a)   Application No. 1/0407/2019/FULM (Pages 15 - 51) 

 Residential Development for 40 Dwellings including demolition of one dwelling for 
creation of new access (affecting public right of way) - Land Adjacent To Marshalls 
Mead, Beaford, Devon. 
 

(b)   Application No. 1/0041/2009/OUTM (Pages 52 - 90) 

 Residential redevelopment of former commercial brownfield site comprising up to 96 
residential units including affordable homes, improved off site access road and 
footways, traffic lights and calming measures, drainage arrangements and flood 
protection measures, wetland area, raising and lowering of ground levels, 
landscaping, local equipped area of play, youth shelter and car park. (Amended 
Plans) - Ground Plant, Nuttaberry, Bideford. 
 

30 MINUTE BREAK 
 

(c)   Application No. 1/0460/2020/FUL (Pages 91 - 122) 

 Residential development of 3 dwellings and associated works - Land To The West Of 
Hampton Park, Raleigh Hill, Bideford. 
 



 

 

(d)   Application No. 1/0398/2020/FUL (Pages 123 - 129) 

 Construction of 1no. Dwelling (Re-submission of 1/0453/2019/FUL) - Bramber, 
Raleigh Hill, Bideford. 
 

(e)   Application No. 1/0457/2020/FUL (Pages 130 - 138) 

 Removal of condition 4 pursuant to permission 1/0146/2019/FUL - Time Restriction - 
Building At Grid Reference 231879 113378, Bradworthy, Devon. 
 

(f)   Application No. 1/1054/2019/FUL (Pages 139 - 152) 

 Proposed temporary live/work unit - Ruby Oak Park, Brandis Corner, Holsworthy. 
 

8.   Appeal Decisions Summary (Pages 153 - 157) 

 Appeal Decision Summary and Reports of Planning Inspectorate 
 
Summary 
 
Application No: 1/0433/2019/FUL – Land at Reeds Farm, Beaford, Devon 
 
Appeal Decision Allowed 
 

9.   Costs on Appeals  

 There are no Costs on Appeals. 
 

10.   Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications (Page 158) 

11.   Planning Decisions (Pages 159 - 164) 

 List of Delegated Planning Decisions, Consultee Abbreviations and Application Types 
enclosed 23 July 2020 – 20 August 2020 
 

12.   Exclusion of Public  

 The Chair to move:- 
 
That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of Part 1 Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 

13.   Part II - Closed Session  

 There are no Part II items. 
 



 

 

The background papers are considered to comprise the following documents: 
 

- The individual planning application file (reference number quoted in each case) 
- North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (Adopted October 2018) 
- Current Government guidance contained in Circulars, the National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Policy for Traveller Sites and Ministerial Statements 
- Any other documents specifically referred to in the report. 

 
All background papers referred to are available for examination during normal office hours. 

 

NOTE TO MEMBERS 
 
All letters of representations are readily available for inspection on the files or through the 
website and public access.  If any Member requires assistance in using this facility, please 
contact the Development Enabling Manager directly. 
 
Members of the Committee only will receive hard copies of representations received. 

 

 
 

Meeting Organiser: Sandra Cawsey 
 

 
For those wishing to speak at Plans Committee please contact: 
 
Planning Support  -         Tel:   01237 428778 or 428711 
                                        Email:   speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk 
                                        Website:  www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning 

 

 
 

mailto:speak.planning@torridge.gov.uk
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/speakplanning


1 
 

 
 

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Virtual Meeting via Zoom with Public Access via YouTube 
https://tinyurl.com/TorridgeYouTube 

 
Thursday, 6 August 2020 - 9.30 am 

 
PRESENT Councillor C Leather (Chair) 
 Councillor M Brown (Vice-Chair) 

 
 Councillors R Boughton, P Christie, R Craigie, R Lock, 

D McGeough, P Watson and R Wiseman 
 

  
ALSO PRESENT S Dorey - Senior Solicitor 
 S Harrington - Development Manager 
 H Smith - Development Management Team Leader 
 K Evely - Planning Officer 
 S Chappell - Conservation Officer 
 R Webdell - Strategic Enabling Officer 
 S Cawsey - Democratic Services Officer 

 
  
23.    MINUTES  

 
It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor Watson – 
 
Resolved: 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 2 July 2020 be agreed and signed as a correct 
record. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton   X 

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough   X 

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote: For 7, Abstentions 2) 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

 
 

24.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair reminded Members to declare their interests when the relevant item was 
up for discussion.  Declarations of interest were made as indicated below and in 
accordance with the previously agreed arrangements for “dual-hatted” Members. 
 

25.    AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II  
 
The Chair informed the Committee of the following: 
 
Application No. 1/0070/2018/OUT – South Street Car Park, Torrington -  
 
A late representation had been received from Historic England.  To allow the 
applicant and Planning Officer time to consider and respond to the representation – 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Leather, seconded by Councillor McGeough that –  
 
The application be withdrawn from the Agenda and deferred to the September 
Plans Committee meeting. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote:  For – Unanimous) 
 
 
Members expressed their displeasure that having been contacted by the Planning 
Officer previously, a formal response from Historic England had only been received 
the preceding day. 
 

26.    URGENT MATTERS  
 
There were no urgent matters, but Councillor Christie asked if Officers could give a 
digest on the future of planning and the Governments changes to the Planning 
System.   He also referred to the Heathrow Planning Decision which had been 
dismissed due to lack of consideration being given to climate change and reminded 
Officers of his previous request for further information. 
 

Page 6



3 
 

 
 

The Development Manager advised that the White Paper had only been published 
that morning, and as soon as Officers had reviewed the document Members would 
be updated.   Regarding the Heathrow position, this would also be reviewed by 
Officers. 
 

27.    PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
The Chair advised the Committee and members of the public of the details in 
respect of the Council’s public participation scheme.  
 

28.    PLANNING APPLICATIONS  
 
(a)   Application No. 1/0076/2020/REMM 

 
 The following Councillors had attended the virtual site visit: 

 
Councillors: C Leather, M Brown, R Boughton, R Craigie, R Lock, P 
Watson and R Wiseman 
 
 
Application No.1/0076/2020/REMM  -  Reserved matters 
(Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and Scale) for the erection of 130 
dwellings pursuant to 1/1192/2015/OUTM - Daddon Hill, Northam, 
Devon. 
 
Interests: 
 
Officer Recommendation:   Grant 
 
 
The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 
Councillor Leather for the following reason: 
 
“So Members can consider the following: landscaping, play provision, 
surface water drainage and design quality”. 
 
Prior to the presentation the Committee was advised of the following 
updates: 
 

 Late representations objecting to the application 
 

 A New condition as a result of play space being considered via 
condition 20: 

 
“Notwithstanding the plans hereby permitted, the play space 
indicated on the approved plans shall be treated as indicative 
only, and further details are required to be approved as per 
condition 20 (revised) of planning permission 
1/1192/2015/OUTM. 

 

Page 7



4 
 

 
 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that 
appropriate play space is provided on site in accordance with 
policy DM10. 

 

 New informative: 
 

The developer is advised that they have two years to 
commence following the approval of any reserved matters. 

 
 
The Planning Officer presented the report and advised Members of 
the main planning consideration. 
 
When debating the application, the following issues/ concerns were 
raised: 
 

 Affordable housing – did not meet the 30% as set out in the 
Local Plan.   Members were advised that the S106 Agreement 
had been agreed as part of the Outline application and was 
not for consideration at this stage.  The Strategic Enabling 
Officer reported that the 21% is acceptable, had been deemed 
viable by the District Valuers Office and conforms with the 
S106 Agreement.   

 

 No bungalows proposed for the site. 
 

 The potential of a further 17 dwellings - not applied for and 
above that approved under the Outline Permission. 

 

 S106 – No contribution towards reducing carbon emissions on 
this estate. 

 

 S106 – Did Ward Members get consulted on the S106?  This 
had been dealt with as part of the Outline application in 2015, 
when details would have been presented to Plans Committee.  
The Planning Officer who dealt with the Outline application is 
no longer an employee of the Authority. 

 

 S106 – monies for highway improvement.  The Devon County 
Highways Officer addressed concerns relating to the “pot” of 
monies for highway improvements to Buckleigh Road and 
Heywood Road roundabout.   

 

 The Development Manager informed the Committee that the 
S106 had been approved at the Outline application and was 
not open for discussion at this meeting. 

 

 Drainage – crated system under the basin – the Devon County 
Flood Risk Officer explained this system and how it would 
work on this site. 

Page 8



5 
 

 
 

 

 Flood risk issues. 
 

 Pumping Station and attenuation ponds – onsite drainage in 
terms of pipework and system to be adopted by South West 
Water. 

 

 Increased water run-off into the stream – this concern was 
clarified by the Planning Officer who also explained there 
would be no increase in the amount of water going into the 
stream. 

 

 Position of play areas within the site – these are on an 
accessible route and are acceptable in terms of policy.   Play 
area facilities to be improved under a separate Agreement. 

 

 Buckleigh Road widening scheme - Funding not due until the 
2nd phase – 131st unit. 

 

 Implementation of a new footpath and the affect, if any, it 
would have on the highway.   The Devon County Highways 
Officer advised that Bay View Road, where narrow, would still 
function as two-way traffic. Highways had no objections. 

 

 It had been requested by the Devon County Highways Officer 
that the small footpath works be carried out prior to occupation 
of any dwelling. 

 

 Imposition of 20mph speed limit through the site – the 
Planning Officer confirmed this could not be included as a 
condition – it is different legislation and would not be 
enforceable.   This is a matter for Devon County Highways. 

 

 Removal of the footpath on the western end of Bay View Road 
– reasons given as to why it had been agreed to remove the 
footpath. 

 

 Buffer zone – College Close boundary – a 1.8m fence along 
the boundary together with extra planting, although suggested 
had not been put forward as part of the decision. 
 

 The importance of the school site – this is critical for the area. 
 
 
Reference was made to Condition 19 on the Outline Application 
which detailed the permitted hours of construction.  Following advice 
from the Planning Officer it was agreed that as a Condition re hours 
of construction could not be imposed on this application, an additional 
informative be added. 

Page 9



6 
 

 
 

 
Councillor Leather recommended that an additional condition be 
imposed to state that the works to commence within two years of the 
granting of planning permission.    
 
Advice was given by the Development Manager and Planning Officer 
in relation to imposing additional conditions on a Reserved Matters 
application.  The time scale condition cannot be imposed on this 
application but could be added as an additional informative.   
Members were informed that the Outline application is the Planning 
Permission and the Reserved Matters application is a condition to 
that Permission.   The Development Manager read to the meeting 
Paragraph 025 of the NPPG which relates to this matter and explains 
why additional conditions cannot be imposed. 
 
 
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor Lock 
that the application be approved. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown  X  

Cllr P Christie  X  

Cllr R Craigie  X  

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman     X   

 
 
(Vote:   For 6, Against 3)  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be Granted subject to a new Condition as a 
result of play space being considered via Condition 20, two additional 
Informatives as detailed above and the Conditions as set out in the 
report. 
 
 
Mr T Savage addressed the Committee objecting to the application 
Mr L Shelley addressed the Committee objecting to the application 
Mr W Pahl addressed the Committee in support of the application 
Mr P Osborne addressed the Committee in support of the application 
Councillor Hames, on behalf of Northam Town Council, addressed 
the Committee objecting to the application 
Councillor Laws addressed the Committee 

Page 10



7 
 

 
 

 
 

(b)   Application No. 1/0070/2018/OUT 
 

 The following Councillors had attended the virtual site visit: 
 
Councillors: C Leather, M Brown, R Boughton, R Craigie, R Lock, P 
Watson and R Wiseman 
 
 
Application No. 1/0070/2018/OUT -  Erection of Nine dwellings 
together with associated landscaping and infrastructure - South 
Street Car Park, Mill Street, Torrington. 
 
Interests: 
 
Officer Recommendation:   Grant 
 
 
As unanimously agreed by the Committee under Agenda item 4, this 
application had been deferred to be brought back to the September 
meeting. 
 
 

(c)   Application No. 1/0948/2019/FUL 
 

 The following Councillors had attended the virtual site visit: 
 
Councillors: C Leather, M Brown, R Boughton, R Craigie, R Lock, P 
Watson and R Wiseman 
 
 
Application No. 1/0948/2019/FUL  -  Erection of 5 no. dwellings - 
Holly Lane Farm, Halwill Junction, Beaworthy. 
 
Interests: 
 
Officer Recommendation:   Grant subject to a S106 Agreement 
 
 
The planning application had been called into Plans Committee by 
Councillor Hackett for the following reason: 
 
“Proposal lies outside of the development boundary, and is therefore 
in the open countryside, therefore does not accord with Policy ST07.  
Also highway issues under Policy DM05”. 
 
Prior to the presentation the Committee were informed of the 
following updates: 
 

Page 11



8 
 

 
 

 Revisions to condition 9 and 10: 
 

Part G) of Condition 10 moved to C) of Condition 9 which now 
states as follows: 

 
“The pedestrian footway along Holly Lane linking to the 
existing footway on the public highway required by this 
permission has been provided as approved. This footway shall 
be retained thereafter for use by the development”. 

 

 Further evidence of title provided by the applicant which 
confirms they own the access and the objector has a right of 
access. 
 

 Public Open Space – discussions to take place with Parish 
Council and Ward Members re allocation of S106 monies 
should the application be supported. 

 
 
The Development Management Team Leader presented the 
application and advised Members of the main planning 
considerations. 
 
When debating the application, it was agreed that an additional 
Condition be imposed, namely that the northern and western 
boundaries be protected, and the wording of the Condition be 
delegated to Officers, the Chair and Vice Chair of Plans Committee. 
 
It was proposed by Councillor McGeough, seconded by Councillor 
Lock that the application be approved. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie  X  

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson  X  

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote:  For 7, Against 2) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be Granted subject to the additional Condition as 

Page 12



9 
 

 
 

stated above and the Conditions as set out in the report. 
 
 
Mr Murray Ross addressed the Committee in support of the 
application 
Councillor Hackett, Ward Member, addressed the Committee 
 
 

(d)   Application No. 1/0382/2020/LBC 
 

 In accordance with the Constitution it was proposed by Councillor 
Leather, seconded by Councillor Watson and -  
 
Resolved:   
 
That in view of the fact 3 hours had elapsed since the meeting had 
commenced, that the meeting should continue. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie X   

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote:   For – unanimous) 
 
 
Cllr Christie left the meeting at 12.37. 
 
 
 
Application No. 1/0382/2020/LBC - Alterations and renovations to 
listed building - 33 South Street, Torrington, Devon. 
 
Interests:      Councillor Brown declared a personal interest – dual 
hatted – Gt. Torrington Town Council 
 
Officer Recommendation:   Grant 
 
 
The planning application had been referred to Plans Committee as 
the applicant is a Torridge District Councillor. 

Page 13



10 
 

 
 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Watson, seconded by Councillor 
Brown that the application be approved. 
 
A recorded vote was taken. 
 

Councillor For Against Abstain 

Cllr R Boughton X   

Cllr M Brown X   

Cllr P Christie    

Cllr R Craigie X   

Cllr C Leather X   

Cllr R Lock X   

Cllr D McGeough X   

Cllr P Watson X   

Cllr R Wiseman X   

 
 
(Vote:  For – Unanimous)   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be Granted subject to the conditions as set out in 
the report. 
 
 

29.    APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY  
 
There were no Appeal Decisions. 
 

30.    COSTS ON APPEALS  
 
There were no Costs on Appeals. 
 

31.    DELEGATED DECISIONS - AGMB APPLICATIONS  
 
The Committee noted the Delegated Decisions. 
 

32.    PLANNING DECISIONS  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Planning decisions for the period 18 June 2020 to 23 July 2020 be noted. 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 9.30am and closed at 12.45pm. 
 
Chair:  Date:  
 
 

Page 14



 
 Committee Report – 3rd September 2020  

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number:  1/0407/2019/FULM 

Registration date:  29 May 2019 

Expiry date:  28 August 2019 

Applicant:  Mr Chris Rogers  

Agent:  John Blaney 

Case Officer:  Kristian Evely 

Site Address:  Land Adjacent To Marshalls Mead,  
Beaford,  
Devon, 
 
   
 

Proposal:  Residential Development for 40 Dwellings 
including demolition of one dwelling for creation 
of new access (affecting public right of way) 

Recommendation:  Grant 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7a



 
Reason for referral: 
 
Applicant related to a member of staff 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No.  Description  Status  Closed  

       

1/0085/1975 EXTENSION TO 
BUNGALOW STONEY WAY, 
BEAFORD 

PER 27.02.1975 

   

1/0101/1999 CONSTRUCTION OF A 
NEW PITCHED ROOF 
OVER THE EXISTING 
KITCHEN AND GARAGE 

PER 05.03.1999 

   

1/0333/2007/FUL Single storey rear extension PER 11.05.2007 
       

1/1441/2003/FUL Single storey hay barn and 
store 

PER 18.09.2003 
    

1/0046/2008/DIS Discharge of Condition 3 of 
Planning Permission 
1/1441/2003/FUL 

PER 06.10.2008 

   

1/1025/2014/CPE Use of land for use of non - 
agricultural materials, 
supplies and equipment 

REF 15.12.2014 

   

1/1333/2014/OUT 9 dwellings and associated 
works 

PER 14.12.2016 
      

1/0267/2017/DIS Discharge of Conditions 14, 
15, 16 & 17 of Planning 
Approval 1/1333/2014/OUT 

PARAPP 05.07.2017 

   

1/0319/2017/DIS Discharge of Conditions 6 
and 12 of 1/1333/2014/OUT. 

REF 05.07.2017 
   

1/0355/2017/REM Reserved matters persuant to 
application 1/1333/2014/OUT 

PER 01.02.2018 
     

1/0796/2018/DIS Discharge of conditions 
2,3,4,5 and 6 of application 
1/0355/2017/REM pursuant 
to application 
1/1333/2014/OUT (Planting 
plan and Finishing material 
details) 

PER 13.11.2018 

     

1/1005/2018/FUL Variation of condition 1 
(Plans Schedule) 
Amendments floor layout and 
elevations to Plot 4 dwelling 
pursuant to reserved matters 
approval 1/0355/2017/REM 
and outline Approval 
1/1333/2014/OUT. 

WDN 06.12.2018 

   

1/0030/2019/DIS Re-discharge of Condition 6 
of application 
1/0355/2017/REM 
Construction Management 

PER 11.03.2019 

Page 16



Plan (Further to application 
1/0796/2018/DIS) 

     

1/0851/2019/SEC10
6 

Deed of variation of Section 
106 relating to application 
1/1333/2014/OUT 

PER 04.12.2019 

    

    
 

Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description: 
The site is located within the village of Beaford, on land allocated for development shown in 
Policies map 30, Policy number BEA02. The site would be accessed through an existing 
bungalow named 'stoney way', allowing access from the A3124. Neighbouring dwellings 
along the A3214 are predominantly bungalows, and the conservation area boundary runs 
along this highway. The village garage is to the northeast of the site and was originally the 
preferred access; however, the garage is now being retained. To the southeast and south of 
the site are agricultural fields, and to the southwest are modern bungalows in Rye Park Close 
and Marshalls Mead. To the west/northwest is the village primary school.  
 
The land is reasonably flat, and is an agricultural field. The field was being used for turf 
cutting on the officers initial visit. There is a pubic footpath running through the site from 
northwest to southeast. Currently boundary treatments include agricultural hedgerows on the 
south and east, and more domestic boundaries on the remaining site.   
 
Proposal: 
This application seeks full planning permission for the development for 40 dwellings, 
including demolition of one dwelling for the creation of new access (resulting in a net increase 
of 39 dwellings on site). It should be noted that the applicant recently removed 1 dwelling 
from the scheme following concerns raised by the planning officer, and thus the number of 
dwellings in the description was changed to reflect this. This change is not considered to 
have resulted in any negative impacts or prejudice to any neighbouring property.  
 
The latest site plan (CR04 REV8), shows access to the site being gained from the A3124. 
Travelling into the site, there would be the provision of new public parking spaces for the 
village in general, along with 3 mini bus and 3 coach spaces for the use of the school, and a 
new school access. A large turning and parking area is present coming into the site, and the 
road splits into two directions. Travelling around the site to the east, there are 3 rows of 
modern terraced buildings, whilst going in the other direction, there are a mixture of 
properties, which include a 2 story building containing flats, and a mixture of bungalows 
around the perimeter of the site. Moving back into the site, there is a 'village green' area, 
followed by two storey detached buildings on the southern boundaries, and a modern terrace 
adjacent to the village green, using a similar building line as Rye Park Close.  
 
The existing public footpath running through the site is retained, whilst a footpath is also 
added leading to Marshalls Mead (with a retractable bollard so that it can be used in 
emergencies). A 'green infrastructure' strip will be added as enhancement to the south 
eastern boundary, whilst elsewhere landscape screens are added on other neighbouring 
boundaries. 
 
Consultee representations: 
 
Beaford Parish/Town Council (Latest update):  
Beaford Parish Council are responding to a public meeting which was held in the Village Hall 

Page 17



to which 55 people where in attendance, many points were put forward. 
 
The Parish Council would like to reiterate the most important: 
 
1. Density 
In the recently agreed North Devon and Torridge Local Plan, the proposed density of site 
BEA 2 was 30 properties, but the current proposal is 41. This point was raised by numerous 
members of the public. This legal document was only agreed a year ago and the proposed 
application is an increase by 30% with no case made as to the increase. Beaford is a small 
village with a lot of proposed development with limited employment so people will have to 
drive to employment thus polluting the environment, 41 houses will likely create over 80 
vehicles, having to travel to access required amenities. 
 
As stated, before that the design of the properties are not in keeping with the village. 
 
2. Highway 
Green Lane is a substandard junction due to the width of the Exeter Road carriageway and 
the fact that two lorries cannot pass on the road through the village, if the proposal of another 
junction was agreed there could be an equal amount of problems again. 
 
The transport system running through the village is currently unworkable and unsafe and this 
development will exacerbate the situation. 
 
Safety concerns were strongly raised regarding the manoeuvrability of vehicles both cars and 
buses on the new site at school times, as there are only 8 parking places and no turning 
area. 
 
In the Parish Councils previous response, it has been highlighted the suggestion of a new 
access east of the village with a roundabout at Chaplands. 
 
3. Access 
The first is proposed along Exeter Road, with many comments from the floor relating to the 
current problems experienced at the Green Lane junction and an emergency access through 
Marshalls Mead with a security bollard for emergency service if the main highway was 
blocked, it was raised there is currently no policy requirement for two access in and out of 
proposed building projects. 
 
4. Parking on Exeter Road 
Many properties only have parking on Exeter road if the proposed access was to go ahead, 
parking space would be lost. Some current residents being disabled would have great 
difficulty without parking. 
 
5. Infrastructure 
Can the current infrastructure support this size of development? 
 
6. Bungalows 
The request for more bungalows and the request for low roofs on the bungalows like the 
existing, as the majority of properties on Exeter road are bungalows, rather than the 
proposed high roofs which could in time have loft conversions so over look existing properties 
likewise the terrace also needs to be lower so it does not cause the same impact. 
 
The project is causing stress and uncertainty to many residents in the community. 

Page 18



The overall feeling of the meeting held on the 25th September was to strongly object to this 
planning application on the above points. 
 
At a further meeting held on the 16th October, again the transport system through Beaford 
Village was brought to the table, concern is being shown for the safety of parents with their 
siblings travelling to and from school, this is of paramount overarching importance to the 
Parish Council and the Parish Council would like to request a risk assessment to be carried 
out on the road at school times. 
 
The Parish Council have very grave concerns regarding the access, density, infrastructure, 
bungalows and highway issues. 
 
The Parish Council object to this application in its current form. 
 
Beaford Parish/Town Council:  
Further comments to be put forward from the Parish Council are: 
 
After consultation the Parish Councillors object to this application on the grounds of the 
access. 
 
Planning was granted in 2011, number 1/1099/2011full for a new access onto the main road 
at the Winkleigh end of the village, what is known as Chaplands.  If a substantial roundabout 
was installed with signs etc it would help to elevate the village from all the new extra traffic 
caused by the new proposed building project at Marshalls Mead and slow traffic down on 
entering the village. 
 
It is also thought it would be advantageous for Highways and the village of Beaford to have a 
traffic counter put in across the main road of Beaford to ascertain the amount of traffic 
movements through the village.  It is thought this will help determine the dimensions when 
calculating the visibility splays of the road. 
 
It was also highlighted could the layout be that bungalows are sited next to the existing 
bungalows to be of a lesser impact. 
 
As noted, before it was felt the design of the properties are not in keeping with a rural location 
such as Beaford.  
 
Beaford Parish/Town Council:  
The Parish Council noted that the access is giving great concern and needs to be thoroughly 
reviewed. Many residents are concerned at how this development will affect the current 
parking on the main A3124.  
 
It was also raised the necessity for the required visibility splay of the new development. 
 
The design of the dwellings was also highlighted in the fact that the blue cladding was not in 
keeping with the rest of the village.1. Beaford Parish Council would like to highlight that in the 
Torridge and North Devon Local Plan the desired access to the site in planning 
1/0407/2019/FULM would be via the Chaplands entrance at the end of the village, which is a 
far safer alternative to the proposed access, causing far less impact to the surrounding 
properties, alleviating the high volume impact of traffic from that part of Exeter Road, as 
Beaford is already impacted greatly by volume of traffic and the number and size of the large 
lorries that travel through the village. 
 

Page 19



The access which ever site is chosen has to meet the highways strict criteria for visibility, as 
the proposed access is causing occupants of Beaford a great deal of concern. 
 
It has been suggested that the properties next to the existing bungalows could be bungalows 
to cause a lesser impact on the existing properties, regarding light and being overlooked. 
 
The design of the properties is again felt to be not in keeping with the rural village of Beaford. 
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
I refer to the above application and your recent re-consultation. The Historic Environment 
Team have no additional comments to those previously made.  
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
I refer to the above application. The proposed development lies in an area of archaeological 
potential. It is located on the cusp of the Beaford Conservation Area and the early 19th 
century Beaford tithe map shows development along the A3124, with nearby extant buildings 
dating from the 17th century. The local parish Church of Saint George and All Saints is Grade 
I listed and dates to the late 15th century. The Devon Historic Environment Record (HER) 
records the discovery of a quantity of prehistoric flint artefacts in the fields immediately south 
of the site and in the wider landscape. It is possible that further evidence of prehistoric and 
medieval activity may survive within the site, in the form of artefacts and buried 
archaeological deposits. As such, groundworks for the construction of the proposed 
development have the potential to expose and destroy archaeological and artefactual 
deposits associated with these heritage assets. The impact of development upon the 
archaeological resource here should be mitigated by a programme of archaeological work 
that should investigate, record and analyse the archaeological evidence that will otherwise be 
destroyed by the proposed development.  
 
The Historic Environment Team recommends that this application should be supported by the 
submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) setting out a programme of 
archaeological work to be undertaken in mitigation for the loss of heritage assets with 
archaeological interest. The WSI should be based on national standards and guidance and 
be approved by the Historic Environment Team. 
 
If a Written Scheme of Investigation is not submitted prior to determination the Historic 
Environment Team would advise, for the above reasons and in accordance with Policy DM07 
of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2018), that any consent your Authority may be minded to issue 
should carry the condition as worded below, based on model Condition 55 as set out in 
Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby:  
 
'No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation 
(WSI) which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, 
or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason 
'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018), that an 
appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the 
development' 

Page 20



 
This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works are 
agreed and implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by the 
commencement of preparatory and/or construction works.  
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of a staged programme of 
archaeological works, which may include archaeological monitoring and recording of all 
groundworks and a series of evaluative trenches to determine the presence and significance 
of any heritage assets with archaeological interest that will be affected by the development. 
Based on the results of this initial stage of works the requirement and scope of any further 
archaeological mitigation can be determined and implemented either in advance of or during 
construction works. This archaeological mitigation work may take the form of full area 
excavation in advance of groundworks or the monitoring and recording of groundworks 
associated with the construction of the proposed development to allow for the identification, 
investigation and recording of any exposed archaeological or artefactual deposits. The 
results of the fieldwork and any post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to be 
presented in an appropriately detailed and illustrated report, and the finds and archive 
deposited in accordance with relevant national and local guidelines.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways)  (Latest update):  
I have previously raised concerns over highway issues for this proposed development. 
 
Following further work that has been undertaken I can confirm the following: 
 
1. I note that an updated traffic speed/volume count has been undertaken. The previous 
count, which was conducted a few years ago, was sited by the garage, where the access had 
originally been mooted. The latest count is located closer to the proposed access in this 
application. 
 
2. The original intention was to reduce the width of the carriageway on the A3124 at the site 
of the access to 5 metres. This would have been unacceptable as it would have prevented 
two large goods vehicles to pass. The proposal for a width of 5.5 metres is acceptable. 
 
3. I had previously raised concerns about whether the visibility splays would encroach over 
third party land. This matter has been resolved and I no longer raise issue with this.  
 
4. As a result of the updated points, I can confirm that I now accept the visibility splays that 
are offered and I have no objection subject to the imposition of a condition relating to this.  
Further to these points, I can confirm that I am satisfied that the relevant drawings have been 
provided to demonstrate the efficacy of the swept path analysis for the proposed 
development. 
 
With regards to the proposed school rear access, it has been confirmed that the intention is 
for the school to allow children to use this entrance. Given the relatively short distances 
between this entrance and the proposed dwellings, I do not believe that a significant 
percentage of households with primary aged children will drive them to school when walking, 
in many ways, is a more advantageous option. 
 
I accept that a percentage of school traffic will be attracted to the proposed rear access. For 
example, this would be more convenient for those who live outside the village and approach 
Beaford from the east. However, whilst this may cause some issues within the proposed 
estate, this will also alleviate the present issues on Green Lane. Moreover, this will also 

Page 21



reduce the number of vehicles emerging onto the A3124 from the Green Lane junction. 
Therefore, I do not raise issue with this. 
 
As previously stated, I am satisfied with the overall construction detail of the access including 
the accompanying footways. With regards to adoption, the Highway Authority would accept 
the spine road and footways through the proposed estate. Any 'green areas', parking areas, 
courts and private drives would not be considered for adoption and arrangements will need to 
be made to maintain these privately.  
 
As a result, I am satisfied that the submitted information demonstrates that the application 
offers 'safe and suitable' access, as is the test of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF).  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Regarding the traffic movements on the A3124, I note the applicant's findings in their 
Transport Statement and I broadly accept these. Specifically:  
- the traffic counts corroborate my own observations and I have no issue with these 
- the 85th percentile calculations appear to represent traffic speeds and the subsequent 'y' 
visibility distances of 45 metres are acceptable 
- I accept the trip generation figures for future traffic movements 
 
Although I appreciate that parking opportunities will be lost on the A3124, the additional 
parking spaces offered within the site will act as suitable mitigation.  
 
I note that to achieve visibility, the intention is for the applicant to provide a traffic calming 
measure that will effectively extend the visibility. This effectively fits in with the present traffic 
calming arrangements in the village. I would also ask the applicant to submit the swept path 
analysis for the adjacent dwelling accesses to ensure that this feature does not reasonably 
hamper their movements. 
 
I am satisfied with the overall construction detail of the access including the accompanying 
footways. The provided swept path analysis demonstrates that refuse vehicle movements are 
achievable through the access. 
 
With regards to adoption, the Highway Authority would accept the spine road and footways 
through the proposed estate. Any 'green areas', parking areas, courts and private drives 
would not be considered for adoption. 
 
With regards to drainage issues, I am aware of the response of the DCC Flood and Coastal 
Risk Management Team. To ensure that excess surface water is adequately removed from 
the highway I also await the additional information that has been requested. 
 
I note that the 'x' measurement for the visibility splays has been taken at a distance of 2.0 
metres from the edge of carriageway. I would expect this measurement to be taken at 2.4 
metres. I note the arguments that have been put forward in the applicants Transport 
Assessment relating to measurements being taken at 2.0 metres and acknowledge that there 
are occasions when this would be appropriate, as illustrated in Manual for Streets and 
Manual for Streets 2. However, I do not believe this compromise would be suitable for an 'A' 
class road with these levels of traffic movements (both on the A3124 and through the 
proposed access) with an 85th percentile speed figures above the posted 30 mph limit. 
 
Moreover, it would not be acceptable to have 'overhanging' vehicles edging out on this 
section of road, which is already narrow. In which case, I expect the drawings to be 

Page 22



resubmitted with visibility splays being having its 'x' axis at 2.4 metres. I believe that this is 
required to ensure the proposed development offers 'safe and suitable' access. 
 
Recommendation: Refusal due to a lack of information on visibility.  
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
1. I've been out to Beaford to measure the widths. Across the access on the A3124, the 
existing widths range between 6.1 and 6.3 metres. The proposal is for a reduction to 5 
metres. This would prevent two large vehicles passing. The question we have to ask as a 
Highway Authority is 
why would we want to accept a substandard width from this development? I cannot think of a 
good reason why we would want to accept any reduction in the width of the 'A' road and, 
therefore, do not believe this would be an acceptable solution. 
 
2. Instead, supposing the option is to pursue visibility over third party land, I would ask you to 
note the following: 
a. Any hedge, wall etc. should be a minimum of 0.6 in height. 
b. It would be down to the applicant to provide any evidence of conditions on adjacent 
properties etc. to determine the efficacy of this. 
c. I would suggest consulting the LPA with regards to any certificates or consultations etc. 
that need to be served on the owners of the third party land. 
d. I don't mean to put obstacles ahead, but, as a Highway Authority, this is also not an option 
we favour. Indeed, we have previous experience of this where Inspectors have agreed with 
the position that visibility over third party land is not an acceptable solution. 
 
3. In either case, I note that the visibility splays need to be corrected to meet the nearside 
edge of carriageway. In these cases, I accept that this can be the two traffic calming 
measures either side of the access. 
 
4. As a side note, could you clarify the intention for the rear access for the school. Is the 
intention this up to day-to-day dropping off and picking up for parents? I note the coach 
parking spaces next to the rear access. We need to ensure there would be suitable parking 
provisions to mitigate any morning school traffic if this were the case. FYI, we would not be 
seeking to adopt the parking bays, I would imagine these would come within the ownership of 
the school to maintain and manage?  
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
Police have no further comments to add to those of 14th June 2019.  
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
Police have no objections in principle to the proposal; the general layout will provide both, 
active frontages and good overlooking of the new internal streets. 
 
It is now widely accepted that a key strand in the design of a 'sustainable' development is its 
resistance to crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
Residential - Building Regulations - Approved Document Q - Security. The security element 
within the Building Regulations, namely Approved Document Q (ADQ) creates security 
requirements in relation to all new dwellings, including those resulting from a change of use, 
for example commercial, warehouse or barns undergoing conversion into dwellings. It also 
applies to conservation areas. 
 

Page 23



All doors at the entrance to a building, including garage doors where there is a connecting 
door to the dwelling and all ground floor, basement and other easily accessible windows, 
including roof lights, must be shown to have been manufactured to a design that has been 
tested to an acceptable security standard i.e. PAS 24 2016 or equivalent. 
 
To assist the process in ensuring compliance with the requirements of ADQ it is 
recommended that all doors and windows are sourced from a Secured by Design (SBD) 
member company. SBD requires that doors and windows are not only tested to meet PAS 24 
2016 standard by the product manufacturer, but independent third-party certification from a 
UKAS accredited independent third-party certification authority is also in place, thus reducing 
much time and effort in establishing the provenance of non SBD approved products. 
 
Secured by Design (SBD) is a crime prevention initiative owned by the Mayor's Office for 
Policing and Crime (MOPAC) on behalf of the UK police services. SBD aims to reduce crime, 
the fear of crime and opportunities for antisocial behaviour and conflict within developments 
by applying the attributes of Environmental Design, as follows, in conjunction with appropriate 
physical security measures. The seven attributes of Crime Prevention Through 
Environmental Design (CPTED) are key to ensuring a safe and sustainable community and in 
addition to the layout the physical security is now a consideration. 
- Access and movement: Places with well-defined and well used routes, with spaces and 
entrances that provide for convenient movement without compromising security. 
- Structure: Places that are structured so that different uses do not cause conflict 
-Surveillance: Places where all publicly accessible spaces are overlooked, have a purpose 
and are managed to prevent the creation of problem areas which can attract the antisocial to 
gather, dumping and dog fouling etc. 
- Ownership: Places that promote a sense of ownership, respect, territorial responsibility and 
community 
- Physical protection: Places that include necessary, well-designed security features as laid 
out inSBD Homes 2019 
- Activity: Places where the level of human activity is appropriate to the location and creates a 
reduced risk of crime and a sense of safety at all times. 
-Management and maintenance: Places that are designed with management and 
maintenance in mind, to discourage crime and ASB. 
 
With the above in mind, please note the following advice and recommendations from a 
designing out crime, fear of crime, antisocial behaviour (ASB) and conflict perspective:- 
 
It is now widely accepted that a key strand in the design of a 'sustainable' development is its 
resistance to crime, fear of crime, and anti-social behaviour. The proposed 1.8 and 1.2 m 
boundary treatments are noted. All access that leads to the rear of dwellings must be gated 
as standard. The gates must be the same height as the adjoining boundary treatment (1.8m 
as a minimum height requirement) be robustly constructed of timber and lockable. Such 
gates must be located on or as near to the front building line as possible to prevent the 
creation of recesses and any attempts to climb over will be more noticeable. All gates should 
be capable of being locked from both sides by means of a key to ensure the rear access is 
secure at all times regardless of ingress or egress. Sliding bolts fitted on the inner face of 
garden gates are not considered acceptable from a security perspective as clearly the bolt 
would have to be fitted to the top of the gate so it could be reached and opened from the 
outer face and therefore the rear access would not be secure on egress. 
 
An early point to consider is that if existing hedgerow is likely to comprise new rear garden 
boundaries, then it must be fit for purpose. They should be of sufficient height and depth to 
provide both a consistent and effective defensive boundary as soon as residents move in. If 

Page 24



additional planting will be required to achieve this then temporary fencing may be required 
until such planting has matured. Any hedge must be of a type which does not undergo radical 
seasonal change which would affect its security function. 
 
The proposed LEAP and village green will be overlooked which is welcomed. I would advise 
from a community safety perspective, the indicated 1.2m fence adjacent to the parking 
spaces is continued in both directions to join the indicated hedges towards plots 24 and 26 
respectively. 
 
The retention of the existing Public Right Of Way (PROW) is understood, however it must be 
ensured that this does not undermine the security of the adjacent dwellings. It should remain 
as straight as possible, be wide, devoid of hiding places and well maintained so as to enable 
natural surveillance along the path and its borders. 
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if any clarification is sought or I can assist further. 
 
Chief Education Officer:  
No additional comments  
 
Chief Education Officer:  
Regarding the above planning application, Devon County Council has identified that the 
proposed 35 
family type dwellings will generate an additional 8.75 primary pupils and 5.25 secondary 
pupils which would have a direct impact on Beaford Primary school and Great Torrington 
School. 
 
In order to make the development acceptable in planning terms, an education contribution to 
mitigate its impact will be requested. This is set out below:  
 
We have forecast that the nearest primary school has currently got capacity for the number of 
pupils 
likely to be generated by the proposed development and therefore a contribution towards 
primary 
education would not be sought. 
 
The nearest secondary school from this development is Great Torrington School which has a 
current NET Capacity of 900. When factoring in approved but not yet implemented 
developments in the area we have forecast that in Spring 2025 the number of pupils 
expected to be attending the school is 968.55. 
 
Therefore, our forecasts shows a shortfall of 68.55 pupils. Devon County Council will seek a 
contribution directly towards additional education infrastructure at the local secondary school 
that serves the address of the proposed development. The contribution sought towards 
secondary is £115,085 (based on the DfE extension rate of £21,921 per pupil). This will relate 
directly to providing education facilities for those living in the development. 
 
We would also require a contribution towards secondary school transport costs due to the 
development being further than 2.25 miles from Great Torrington school. The costs required 
are as follows: - 
 
6 secondary pupils 
£7.85 per day x 6 pupils x 190 academic days x 5 years = £44,745 
 

Page 25



All contributions will be subject to indexation using BCIS, it should be noted that education 
infrastructure contributions are based on March 2015 rates and any indexation applied to 
these 
contributions should be applied from this date. 
 
The amount requested is based on established educational formulae (which related to the 
number of primary and secondary age children that are likely to be living in this type of 
accommodation) and the costs of transporting children from Beaford to Great Torrington 
School. It is considered that this is an appropriate methodology to ensure that the 
contribution is fairly and reasonably related in scale to the development proposed which 
complies with CIL Regulation 122. 
 
If this application reaches the stage of preparing a Section 106, it is considered that the 
contribution can be allocated in accordance with the pooling regulations set out in the CIL 
Regulation 123. 
 
In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish to 
recover legal 
costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement. Legal costs 
are not 
expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education 
contribution. 
 
However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the 
legal costs are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
  
South West Water:  
I refer to the above application and would advise that South West Water have previously 
been approached regarding this proposal and drainage capacity confirmed to be available 
and therefore we have no objection.  
 
Conservation Officer:  
No additional comments received  
 
Conservation Officer:  
The proposal seeks permission on a housing allocation which infills a section of land behind 
Marshalls Mead run behind the school and links to the 'main' road via a new access created 
by removing an existing bungalow known as Stoney Way. 
 
The visual impact on the conservation area. The council as local planning authority has a 
duty under secion72 of the Planning (Listed building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to 
pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character of 
appearance of that area. 
 
The bulk of the site is not within the Conservation area designated for Beaford which is drawn 
very tightly around the historic buildings and runs along the main Exeter (A3124) road 
frontage excluding the post war dwellings from the conservation area. 
 
The proposed site has limited impact on the conservation area designation. The main views 
are along the main road comprises of post war dwellings set back from the road and in 
regular plots. The removal of the bungalow known as Stoney Way to create and a new 
access to the site will have a small visual impact on the view along the road which is currently 
characterised by greenery made up from domestic front gardens and accesses. While the 

Page 26



access will increase the necessary visibility splays will replicate the current domestic 
appearance of the frontage. 
 
The views of the village from the south are limited as the site is screened by the exsiting field 
hedge at the south of the site. The hedge and the surviving trees are important in distant 
views and should be protected by condition. The area within the hedge is shown as a 12 
metres wide green infrastructure strip and woodland planting which should be secured by 
condition. This area forms part of the rear gardens so some additional protection for the 
woodland planting would be prudent to prevent the area being incorporated into the garden 
area. 
 
The setting of the listed buildings. 
 
This hedge which runs to the south of the site also separates the new development from the 
cluster of listed buildings at the south of the village. Their location to the south of the garage 
separates them visually from the new development. The Cottages at Chaplands are in close 
proximity to the garage and are visually separated from longer views by the scale of the 
garage workshop to the north of the cottages. The setting of the cottages is defined by the 
road and the garage structures and to the rear by the surviving hedge which defines the 
south of the allocated site. In this case there is considered to be less than substantial harm to 
the significance of the heritage assets which are close to the boundary of the application site. 
 
The listed buildings sited on the opposite side of the road to the new access( The Methodist 
Church and The Thatched Cottage )will not be visually affected over and above the existing 
situation where the principle frontage of the buildings is defined by Exeter Road and the 
linear views along it. 
 
The proposal is considered to fall with the government guidance as set out in paragraphs 196 
to 201 of the NPPF in that the level of harm in terms of visual impact is considered to be less 
than substantial. The overall evaluation of the heritage impact lies within the wider planning 
balance when considering the application.  
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management (Lates t update):  
Our objection is withdrawn and we have no in-principle objections to the above planning 
application at this stage, assuming that the following pre-commencement planning conditions 
are imposed on any approved permission: 
 
- No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a programme of 
percolation tests has been carried out in accordance with BRE Digest 365 Soakaway Design 
(2016), and the results approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation 
with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. A representative number of 
tests should be conducted to provide adequate coverage of the site, with particular focus 
placed on the locations of the proposed infiltration devices/permeable surfaces. 
 
Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is discharged as high up the 
drainage 
hierarchy as is feasible. Reason for being a pre-commencement condition: This data is 
required prior to the commencement of any works as it will affect the permanent surface 
water drainage management plan, which needs to be confirmed before development takes 
place. 
 
- No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design 
of the 

Page 27



proposed permanent surface water drainage management system has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County 
Council as the 
Lead Local Flood Authority. The design of this permanent surface water drainage 
management 
system will be in accordance with the principles of sustainable drainage systems, and those 
set out in 
the Residential Development, Marshalls Mead, Beaford Flood Risk Assessment (Report Ref: 
1226w001, Rev. P3, dated 29th August 2019). No part of the development shall be occupied 
until the 
surface water management scheme serving that part of the development has been provided 
in 
accordance with the approved details and the drainage infrastructure shall be retained and 
maintained for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the development is managed in 
accordance with the principles of sustainable drainage systems. Advice: Refer to Devon 
County Council's Sustainable Drainage Guidance. 
 
- No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the full results of a 
groundwater monitoring programme, undertaken over a period of 12 months, has been 
submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County 
Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This monitoring should be conducted to provide 
adequate coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on the locations and depths of the 
proposed infiltration devices. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the use of infiltration devices on the site is an appropriate means of 
surface 
water drainage management. Reason for being a pre-commencement condition: This data is 
required prior to the commencement of any works as it could affect the permanent surface 
water drainage management plan, which needs to be confirmed before development takes 
place. 
 
- No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed design 
of the 
proposed surface water drainage management system which will serve the development site 
for the 
full period of its construction has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning 
Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This 
temporary surface water drainage management system must satisfactorily address both the 
rates and volumes, and quality, of the surface water runoff from the construction site.  
 
Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the construction site is appropriately 
managed so as to not increase the flood risk, or pose water quality issues, to the surrounding 
area. Reason for being a pre-commencement condition: A plan needs to be demonstrated 
prior to the commencement of any works to ensure that surface water can be managed 
suitably without increasing flood risk downstream, negatively affecting water quality 
downstream or negatively impacting on surrounding areas and infrastructure. Advice: Refer 
to Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage Guidance.  
 

Page 28



- No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a detailed 
assessment of the 
condition and capacity of the receiving ditchcourse at western site boundary is undertaken, 
and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County 
Council as the 
Lead Local Flood Authority. This detailed assessment must also identify, and commit to, any 
repair 
and/or improvement works to the receiving ditchcourse which will be required to facilitate the 
development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the receiving ditchcourse is of a satisfactory condition to receive the 
surface 
water runoff generated from the proposed development. Reason for being a pre-
commencement condition: This assessment needs to be completed prior to commencement 
of any works to ensure that there is a viable outfall and that the ditchcourse which the system 
will discharge into is in a suitable condition. 
 
Observations: 
In accordance with the hierarchy of drainage solutions, infiltration must first be explored as a 
means of surface water drainage management. Discharging the surface water runoff from 
this site to a watercourse will only be permitted once the applicant has submitted evidence 
which adequately demonstrates that infiltration is not a viable means of surface water 
management on this site (e.g. results of percolation testing conducted in accordance with 
BRE Digest 365 Soakaway Design (2016)). 
 
In the absence of the infiltration testing, the applicant has put forward a feasible alternative 
strategy 
encompassing above ground attenuation feature prior to restricted discharge into the ditch. 
The applicant should utilise other SuDS techniques at detailed design such as swales, rain 
gardens and permeable paving. The applicant has also included long term storage within the 
attenuation calculation. The applicant must resubmit details of the exceedance pathways and 
overland flow routes across the site in the event of rainfall in excess of the design standard of 
the surface water drainage management system depending of the outcome of the drainage 
strategy options that they considered.  
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
Although we have no in-principle objection to the above planning application at this stage, the 
applicant must submit additional information, as outlined below, in order to demonstrate that 
all aspects of the proposed surface water drainage management system have been 
considered. 
 
The applicant has submitted two drainage strategy namely Option 1 Infiltration and Option 2 
Attenuation. 
 
For Option 1 Infiltration, a programme of percolation tests must be carried out in accordance 
with BRE 365 Soakaway Design (2016) and the results approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. A representative number of tests should be conducted to provide adequate 
coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on the locations and depths of the proposed 
infiltration devices/permeable surfaces. 
 

Page 29



The depth of the permeable paving areas should be checked against the sub base level and 
the depth of water anticipated during the detailed design stage. Depending on the type and 
depth of the permeable paving used, this area should be excluded from the storage volume 
required. The depth of water anticipated would need to be lower than the permeable paving 
level. 
 
A groundwater monitoring programme, undertaken over a period of 12 months, taking 
account of seasonal variations to be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. This monitoring should be conducted to provide adequate coverage of the site, with 
particular focus placed on the locations and depths of the proposed infiltration devices. 
 
For Option 2 Attenuation, in accordance with hierarchy of drainage solutions, the discharge to 
a surface water body should be considered before considering any connection to the surface 
water sewer. There is a man made pond and the associated watercourse to the southwest of 
the western field. The discharge to this surface water body should be considered first. 
 
The Flood Risk Assessment states that the proposed impermeable area is 0.63ha (Appendix 
B) and that discharge will be restricted to Qbar of 10l/s. However, Drawing 003 Rev P2 
Impermeable Area Plan in Appendix B and the greenfield runoff calculations in Appendix D 
state that the impermeable area of 1.345ha is used. In line with Devon County Council's 
SuDS Guidance (2017), the greenfield runoff calculations should be undertaken using the 
proposed impermeable area. The MicroDrainage calculations should be updated to reflect 
this once the above hierarchy of drainage solutions is finalised. 
 
The applicant must resubmit details of the exceedance pathways and overland flow routes 
across the site in the event of rainfall in excess of the design standard of the surface water 
drainage management system 
depending of the outcome of the drainage strategy options that they considered. 
 
Strategic Enabling Officer (latest update):  
I am writing further to my original Consultation response dated 28th June 2019. 
 
The applicant presented a case that the provision of 30% affordable housing on this scheme 
would make the scheme financially unviable. Evidence to support this position has been 
submitted by the applicant in the form of a development appraisal and this has now been 
assessed on behalf of Torridge District Council by the District Valuation Office (DVO). The 
District Valuation Office have concluded the proposed development cannot viably deliver any 
affordable housing units. 
 
It is important to note that given the current economic uncertainty, the DVO have 
recommended that their assessment is kept under frequent review with them concluding 
within the report that "if your Authority is minded to grant permission on the basis of less than 
policy required contributions, I would suggest that a time scale for delivery is agreed which if 
not met triggers a viability review". 
 
Overall I concur with this approach and would suggest that a time scale for delivery and the 
triggers for a viability review are negotiated with the applicant and if possible conditioned as 
part of the planning permission process or alternatively detailed within any associated 
Section 106 agreement.  
 
Strategic Enabling Officer:  

Page 30



In terms of Affordable Housing, the policy requirement for a proposal of this size in this 
location is for 30% of the overall housing provision to be provided as Affordable Housing, with 
75% provided at a Social Rent level and 25% at an 'intermediate' level - the associated 
definitions being detailed in the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
For the Intermediate provision, it is preferable for this to be provided in the form of Shared 
Ownership Housing or Discounted Market housing. It is important to note that the sales value 
for such properties is required to be set in line with with 3.5 x the average median household 
income for Torridge. A Section 106 agreement is required to secure the agreed affordable 
housing in perpetuity. 
 
Other forms of 'intermediate' housing may be considered providing they are deemed to be 
affordable by Torridge District Council. Affordable Housing is required to pepper-potted 
throughout the development.  
 
Unfortunately the applicant has not detailed the level, type or location of the affordable 
housing in their submitted documents for this application. Therefore without this information, I 
am unable to advise as to whether the application complies with the above detail. I note the 
applicant had suggested a viability appraisal will be submitted and therefore please re-
consult me once this information has been received and assessed so that I can provide a 
further comment in terms of acceptability in terms of the affordable housing provision.  
 
Biosphere:  
No comments received  
 
DCC Rights Of Way:  
No comments received  
 
South West Water:  
I refer to the above and would advise that South West Water has no comment.  
 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  21  Number of letters of support:

  
17 

Number of representations 
received:  

51 Number of neutral 
representations: 

5 

Number of objection letters:  29  
 
3rd Party Representation are summarised below: 
Objections: 

• Principle: 
- School capacity full 
- Erosion of community spirit 
- Lack of services/amenities in village to support the housing  
- Need for more sustainable elements (such as solar panels), to offset the scheme.  
- Outside the boundaries of the plan 
- Significantly increased housing number to that set out within the local allocation 
- People within the affordable units will not be local 
- The council are over-delivering on housing and thus this is not needed. 
- Not in accordance with policy due to access not being through garage 

 

Page 31



• Access: 
- Poor Visibility 
- Conflict with existing junction opposite 
- Access should be at a different point in the village 
- Lack of a sufficient pavement 
- Loss of previously enjoyed parking (historical parking on verges which would be lost) 
- Emergency link not required (will just to used to facilitate future development) 
- Infrequent bus service 
- Further narrowing of highway would be an issue for congestion 
- People will park in close proximity to the junction causing danger to users of the              

highway.  
 

• Amenity: 
- Privacy impacts  
- The terraced properties would overlook the existing bungalows and would be 

overbearing 
- Light from vehicles shining on house would cause amenity issues 
- The new dwellings would be overbearing on neighbouring dwellings 

 
• Visual appearance: 
- New dwellings out of character 
- Impacts on the setting of the Conservation Area and nearby listed buildings 
- Designs will be quickly dated and are not in context with the village 
- Site is too high density 

 
• Drainage: 
- Sewers unable to cope 
- Insufficient drainage capacity 

 
• Other: 
- Pollution (air and noise) 
- Potential to attract criminals 
- Loss of business to the pub (due to lack of parking) 
- People will go on countryside walks leaving gates open (against the countryside code) 
- Planning statement has errors 
- One of the trees on the landscaping plan has blown over and thus the plan is not 

inaccurate 
- Consultation should not happen in covid period 

 
Support: 

• Principle: 
- More affordable housing or locals  
- More people to support local amenities (pub, garage, shop, hall) 
- In keeping with Local Plan 
- Local groups can increase in size and variety (improved community) 

 
• Access: 
- School access improvements 
- Additional Parking for locals 
- Relief from school vehicles parking in green lane 
- Improved pedestrian safety 

 

Page 32



• Other: 
- Improved ecology 
- Plenty of greenspace and wildlife habitat 
- Mix of property styles a positive 
- The applicant has a good reputation for high building standards 
- Development is required to ensure the school retains an intake/high standards 
- Employment during construction 

 
• Neutral: 
- Development should include solar panels on roofs to enhance sustainability 
- School access improved (subject to management) 

 
Policy Context: 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031: 
 
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST03 
(Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 (Improving the Quality of 
Development); ST05 (Sustainable Construction and Buildings); ST07 (Spatial Development 
Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST14 (Enhancing 
Environmental Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets); ST17 (A Balanced Local 
Housing Market); ST18 (Affordable Housing on Development Sites); ST23 (Infrastructure); 
BEA02 (Land at Rye Park Close, Beaford Garage and Land to Rear); BEA (Beaford Spatial 
Strategy); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM03 
(Construction and Environmental Management); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 
(Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM07 (Historic Environment); DM08A (Landscape 
and Seascape Character); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM10 (Green Infrastructure 
Provision);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); 
NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981);  
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Main Planning Considerations: 

• Principle of Development  
• Character and Appearance 
• Access and Parking 
• Impact on Residential Amenities 
• Ecology 
• Drainage 
• Heritage 
• Contributions 
• The Planning Balance 

 
1. Principle of Development 

 
1.1. Beaford is identified by policy ST07 (2) of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 

(NDTLP) as a 'Village'. In particular, policy ST07 (2) indicates that development will 

Page 33



be enabled within Villages providing that it is compliant with any Local Spatial 
Strategy. The Local Spatial is set out by Policy BEA. 

 
1.2. Policy BEA: Beaford Spatial Strategy, notes: 

 
Over the period to 2031, the Local Plan will enable High Quality Development, 
supported by necessary infrastructure, to meet the needs of Beaford. The community's 
spatial vision for Beaford is that local facilities and employment opportunities should 
be maintained and enhanced, and local housing needs should be met. Additionally, in 
providing for the development, the character of the village should be retained, and 
cycle and pedestrian links and safety improvements made. 

 
The vision will be delivered through: 

 
a) Provision of a minimum of 43 dwellings, including affordable homes, to meet 

the range of housing needs in the local community, the supply of housing 
will be delivered through two site allocations, with capacity for approximately 
42 dwellings.  

 
b) Two additional housing sites allocated within the development boundary. 

 
c) Improved vehicular access to the village school and associated safe parking 

facilities.  
 

d) Additional employment provision, focused on small business units; 
 

e) Retaining the character of the village and its relationship with the countryside; 
 

f) Provision of enhanced open space at Towell Meadow; 
 

g) Support for improvements to the main highway thoroughfare in terms of 
improving safety for pedestrians and public highway users; and 

 
h) Support for the retention of village facilities and services to meet the needs of 

the local community. 
 

1.3. In addition to 1.2, this site is allocated specifically for development by policy 
BEA02: Land at Rye Park Close, Beaford Garage, which is detailed below: 

 
(1) Land off Rye Park Close and Beaford Garage, as shown on Policies 

Map 30, is allocated as a mixed use development that includes: 
 

(a) Approximately 30 dwellings, including affordable homes, with a 
focus of providing a mix of housing types and sizes to reflect 
local need, and,  

 
(b) Retention of the garage/workshop within a revised format 

providing an improved vehicular access to the school and safe 
parking facilities.  

 
(2) The site should be developed to deliver the following specific 

development principles: 
 

Page 34



(a) Provide access from the A3124, through the existing garage 
frontage; 

 
(b) Provide vehicular access to the village school and parking 

facilities to relieve roadside congestion; 
 

(c) Provide safe pedestrian and cycle access from the residential 
development to Main Street and through to the Village School; 

 
(d) High quality sympathetic design responding to the bordering 

conservation area and Grade II listed buildings of Chaplands 
Cottage; and 

 
(e) Incorporate landscaping on the western and southern boundaries 

to enhance biodiversity and integrate the new development 
into the landscape.  

 
1.4. 3rd party representations have noted that there are 40 houses proposed which is 

over and above the '30' detailed within the spatial strategy, however, the spatial 
strategy is clear that this is an approximate number, and a 'minimum'. In addition, it 
should be noted that the site does not extend outside of the BEA02 allocation, or 
the development boundary, therefore the proposal complies with the general 
principles of planning which aim to prevent the spread of development in the 
countryside. The density of the proposed development is considered acceptable, 
and 40 dwellings can fit comfortably on the site. (discussed further in section 2), 
thus the housing numbers are considered acceptable.  

 
1.5. One of the reasons that housing numbers may be higher is because the 'garage' is 

no longer proposed to be re-built within the site. 3rd party representation raises 
concerns as the wording of the policy notes that access should come through the 
garage; however, this is contrary to Policies Map 30 which clearly shows access 
through Stoney Lane. In terms of the conflict between the map and the policy, it is 
understood that the change to the policy map came about after there was 
uncertainty about the availability of the previously proposed access. This change 
occurred pre-adoption of the NDTLP, was published in the summer of 2017 during 
the examination process, and was accepted by the inspector. There is therefore no 
policy objection to the access being delivered through the bungalow due to the 
support by the policies map and it is noted that the bungalow access is acceptable 
in highways terms. 

 
1.6. 3rd Party Representations state that the Council are over delivering on housing. 

For clarity, this is not the case, as confirmed by the Burwood Appeal 
(APP/W1145/W/19/3238460). Torridge District Council accepts that it cannot 
currently demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (5YHLS).  

 
1.7. Notwithstanding the 5YHLS position, 40 dwellings on site is considered reasonable 

given the proposed density, and context of the site.  
 

1.8. Some 3rd party representations have noted that there are not enough services in 
the village to support the proposed housing, and that the proposal will erode 
community spirt. However, in contrast, letters of support have been received 
claiming the new dwellings will support existing local services such as the school, 
shop and pub, and will add to the community by making local groups more viable 

Page 35



(such as play groups). There is no evidence to support either claims, however, 
generally local services and businesses are more viable with more users. In 
addition, the proposal is generally supported by the local vision set out in the 
spatial strategy. 

 
1.9. In conclusion, this development is allocated within the local plan and spatial vision. 

Appropriate access is proposed onto the A3214 (see section 3 for further 
information), and an alternative school access and parking is proposed in 
accordance with the principles of the spatial vision. The proposal is thus 
acceptable in principle.  

 
 

2. Character and Appearance 
 

2.1. Policy ST04 of the NDTLP encourages improved design quality, and notes:  
 

"Development will achieve high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support 
the creation of successful, vibrant places. Designs will be based on a clear process 
that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, its wider context and 
the surrounding area, taking full account of the principles of design found in Policy 
DM04." 

 
2.2. Policy DM04 then proceeds to detail 14 design principles which should be taken 

into consideration within any new development. The crux of DM04 requires new 
developments to be of high quality design, including being well related to their 
surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality materials, and to be 
sympathetic to the character and appearance of the local area.  

 
2.3. Policy DM08A is also relevant which relates to landscape impacts, and seeks to 

ensure that proposals do not cause undue landscape harm. 
 

2.4. This proposal is set back from the main thoroughfare through the village (except 
the access). From the site access, the existing bungalows either side of the 
proposed road entrance will be the defining feature of the built form. This proposal 
would include some car parking and landscaping in replace of the existing 
bungalow, and this would result in very minimal (if not positive) impact, from the 
A3214. 

 
2.5. Once into the site, the area is fairly well screened from the village's historic 

character and thus there are not considered to be any impacts on the Conservation 
Area (as discussed further in section 7). Development surrounding the site is 
predominantly modern, including bungalows on the eastern boundary, a primary 
school and bungalows to the north, and new build development currently under 
construction to the southeast. 

 
2.6. The proposed development has a range of house styles and designs. 3rd party 

opinions set out in representations are mixed, some claiming the development is 
out of character, and others claiming the design are appropriate.  
 

2.7. The site proposes a housing mix including bungalows, terraces and detached 
dwellings. The housing mix is shown below 

 
• 1 bed - 4 (10%) 

Page 36



• 2 bed - 15 (37.5%)  
• 3 bed - 13 (32.5%) 
• 4 bed - 8 (20%) 

 
2.8. The above housing mix is considered broadly consistent with the identified local 

need/required housing mix set out within the published Housing and Economic 
Needs Assessment (HEDNA) 2016.  

 
2.9. The mixture of dwellings on site is generally acceptable, and would not be out of 

character with the surrounding new build development. The proposed terraces 
have a contemporary/modern appearance due to the roof layout. However, views 
of the site are reasonably confined and the more contemporary roof layouts are not 
prominent from the Conservation Area. The design is considered to be acceptable 
and not out of character with the neighbouring modern buildings.  

 
2.10. The Local Spatial Strategies require screening on the southern and western 

boundaries, to help the proposal assimilate into the landscape. These boundaries 
are either adjacent to or close to the countryside. As shown on the site location 
plan, a landscaped 'buffer area' is included on the site and this will assist in 
screening the development from the countryside. Once this screening is mature, 
the new dwellings should assimilate well into the existing village whilst causing 
limited landscape harm. This screening will be secure via condition.  

 
2.11. In terms of density, Beaford has a mixture of densities close by, for example, the 

conservation area/centre of the village is high density, whereas some of the newer 
developments surrounding the site are lower densities. The proposed density and 
layout is considered acceptable, and would assimilate well into the surrounding 
area.  

 
2.12. In conclusion, public views to within this site are reasonably limited from the 

A3214. There will be views from existing new build developments surrounding the 
site, and from the footpath running through the field, however, the scheme is not 
considered to be out of character with its surroundings. Policies ST04, DM04 and 
DM08A of the NDTLP are deemed to be satisfied.  

 
3. Access and Parking: 

 
3.1. 3rd Party representations raise concerns regarding highways safety. In particular, 

concerns are raised regarding the loss of parking from the existing highway, poor 
visibility, the lack of pavements, the need for vehicles to park near the junction, and 
the 'emergency link not being required. 

 
3.2. Policy ST10 of the NDTLP relates to the districts Transport Strategy, and seeks to 

reduce the need to travel by car, and protect existing strategic transport routes.  
 

3.3. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or 
refused on transport grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highways safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.  

 
3.4. Policy DM05 of the NDTLP relates to highways, and notes: 

 

Page 37



All development must ensure safe and designed vehicular access and egress, 
adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all 
highways users including cyclists and pedestrians. 
 
All development shall protect and enhance existing public rights of way, footpaths, 
cycleways and bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide new 
connections to these routes where practical to do so. 

 
3.5. Policy DM06 of the NDTLP is also relevant which requires development to provide 

suitable parking provision. 
 

3.6. As Beaford is designated as a village, it is considered to be reasonably sustainable 
and thus the proposal, which is within an allocation, is deemed acceptable having 
regards to its highways 'sustainability'. The proposal is compliant with ST10 in this 
regard 

 
3.7. In terms of the narrowing of the A3124 to 5.5 metres, Devon County Council in 

their role as Highways Authority have no objections to this, because two large good 
vehicles would still be able to pass. In addition, it is argued that the narrowing will 
help further reduce vehicle speeds in the village, helping to alleviate highways 
danger. 

 
3.8. The Highways Authority has previously raised concerns about whether the visibility 

splays would encroach over third party land (and would thus not be achievable); 
however, this matter has been resolved and suitable visibility can be achieved in 
either direction. It is thus considered that the entrance provides suitable visibility 
(visibility will be secured via condition), and its design is appropriate to avoid any 
highways concerns. 

 
3.9. In terms of the proposed emergency access to the rear of the site, both local and 

national planning policy encourages sites to have increased permeability, and this 
footpath link to Marshalls Mead is welcome. The only difference between a 
footpath/cycleway and emergency access is the presence of collapsible bollards, 
instead of fixed. In addition, an emergency access into the site is of potential 
important benefit, even if it is unlikely to be used. Therefore, in the opinion of your 
Officer, this is a welcome addition to the scheme.  

 
3.10. There are approximately 76 off street parking spaces for the dwellings (as shown 

on the site plan) proposed, which is acceptable. 3 coach and 3 mini-bus spaces 
are provided for the school, along with 8 parking spaces for the village. 3rd Party 
objection raises concerns regarding the loss of a right to park on the land/highways 
frontage, however, in the opinion of your Officer, any claimed easement would be a 
civil matter and not for the local planning authority. This application proposes a 
generous level of parking, which offers benefits to the local school and village as a 
whole.  This view is supported by the Highways Authority, and various letters of 
support.  

 
3.11. Moving on to pedestrian safety, the site has good links to the surrounding village 

and adequate footpaths.  
 

3.12. In conclusion, the proposal provides a safe and suitable access, along with good 
permeability through the site. There is adequate parking provided, and the 
proposal provides a benefit in terms of a new school access and village parking (as 

Page 38



required by the spatial strategy). Therefore subject to conditions the proposal is 
deemed acceptable having regards to access.   

 
4. Impact on Residential Amenities: 

 
4.1. Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, 

development will be supported where: 
 

a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or 
uses; and 

b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as 
a result of existing or allocated uses. 

 
4.2. In terms of overbearing impacts, plots 24, 25 and 30 are the closest to any 

neighbour. Plots 24 and 25 are bungalows and as a result the overbearing impacts 
are limited. In addition, the orientation of plot 30 is such that it is a continuation of 
Rye Park (in terms of building line), and due to the roof design, the height is limited 
near the neighbour. Thus overbearing impacts are limited here. There is a side 
window in plot 30 but it serves a bathroom/cupboard and is thus not a privacy issue 
(albeit it will be recommended this side window is conditioned to be obscure glazed 
for the avoidance of doubt). 

 
4.3. Moving around the site, plots 37 - 39 are two storeys, however, the distance from 

wall to wall to the neighbour is 25 metres. This is considered sufficient to avoid any 
significant privacy concerns.  

 
4.4. There have been concerns regarding plots 4,5,6,7,8 and 9 in relation to privacy. 

Plots 4-8 are approximately 50 metres from wall to wall from these objectors, and 
are separated by a public highway and parking. As a result, there are not 
considered to be any amenity concerns. Plot 9 is slightly closer than the other 
dwellings and is orientated differently, but is still significantly distanced and will 
avoid any concerns. Nonetheless, a condition is recommended on this dwelling 
that the 1st floor window in the side elevation is obscure glazed, which will ensure 
there is no feeling of overlooking from the neighbouring garden land.  

 
4.5. There are not considered to be any significant amenity conflicts within the site, and 

thus the proposal is deemed to be compliant with DM01 of the NDTLP.  
 

4.6. In addition, policy DM02 of the NDTLP relates to Environmental Protection and 
seeks to ensure that development proposals will have an acceptable impact having 
regards to Hazards and Pollution.  

 
4.7. In terms of noise and light pollution, the noise and light from an established 

housing estate is generally considered to result in acceptable impacts on 
surrounding areas. It is appreciated that any construction carried out in unsociable 
hours has the potential to cause nuisance, and therefore a condition limiting 
construction hours will be necessary.   

 
4.8. In addition to the above, a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been 

submitted. Whilst this is limited in content, it does set out who will be responsible to 
manage the impacts of construction during the life of the works and to what 
standards. This will help minimise the impact of the works during the construction 

Page 39



of the development, however, an additional condition is recommended which will 
seek further information about construction traffic, and noise/pollution mitigation.    

 
5. Ecology/Environmental Impact: 

 
5.1. Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of 

development on wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning 
application under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further reinforced 
within the NDTLP through policies ST14 and DM08, which require development to 
maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity and mitigate against the potential 
loss of habitats.  

 
5.2. An ecology survey was submitted with this application. In summary, the ecology 

survey notes: 
 

"The surveys have confirmed that Stoney-way supports a non-breeding summer 
roost for low number of common pipistrelle bats. The grassland and hedgerows 
within the site are utilised by a high range of bat species. The level of bat activity 
recorded across the site was considered to be moderate. 

 
The presence of roosting bats within Stoney-way means that a Low Impact 
European Protected Species Licence will be required prior to undertaking any 
works which would potentially disturb or damage the roost or the bats. 

 
The proposed works will result primarily in the loss of low quality habitats which are 
considered to be of limited value to commuting/foraging badgers, bats, birds and 
dormice and roosting bats. The pond, trees and hedgebanks which are of a high 
ecological value will be retained and buffered post-development and additional 
habitat creation associated with the scheme will provide new commuting/foraging 
habitat for badgers, bats, birds, dormice and reptiles. Further enhancement 
measures will provide greater roosting/nesting opportunities for bats and birds. 
These measures to enhance the site post development are provided to take into 
account the national biodiversity strategy detailed in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) to protect and restore priority habitats and species. 
Precautionary timing and suitable control measures will be adhered to in order to 
minimise potential impacts during vegetation removal and construction. It is 
therefore considered that there are unlikely to be any significant adverse ecological 
impacts from the proposed works." 

 
5.3. The survey therefore identifies that a European Protected Species Licence (EPSL) 

will be required for the works to be undertaken lawfully. Case law in respect of 
European protected species has established that Local Planning Authorities must 
take into account the requirements, or 'three tests' for granting a licence, as 
required by the Habitat Regulations when determining a planning application which 
would otherwise result in an offence, in this case, the destruction of an identified 
bat roost.   

 
The three tests are: 
 
It is in: 
a) the interests of public health and public safety,  

Page 40



b) or for other imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a 
social or economic nature. 
 
2. That there is no satisfactory alternative. 
 
3. It will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the populations of the species 
concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range.  
 
Test 1. The proposal will demolish an existing building necessary to gain access to 
the site. 40 dwellings will be produced as a result, which will produce social, 
economic, and environmental benefits.  
 
Test 2. The proposal does not include an option of alternative sites, and it would 
not be possible for the development to occur elsewhere. 
 
Test 3. Indicative mitigation measures have been proposed which result in an 
overall enhancement of habitat for protected species across the site. 

 
5.4. The three tests outlined above have been considered in relation to the application 

and further to the above justification already given, the proposal is not considered 
to fail any of the above tests in respect of European Protected Species.  

 
5.5. In conclusion, your Officers consider that this scheme complies with the statutory 

duties resulting from the above acts. In addition, a positive will be produced in the 
form of ecological enhancements.  

 
5.6. This proposal has been screened in accordance with the Environmental Impact 

Regulations 2017, and an Environmental Statement is not considered to be 
required due to its location outside any ‘sensitive area’/ the unlikely impact on any 
sensitive area due to the proposals size.  

 
6. Foul Water/Drainage: 

 
6.1. Policy ST03 of the NDTLP notes that development should 'adopt effective water 

management including Sustainable Drainages Systems, water quality 
improvements, water efficiency measures and the use of rainwater'. In addition, 
policy DM04 notes development should provide effective water management 
including Sustainable Drainage Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse 
of rainwater.  

 
6.2. The NPPF and Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) provide further advice on foul 

drainage, with a hierarchal approach being used. The NPPG notes new 
development should aim to discharge foul water into the public sewer; however, if 
this is not possible then a package treatment plant may be used. It proceeds to 
note if a package treatment plant is not possible to use, then a septic tank will be 
considered. Justification for the use of alterative drainage systems other than 
mains drainage is required. 

 
6.3. This application proposes to utilise mains sewerage for foul water, and soakaways 

(leading to a basin/lagoon). This is compliant with the drainage hierarchy and 
sustainability principles detailed in 6.1 - 6.2. 

 

Page 41



6.4. In terms of the capacity of the sewer to meet the drainage needs of the 
development, South West Water were consulted on this application, and note: 

 
"I refer to the above application and would advise that South West Water have 
previously been approached regarding this proposal and drainage capacity 
confirmed to be available and therefore we have no objection." 

 
Thus there is no issue with drainage capacity.  

 
6.5. In addition to South West Water, Devon County Council was consulted in their role 

as Lead Local Flood Authority. Initially, some concerns were raised due to a lack of 
information/clarity, however, these objections were removed following amendments 
to the scheme (subject to conditions).  

 
6.6. The site is not within a Critical Drainage Area nor is it within designated Flood 

Zones 2 or 3.  
 

6.7. Overall the proposal is considered acceptable when having regards to drainage 
and flood risk.  

 
7. Heritage 

 
7.1. Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP, and Part 16 of the NPPF require that great 

weight is given to the conservation of heritage assets, with any harm caused to the 
heritage asset or its setting to be outweighed by the public benefits of the proposal. 
This is reinforced by the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, which require the Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building/s and conservation area, their setting's, 
and/or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they possess.  

 
7.2. The Council's Conservation Officer was consulted on this application, and notes: 

 
"The bulk of the site is not within the Conservation area designated for Beaford 
which is drawn very tightly around the historic buildings and runs along the main 
Exeter (A3124) road frontage excluding the post war dwellings from the 
conservation area. 

 
The proposed site has limited impact on the conservation area designation. The 
main views are along the main road comprises of post war dwellings set back from 
the road and in regular plots. The removal of the bungalow known as Stoney Way 
to create and a new access to the site will have a small visual impact on the view 
along the road which is currently characterised by greenery made up from 
domestic front gardens and accesses. While the access will increase the 
necessary visibility splays will replicate the current domestic appearance of the 
frontage. 

 
The views of the village from the south are limited as the site is screened by the 
existing field hedge at the south of the site. The hedge and the surviving trees are 
important in distant views and should be protected by condition. The area within 
the hedge is shown as a 12 metres wide green infrastructure strip and woodland 
planting which should be secured by condition. This area forms part of the rear 
gardens so some additional protection for the woodland planting would be prudent 
to prevent the area being incorporated into the garden area. 

Page 42



 
The setting of the listed buildings. 

 
This hedge which runs to the south of the site also separates the new development 
from the cluster of listed buildings at the south of the village. Their location to the 
south of the garage separates them visually from the new development. The 
Cottages at Chaplands are in close proximity to the garage and are visually 
separated from longer views by the scale of the garage workshop to the north of 
the cottages. The setting of the cottages is defined by the road and the garage 
structures and to the rear by the surviving hedge which defines the south of the 
allocated site. In this case there is considered to be less than substantial harm to 
the significance of the heritage assets which are close to the boundary of the 
application site. 

 
The listed buildings sited on the opposite side of the road to the new access( The 
Methodist Church and The Thatched Cottage )will not be visually affected over and 
above the existing situation where the principle frontage of the buildings is defined 
by Exeter Road and the linear views along it. 

 
The proposal is considered to fall with the government guidance as set out in 
paragraphs 196 to 201 of the NPPF in that the level of harm in terms of visual 
impact is considered to be less than substantial. The overall evaluation of the 
heritage impact lies within the wider planning balance when considering the 
application." 

 
7.3. As implied by the Conservation Officer, the harm this proposal causes to the 

setting of any nearby heritage asset is minimal. This harm is considered to be 
significantly outweighed by the social, economic and environmental benefits of the 
scheme. Therefore it is considered the proposal is compliant with policies ST15 
and DM07 of the NDTLP. 

 
7.4. This site is considered to have archaeological potential and therefore a scheme of 

investigation is required prior to the commencement of development, as per DCC’s 
Historic Environment Teams request.  

 
8. Contributions  

 
8.1. Policies ST18, ST23 and DM10 require contributions towards education, green 

infrastructure, and affordable housing. These are detailed below 
 

8.2. Affordable housing 
 

8.2.1. A viability assessment was submitted with this application which indicated this 
proposal cannot provide any of the required 30% affordable housing due to viability 
issues. This assessment was independently assessed by the District Valuer (DV), 
and by Torridge District Council's Strategic Enabling Officer. The Strategic 
Enabling Officers comments are repeated in 8.2.2 below as they provide a good 
summary of the DV's assessment.  

 
8.2.2. The applicant presented a case that the provision of 30% affordable housing on 

this scheme would make the scheme financially unviable. Evidence to support this 
position has been submitted by the applicant in the form of a development 
appraisal and this has now been assessed on behalf of Torridge District Council by 

Page 43



the District Valuation Office (DVO). The District Valuation Office have concluded 
the proposed development cannot viably deliver any affordable housing units. 

 
It is important to note that given the current economic uncertainty, the DVO have 
recommended that their assessment is kept under frequent review with them 
concluding within the report that "if your Authority is minded to grant permission on 
the basis of less than policy required contributions, I would suggest that a time 
scale for delivery is agreed which if not met triggers a viability review". 

 
Overall I concur with this approach and would suggest that a time scale for delivery 
and the triggers for a viability review are negotiated with the applicant and if 
possible conditioned as part of the planning permission process or alternatively 
detailed within any associated Section 106 agreement. 

 
8.3. Green Infrastructure (GI) 

 
8.3.1. In terms of green infrastructure, it is considered necessary to take contributions on 

this site for Natural Green Space, Play Space and Sports Space. 
 

8.3.2. Amenity/natural green space is included on site in the form of a 'village green' style 
piece of infrastructure. This will be required on site and will be secured via section 
106.  

 
8.3.3. £13,329.44 (and £2613.08 for maintenance) is required towards the existing village 

play facilities which are at the end of Rye Park Close/adjacent to Green Lane (it is 
considered sensible to take a contribution towards the existing village facility rather 
than creating two play areas in close proximity). 

 
8.3.4. £70,164.38 (and £8141.35 for maintenance) is required towards outdoors sports 

spaces. In the village this includes a cricket club and a potential tennis court.  
 

8.4. Education (DCC Educations consultation response informs 8.4.1 - 8.4.2) 
 

8.4.1. It is forecast that the nearest primary school has currently got capacity for the 
number of pupils likely to be generated by the proposed development and 
therefore a contribution towards primary education would not be sought. 

 
8.4.2. In terms of Secondary School contributions, £115,085 is sought to increase the 

capacity of Great Torrington School. In addition, another £44,745 is sought in 
secondary school transport costs.  

 
8.5. Contributions/priorities 

 
8.5.1. The overall number of contributions required above include onsite Green 

Infrastructure (GI), and financial contributions of £254,078.25 for education and 
offsite GI. 

 
8.5.2. The Planning Officer has discussed the contributions with the ward 

members/parish council about what priorities there are on site. The planning agent 
has indicated that, some onsite 'affordable to buy' (open market housing at a 
discounted rate), could be provided in lieu of the above detailed GI payment 
£254,078.25.  The applicant is currently exploring how many units this would 

Page 44



equate too, and the planning officer will provide a verbal update to committee once 
this is confirmed.  

 
8.5.3. All of the above obligations are required by Policy and are considered CIL 

Regulation compliant. Therefore, given the viability issues of the site, it would be 
reasonable to seek obligations up to the amount that is viable, that meet the local 
aspirations for the site. 

 
8.5.4. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is ultimately a matter for the 

decision maker (PPG paragraph 008 Reference ID: 10-008-20190509), however, 
based upon the submitted information, the viability assessment is considered to be 
robust and has been accepted by an independent third party. Therefore, the lesser 
contributions are deemed to be acceptable in order to achieve development on the 
site.  

 
9. The Planning Balance/Conclusion. 

 
9.1. Planning Law indicates that planning decisions must be taken in accordance with 

policy, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the planning 
officer considers that the proposal is acceptable in principle (in line with the local 
spatial strategies), the layout scale and design of the proposals are compatible with 
the surrounding area, access is appropriate, there is minimal harm to existing 
residential amenity, and the proposal is acceptable in relation to ecology and 
heritage. There are viability issues on the site which mean that the proposal cannot 
provide policy compliant contributions, however, a viability report has been 
provided which has been examined by the DV. Thus, overall the proposal is 
considered compliant with local and national policies (subject to conditions) and 
approval is recommended.   

 
9.2. Notwithstanding the above, the Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate a 5 

year supply of housing land to meet the identified need within the District. It is 
therefore necessary to consider whether the adverse impacts of the proposal 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (the tilted balance). 

 
9.3. The delivery of housing in this sustainable location is given significant weight, 

whilst the ecological net-gain, improved parking and access for school, social-
economic benefits (both during construction phase and from intended occupiers) 
are given moderate weight. The scheme does also result in some minor limited 
adverse impacts in terms of neighbouring amenity impacts and visual impact and 
neutral impacts in terms of drainage.  In  weighing the identified harm against the 
benefits, as detailed within the wider report above, it is your Officers view that the 
positives of the scheme outweigh the negatives, with the result that when assessed 
against the Policies in the NDTLP and the NPPF as a whole, and having 
considered all the planning issues, a recommendation for approval is made 

 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Conclusion 
 

Page 45



It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and 
taking into account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan 
the proposal would be acceptable.  
 
Recommendation 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions   
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
            
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time 

requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans listed in the Plans Schedule. 
            
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 

plans. 
 
 3         'No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation 

of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation (WSI) which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out at all times in accordance 
with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

            
           Reason 
           To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 

Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2018), that an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be 
affected by the development 

            
           This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works 

are agreed and implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by 
the commencement of preparatory and/or construction works. 

 
 4         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a programme 

of percolation tests has been carried out in accordance with BRE Digest 365 
Soakaway Design (2016), and the results approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. A representative number of tests should be conducted to provide adequate 
coverage of the site, with particular focus placed on the locations of the proposed 
infiltration devices/permeable surfaces. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that surface water from the development is discharged as high up 

the drainage hierarchy as is feasible. Reason for being a pre-commencement 
condition: This data is required prior to the commencement of any works as it will 
affect the permanent surface water drainage management plan, which needs to be 
confirmed before development takes place. 

 
 5         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed 

design of the proposed permanent surface water drainage management system has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in 

Page 46



consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. The design 
of this permanent surface water drainage management system will be in accordance 
with the principles of sustainable drainage systems, and those set out in the 
Residential Development, Marshalls Mead, Beaford Flood Risk Assessment (Report 
Ref: 

           1226w001, Rev. P3, dated 29th August 2019). No part of the development shall be 
occupied until the surface water management scheme serving that part of the 
development has been provided in accordance with the approved details and the 
drainage infrastructure shall be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the 
development. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the development is managed in 

accordance with the principles of sustainable drainage systems. Advice: Refer to 
Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage Guidance. 

 
 6         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the full results 

of a groundwater monitoring programme, undertaken over a period of 12 months, has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This 
monitoring should be conducted to provide adequate coverage of the site, with 
particular focus placed on the locations and depths of the proposed infiltration devices. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that the use of infiltration devices on the site is an appropriate 

means of surface water drainage management. Reason for being a pre-
commencement condition: This data is required prior to the commencement of any 
works as it could affect the permanent surface water drainage management plan, 
which needs to be confirmed before development takes place. 

 
 7         No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until the detailed 

design of the proposed surface water drainage management system which will serve 
the development site for the full period of its construction has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with Devon 
County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This temporary surface water 
drainage management system must satisfactorily address both the rates and volumes, 
and quality, of the surface water runoff from the construction site.  

            
           Reason: To ensure that surface water runoff from the construction site is appropriately 

managed so as to not increase the flood risk, or pose water quality issues, to the 
surrounding area. Reason for being a pre-commencement condition: A plan needs to 
be demonstrated prior to the commencement of any works to ensure that surface 
water can be managed suitably without increasing flood risk downstream, negatively 
affecting water quality downstream or negatively impacting on surrounding areas and 
infrastructure. Advice: Refer to Devon County Council's Sustainable Drainage 
Guidance.  

 
 8         - No part of the development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a detailed 

assessment of the condition and capacity of the receiving ditchcourse at western site 
boundary is undertaken, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
detailed assessment must also identify, and commit to, any repair and/or improvement 
works to the receiving ditchcourse which will be required to facilitate the development. 

            
           Reason: To ensure that the receiving ditchcourse is of a satisfactory condition to 

receive the surface water runoff generated from the proposed development. Reason 
for being a pre-commencement condition: This assessment needs to be completed 

Page 47



prior to commencement of any works to ensure that there is a viable outfall and that 
the ditchcourse which the system will discharge into is in a suitable condition. 

 
 9         Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the site 

access in accordance with the attached diagram C where the visibility splays provide 
intervisibility between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 1.05 metres above 
the adjacent carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the 
carriageway of the public highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility 
distances along the centre of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as Y) 
shall be 43 metres in both directions. 

            
           REASON: To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles. 
 
10         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none 

drains on to any County Highway 
            
           REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
11         The garaging and vehicle parking spaces indicated on the approved plan shall all be 

provided prior to the final occupation of the development and shall be maintained 
thereafter. 

            
           REASON: To minimise the extent of on street parking that may result as a 

consequence of the development. 
 
12         The proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street 

lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road 
maintenance/vehicle overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car 
parking and street furniture shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details 
to be approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before their construction 
begins, For this purpose, plans and sections indicating, as appropriate, the design, 
layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority. 

            
           REASON: To ensure that the final detailed design of the highways are acceptable. 
 
13         When once constructed and provided in accordance with condition 12 above, the 

carriageway, vehicle turning head, footways and footpaths shall be maintained free of 
obstruction to the free movement of vehicular traffic and pedestrians and the street 
lighting and nameplates maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority 

            
           REASON: To ensure that these highway provisions remain available 
 
14         Within twelve months of the first occupation of the first dwelling in an agreed phase 

of the development, all roads, footways, footpaths, drainage, statutory undertakers' 
mains and apparatus, junction, access, retaining wall and visibility splay works shall be 
completed to an adoptable standard. 

            
           REASON: To ensure that the access arrangements are completed within a reasonable 

time in the interests of safety and the amenity of residents 
 

Page 48



15         The site access road shall be hardened, surfaced, drained and maintained thereafter 
to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority for a distance of not less than 10 
metres back from its junction with the public highway 

            
           REASON: To prevent mud and other debris being carried onto the public highway 
 
16         Before the development is commenced a landscape management plan, including 

long-term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules 
for all landscape areas (other than small, privately owned, domestic gardens) for that 
phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved in accordance with 
the approved details. 

            
           Reason: To ensure the objectives of the landscaping are achieved and the proposal 

assimilates well into the surrounding area. 
 
17         Construction works shall not take place other than between 0730 hrs and 1800 hrs 

on Mondays to Fridays, Saturdays between 0900 hrs and 1700 hrs and at no time on 
Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

            
           Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring residents 
 
18         Before the development is commenced a Construction Traffic and Environmental 

Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. In discharging this condition the following information shall be supplied: 

            
           (a) the timetable of the works;  
           (b) daily hours of construction;  
           (c) any road closure;  
           (d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, 

with such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays 
to Fridays inc.; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking 
place on Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority 
in advance;  

           (e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the 
development and the frequency of their visits;  

           (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, 
parts, crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and 
construction phases;  

           (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload 
building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and 
waste with confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the 
County highway for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has 
been given by the Local Planning Authority;  

           (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site;  
           (i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; 
           (j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to 

limit construction staff vehicles parking off-site;  
           (k) measure to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction , including 

details of wheel washing facilities and obligations;  
           (l) the proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes;  
           (m) details of the amount and location of construction worker parking; and  

Page 49



           (n) photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to 
commencement of any work.  

           The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved Plan. 
           (o) mitigation measures in line with the Environment Agency's Pollution Prevention 

Guidelines, including air quality and noise and vibrations amongst other matters. 
 
19         The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations set 

out within the Ecological Appraisal produced by Devon Wildlife Consultants dated 
November 2017.  

                                 
           Reason: To ensure the proposal is in accordance with Policy DM08 of the North 

Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2018. 
 
20         No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the sustainable drainage system 

for the site has been completed in accordance with the submitted details. The 
sustainable drainage system shall be managed and maintained thereafter in 
accordance with a management and maintenance plan to be submitted to and then 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

                       
           Reason: To ensure that the drainage is acceptable and remains efficient in 

accordance with the submitted details, and ST03/DM04 of the NDTLP. 
 
21         Notwithstanding the details set out on the approved plans, the windows in the first 

floor side elevations of plots 9 and 30 shall be obscure glazed. 
            
           Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring residents.  
 
22         Prior to the development coming into use, a management plan for the school/village 

cark parking and access shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority , including long-term management responsibilities and maintenance 
schedules. The village/school car parking and school access shall be provided prior to 
the occupation of the 15th dwelling on site.  

            
           Reason: To ensure the proposal results in highways improvements to the existing 

situation at the school. 
 
Plans Schedule 
  

                    
Reference Received 

                      

Cr-C rev 1  21.07.2020 
   

1226_0003_P4  21.07.2020 
   

1226_0501_P4  21.07.2020 
   

1226_0700_P3  21.07.2020 
   

1226_0710_P1  21.07.2020 
   

1347-01 P3  21.07.2020 
   

181012-10 B  21.07.2020 
   

181012-11 B  21.07.2020 
   

181012-12 B  21.07.2020 
   

181012-13 B  21.07.2020 
   

5346 AO1  21.07.2020 
   

CR 04 REV 8A  21.07.2020 
   

CR Street Views Rev 2  21.07.2020 
   

Page 50



CR Type A/B  21.07.2020 
   

CR F,F1,F2 Rev1  21.07.2020 
   

CR-F3  21.07.2020 
   

CR-F3A  21.07.2020 
   

CR-C REV 1  21.07.2020 
   

CR-D1  21.07.2020 
   

CR-E-E1  21.07.2020 
   

CR-FLATS 3,3A,3B,3C  21.07.2020 
   

CR01 REV 1  21.07.2020 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
Committee Report – 3 rd September 2020 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Numbe r:  1/0041/2009/OUTM 

Registration date:  20 January 2009 

Expiry date:   

Applicant:  Mr Martin Graham  

Agent:  John Blaney 

Case Officer:  Laura Davies 

Site Address:  Ground Plant,  
Nuttaberry,  
Bideford, 
Devon, 
EX39 4DT 

Proposal:  Residential redevelopment of former commercial 
brownfield site comprising up to 96 residential 
units including affordable homes, improved off 
site access road and footways, traffic lights and 
calming measures, drainage arrangements and 
flood protection measures, wetland area, raising 
and lowering of ground levels, landscaping, local 
equipped area of play, youth shelter and car 
park.  

Recommendation:   GRANT subject to a legal agreement 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7b



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
The application was called in for consideration by the Plans Committee by former Cllr Church (call in 
dated February 2009) for the following reasons: 
 
‘Access, particularly along Torrington Street.  Residents living in this street already experience great 
difficulties with heavy traffic, including lorries travelling back and forth from the industrial area. This 
development would add to these problems’. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No.  Description  Status  Closed  

      

 
Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description: 
The application site is located within the settlement of East-The-Water as part of Bideford and 
immediately to the east of the River Torridge and Tarka Trail.  The application site covers an area of 
approximately 3.9 ha and is located immediately to the south of the existing Jewson store and 
associated yard areas.   
 
The existing application site is former industrial land with all former buildings on the site previously 
demolished.  Large parts of the site are dominated by hardstandings which are now significantly 
overgrown.  The access road runs through the site from north to south, connecting the industrial and 
residential areas to Torrington Street in the north with a number of dwellings and businesses located 
to the south of the site.  The adopted public highway ends to the north of the site, at the Jewsons site 
with the remaining road to and through the site in private ownership. 
  
The site is generally flat, but rises gently upwards towards the east. There are various embankments 
and raised earthworks within the site, which are now overgrown.  
 
The application site is located within the East-the-Water critical drainage area.   
 
Proposed Development: 
This application seeks outline planning permission for the redevelopment of the site to provide 
residential accommodation.  The application is made in outline with all matters reserved with the 
exception of access.  This is an amendment from the initial submission and has been confirmed by 
the agent for the applicant. 
 
The proposed development seeks the provision of up to 96 dwellings, including a percentage as 
affordable units, alterations to the access and highway to Torrington Street, the provision of 
associated  infrastructure and landscaping, together with a car park for users of the Tarka Trail. 
 
The proposed development would include alterations to the existing highway on Torrington Street to 
the north of the application site, as part of the access into the site from Bideford Bridge to the north.  
In addition, a new public car park for users of the Tarka Trail is proposed to the western side of the 
site, with parking provision for approximately 22 vehicles with access to the Trail via an existing 
entrance which would be adjacent to the proposed car park.  The submitted plans only provide an 
indicative layout at this stage, with the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping as Reserved 
Matters.  Notwithstanding this, the illustrative site plan submitted indicates that the quantum of 
residential development sought could be accommodated to the eastern side of the access road 
through the site, with the area to the west remaining largely open space along with the provision of 
the proposed car park. 
 

Page 53



 

Consultee representations: 
 
THE FOLLOWING CONSULTATION RESPONSES REFLECT COMMEN TS MADE IN RESPONSE 
TO THE MOST RECENT PLANS AND ARE DATED 2020 UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE. 
 
 
Bideford Parish/Town Council:  
RESOLVED: That the application is rejected. 
Members wished to raise the following points: 
This site is not in the Local Plan and is therefore an Exception site. Members would be minded to 
accept if all the residential units were affordable housing. 
Contamination - There was previously a Munitions building on this site. 
Drawing on local knowledge, members would query Devon Highways findings as to highways 
incompatibility with the mixture of heavy goods vehicles and school children. 
Members would rather monies from Devon County Council contributions be put towards Torridge 
based transportation structures. 
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
I refer to the above application and your recent re-consultation and the submission of the Historic 
Impact Assessment. The Historic Environment Team do not have any additional comments to make 
on this scheme to those previously made, namely: 
 
The Devon Historic Environment Record (HER) records that quantities of 18th century sgraffito 
pottery have been recovered from an area in the immediate vicinity of the proposal site. It is not 
known whether this represents a kiln site or an area in which material waste from a nearby kiln site 
has been dumped. Pottery production was formerly an important industry in Bideford, with kilns known 
to have been sited on both sides of the river. Trade with America was extensive and rivalled, for a 
time, that of the Staffordshire potteries. The HER records the former existence of three potteries in 
East-the-Water  one in Torrington Lane, one at Ship on Launch and one presently un-located. It is 
possible that the material recovered in the vicinity of the proposal site may be associated with the un-
located pottery.  
 
Groundworks for the construction of the proposed development have the potential to impact upon 
significant heritage assets associated with the historic pottery production industry in this area. The 
Historic Environment Team would therefore advise that any consent granted by your Authority should 
be conditional upon the two following worded conditions:  
 
Condition 1: 
In accordance with paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018) and saved 
Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 I would advise that any consent 
your Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded below, based on model 
Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby: 
No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been 
submitted by the applicant and approved by the Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved scheme, or 
such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason 
'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 
and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018), that an appropriate record is 
made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development' 
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of a staged programme of 
archaeological works, commencing with the excavation of a series of evaluative trenches to determine 
the presence and significance of any heritage assets with archaeological interest that will be affected 

Page 54



by the development. Based on the results of this initial stage of works the requirement and scope of 
any further archaeological mitigation can be determined and implemented either in advance of or 
during construction works. 
 
This archaeological mitigation work may take the form of preservation in situ of significant heritage 
assets, full area excavation in advance of groundworks or the monitoring and recording of 
groundworks associated with the construction of the proposed development to allow for the 
identification, investigation and recording of any exposed archaeological or artefactual deposits. The 
results of all fieldwork and any post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an 
appropriately detailed and illustrated report. 
 
The requirement for the condition recommended above - Condition 2 - could be removed if the 
planning application is supported by an appropriately detailed Project Design (Written Scheme of 
Investigation) that sets out the scope of the archaeological works required. 
 
Condition 2: 
Since this application is an outline application it is possible that should significant heritage assets are 
exposed the Historic Environment Team may recommend preservation in situ of such assets. As 
such, I would advise that the results of the first stage of archaeological evaluation should inform the 
design and layout of any subsequent reserved matters or full application for the development of the 
site. In addition to the above condition I would therefore recommend that any consent granted for this 
outline application should be conditional upon the following worded condition: 
 
No reserved matters application for the development of the site shall be submitted until the results of 
the archaeological field evaluation has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason 
'To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031, 
the safeguarding of areas of archaeological importance.' 
 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. The Historic Environment 
Team can also provide the applicant with advice of the scope of the works required, as well as contact 
details for archaeological contractors who would be able to undertake this work. Provision of detailed 
advice to non-householder developers may incur a charge. For further information on the historic 
environment and planning, and our charging schedule please refer the applicant to: 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/development-management/. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Response dated 14th February 2020:  
The Highway Authority has no further comments to make regarding this application at this time. 
 
Previous detailed comments dated 15th January 2020: 
Observations: 
This response follows previous responses in 2009 and 2017, which might not have been uploaded to 
the website for this application.  Considerable time has passed since the first plans were submitted in 
2009. I have worked with the applicant on finding an acceptable solution for vehicle and pedestrian 
access to the site, and further plans have now been produced. 
 
Drawings 0812 GA01 RevG, 0812 01 RevG and 0812 02 RevG were uploaded to the website on 3rd 
January 2020 and show the site access proposals and changes to Torrington Street. Torrington Street 
and Nutaberry Hill are public highway, but south from the junction of these two roads is not public 
highway. The yard area by Jewsons and beyond to the site proper are private roads. The proposal will 
create a minimum 5.5m wide road from the housing to the public highway. This will serve the 
proposed housing and also the existing uses such as Jewson, Tarka Diner etc. 
 
Pedestrian and cyclist access will be via new ramps up to the Tarka Trail from Torrington Street and 
back down to the area near Jewson and onward on the Tarka Trail for access to the housing (as 

Page 55



shown on the plans mentioned above). Pedestrians could also continue to use the existing access to 
the site, without footway, along the new road, but the alternative safer route would be available. 
 
Torrington Street would also be changed, keeping the same overall road width, but reducing the 
footway on the east side and increasing the footway width on the western side to link into the new 
access ramp up to the Tarka Trail. This will aid pedestrian access into the town. These proposals 
have been subject to a stage 1 road safety audit and will continue to be subject to further design and 
review and stage 2, 3 and 4 road safety audits as appropriate if the development proceeds. The traffic 
impacts of the site have been discussed in previous responses and are considered acceptable 
subject to the works on Torrington Street as shown on the recently submitted plans being carried out 
before the occupation of any dwelling on the site and also subject to financial contributions for off site 
highway works to mitigate the cumulative impact of development. 
 
The 2009 response sought contributions towards the A39 Westleigh Junction and the 2017 response 
sought contributions towards the Junction of Barnstaple Street and Manteo Way. Contribution 
requirements change over time with the completion of some schemes, changes to traffic levels and 
impacts and changes to planning policy and legislation.  With the recent change to the S106 pooling 
restrictions a contribution of £96,000 is now sought towards the planned upgrade to the Westleigh 
Junction. This junction is to be upgraded as part of the County Council’s North Devon Link Road 
scheme which is significantly funded by the Department for Transport. This scheme will provide 
improvements to the A39/A361 to facilitate house building set out in the Local Plan. Contributions are 
being sought from across Northern Devon, where appropriate, towards elements of this scheme 
which facilitate specific development sites. 
 
I understand that a viability appraisal has been carried out and an agreement reached regarding the 
level of affordable housing that can be provided. If the above requested contribution is not viable for 
the proposal, then I can understand that situation. But it must be set out to the applicant/developer, 
LPA and public that this amount is sought, and why. It is considered a ‘CIL compliant’ request but it is 
understood that if viability issues can be evidenced, then this contribution might not be secured. 
 
Further to previous representations, I can confirm that the County Council does not wish to own or 
operate the proposed public car park on the site unless a significant (six figure) commuted sum is 
made for its future maintenance. 
 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF DEVON 
COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, RECOMMENDS THAT THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS SHALL BE INCORPORATED IN ANY GRANT OF PERMISSION 
 
Previous conditions recommended in the 2017 response are still acceptable, with the addition of a 
condition requiring the works to Torrington Street and access to the Tarka Trail to be built before the 
occupation of any dwelling on the site. 
 
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED IN 2017 CONSULTATION RESPONSE: 
1. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 
approved a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) including: 
(a) the timetable of the works; 
(b) daily hours of construction; 
(c) any road closure; 
(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 
vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 9.00am 
to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and Bank/Public 
Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the 
frequency of their visits; 
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, 
packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction phases; 

Page 56



(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building materials, 
finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with confirmation that no 
construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for loading or unloading 
purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local Planning Authority; 
(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit construction 
staff vehicles parking off-site 
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
(l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement of any 
work; 
 
2. A pedestrian and cycle access shall created onto the Tarka Trail and shall be hard surfaced, 
drained and maintained thereafter to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To promote noon-car travel to and from the site. 
 
3. Any proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture shall be 
constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning Authority 
before their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and sections indicating, as appropriate, the 
design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of construction shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 
detailed proposals. 
 
4. No part of the development hereby approved shall be commenced until: 
A) The access road has been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to base course level for 
the first 10 metres back from its junction with the private road accessing the site  
B) The ironwork has been set to base course level and the visibility splays required by this permission 
laid out 
C) The footway on the public highway frontage required by this permission has been constructed up 
to base course level 
D) A site compound and car park have been constructed to the written satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority 
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate on site facilities are available for all traffic attracted to the site 
during the construction period, in the interest of the safety of all users of the adjoining public highway 
and to protect the amenities of the adjoining residents  
 
5. The occupation of any dwelling in an agreed phase of the development shall not take place until the 
following works have been carried out to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority: 
A) The spine road and cul-de-sac carriageway including the vehicle turning head within that phase 
shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including base course level, the 
ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, manholes and service crossings completed; 
B) The spine road and cul-de-sac footways and footpaths which provide that dwelling with direct 
pedestrian routes to an existing highway maintainable at public expense have been constructed up to 
and including base course level; 
C) The cul-de-sac visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 
D) The street lighting for the spine road and cul-de-sac and footpaths has been erected and is 
operational; 
E) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the dwelling by this permission 
has/have been completed; 

Page 57



F) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of the dwelling have been 
completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 
G) The street nameplates for the spine road and cul-de-sac have been provided and erected. 
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate access and associated facilities are available for the traffic 
attracted to the site. 
 
County Engineer & Planning Officer: No response received.   
  
Defra: No response received. 
  
Natural England:  
Comments dated 17th February 2020: 
 
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated and received on 10 February 2020.   Further to 
our advice of 8th March 2019 (ref 274397), based on the additional information / amended plans 
provided we have the following advice1 regarding the Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). 
 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND’S ADVICE : 
Designated sites: Further information advised to determine impacts  
Further consideration is required regarding impacts and mitigation for the Taw Torridge Estuary Site 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  
 
Details are provided below. Without this information, Natural England may need to object to the 
proposal. Please re-consult Natural England once this information has been obtained. 
 
Designated sites  
Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI – further information advised:  
The application site is just upstream of the Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) which is notified for its intertidal habitats and overwintering bird interest.   Further to our advice 
of 8th March 2019 Natural England remains concerned that this application has the potential to 
adversely affect the overwintering water bird interest of the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI. 
 
Without mitigation, the increase in activity on and around the site during construction and operation 
(recreational activity impacts from residents) has the potential to lead to disturbance and 
displacement of the overwintering estuary birds on estuary birds using the adjacent SSSI.   The data 
gathered through the Taw Torridge Estuary High Tide Roost and Recreational Impacts study2, of 
which your Authority is a partner, highlights that this sector supports a relatively undisturbed and 
significant Lapwing roost upstream of the development with other species throughout.  
 
A strategic approach to mitigation is the ideal outcome with all residential or tourist development 
adding to recreational impacts making a financial contribution to measures that avoid impacts. For this 
particular application, the proposed open space/wetland area and railway embankment which 
separate the SSSI from the development site may mitigate the majority of construction and 
operational disturbance as suggested in the DWC November 2019 ecological appraisal but in the 
absence of any evidence to this effect we have the following advice:  
 
- The noise assessment (Acoustic Associates South West Ltd April 2017) is confined to assessing the 
impact of noise on human receptors and does not consider potential impacts on ecological receptors. 
Based on the evidence in the report the site baseline is currently relatively quiet.  
 
- Natural England’s advice is that predicted construction and operational noise levels should be within 
background levels and that an increase of 3dB to the LAeq measure / background ambient noise at 
the ecological receptor i.e. the SSSI boundary, can be considered significant in terms of impacts on 
overwintering birds.  
 

Page 58



- Timing of works has the potential to reduce disturbance effects substantially in some circumstances. 
For example, on estuaries the most sensitive period, when the greatest numbers of birds are present, 
will be between September and March inclusive.  
 
- Requiring a blanket restriction on all construction works for several months can be very restrictive to 
developers and does not take account of site-specific information such as the existing background 
noise at the site, the timing of significant aggregations of birds in the affected area and the possibility 
of less noisy works being carried out during sensitive periods.  
 
- At coastal locations the tidal cycle might provide opportunities to synchronise the noisiest and most 
disturbing activities with states of the tide when birds are least vulnerable to disturbance. For 
example, disturbance could be restricted to the state of the tide when birds are foraging farthest from 
the working area, generally at low tide, or at the higher tides when no intertidal habitat is exposed 
(and if no high tide roosts are nearby).  
 
- Effective acoustic screening also requires intercepting the ‘line-of-sight’ between source and 
receptor birds. Screening is often very effective when works are taking place at ground level. Ordinary 
acoustic screens are often ineffective for piling as pile lengths can be 20m above ground when piling 
commences. For work at higher elevations an acoustic curtain is available (e.g. Soundex) which is 
hung from scaffolding.  
 
- A noise management plan can then be produced to ensure that construction noise levels are within 
background levels. Where any significant increases are predicted at ecological receptors, mitigation 
measures will be required.  
 
- Consideration should also be given to the potential impacts of public and private lighting. All   
designs should be subject to review by lighting specialists and ecologists to ensure there is no 
additional light spill onto the estuary habitats.  
 
- Given the proximity of the development to the Tarka Trail there is the potential for increased 
recreational disturbance impacts on the estuary birds. We would recommend that the developer 
works with the LPA regarding the number, location and wording of signage to ensure a consistent 
message as they are already looking at a wider estuary approach.  
 
- Maintenance of a SuDS scheme, to protect water quality into the estuary, is essential to ensure it 
functions as designed whilst also optimising benefits for biodiversity. How this will be achieved in the 
short, medium and long term needs to be identified and legally enforceable. How the maintenance 
and management of the SuDS will be funded is also an important element of any strategy.  
 
- Any Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) should make reference to best 
practice Pollution Prevention Guidelines to protect the estuary environment.  
 
In conclusion, your Authority should ensure a comprehensive package of effective robust mitigation 
measures are secured before determination.  
 
Should the application change, or if the applicant submits further information relating to the impact of 
this proposal on the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI, Natural England will be happy to consider it, and 
amend our position as appropriate. Following submission of this advice to the LPA we are able to 
consider offering advice to the developer through our Discretionary Advice Service.  
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you wish to discuss anything further.  
 
FURTHER RESPONSE DATED 20TH MAY 2020: 
Thank you for your consultation on the above dated and received on 30 April 2020.   Based on the 
additional information provided (acoustic report addendum) we have the following advice1 regarding 
the noise impacts on the Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) only.  Advice 
provided on other aspects of the development in our letters of 8th March 2019 (ref 274397) and 17th 

February 2020 (ref 308701) remains relevant to this application. 
 

Page 59



Designated sites  
Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI : 
The application site is upstream of the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI which is notified for its intertidal 
habitats and overwintering bird interest.  Based on the additional information provided (Acoustic 
Associates South West Ltd acoustic addendum) which has considered potential impacts on ecological 
receptors i.e. the SSSI, Natural England’s view is that the development is unlikely to lead to significant 
disturbance and displacement of the overwintering estuary birds within the Taw Torridge Estuary 
SSSI 500m downstream.  
 
The wider estuary/local sites : 
The data gathered through the Taw Torridge Estuary High Tide Roost and Recreational Impacts 
study2, of which your Authority is a partner, highlights that this sector (11485) of the estuary supports 
a relatively undisturbed and significant Lapwing roost upstream of the development by the Iron Bridge 
along with large aggregations of gulls. Given the separation distance these birds are also unlikely to 
be affected by construction noise.  
 
Based on the evidence in the acoustic report the development site is currently relatively quiet. The 
proposed open space/wetland area and railway embankment which separate the immediate estuary 
from the development site is likely to mitigate much of the construction and operational disturbance as 
suggested in the DWC November 2019 ecological appraisal. However, the acoustic addendum does 
suggest that noise levels at the water will be higher than on site despite the separation distance of 40-
70m.  
 
Although no high tide roosts (HTR) were identified in the HTR survey, the abundant and currently 
undisturbed habitat on the eastern bank of the river which is closest to the development is designated 
Kynoch Foreshore Local Nature reserve (LNR) and the LNR management plan (2011) suggests it has 
been important for Curlew, Golden Plover, Lapwing, Snipe and Reed Warblers.  
 
On this basis, and the fact that the HTR survey suggests it is odd not to have found anything 
significant in this section, we would recommend a noise management plan is secured, via a suitably 
worded condition , to ensure that construction noise levels are within background levels at the 
saltmarsh. Where any significant increases are predicted at ecological receptors, mitigation measures 
such as acoustic screening should be required to reduce the potential noise impacts on birds using 
the saltmarsh habitat / the LNR.  
 
Should the application change, or if the applicant submits further information relating to the impact of 
this proposal on the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI, Natural England will be happy to consider it, and 
amend our position as appropriate. Following submission of this advice to the LPA we are able to 
consider offering advice to the developer through our Discretionary Advice Service.  
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you wish to discuss anything further.  
 
The Environment Agency: 
Response dated 17th June 2020: 
 
Environment Agency position 
Further to our previous response dated the 11 March 2019, we have no objection to the proposed 
development subject to the inclusion of an additional condition on any permission granted regarding 
the reserved matters stage of the development. The suggested wording for the condition is provided 
below. 
 
Flood Risk  
We have reviewed the application again, and whilst we do not object, the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment (Rev 3 2012) and its 2019 Addendum will need to be re-updated so it is in line with the 
latest guidance including The National Planning Policy Framework & sea level rise/climate change 
(Dec 2019).  This may increase the design flood level and required minimum FFL by a small amount.  
 
The July 2019 addendum did demonstrate that the vast majority of the site is above the flood risk 
levels (with the effect of climate change), and adjusted the minimum site and safe access route. It 

Page 60



also demonstrated that flood compensation works (for fluvial flood risks) are not require for the 
housing development.  However, the proposed improvement works to the access road (inc. 
resurfacing) may require minor local compensation.  All the above can be dealt with at Reserved 
Matters stage, hence the following conditions. 
 
Condition  
No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until such time as a revised 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. This shall be completed in line with the latest guidance (NPPF, sea level rise and climate 
change data). 
 
Reason 
To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and its future users. 
 
Condition 
Before any works start on site, the proposed ground landscaping and floor levels are agreed.  Land 
and the access road (within the fluvial flood area) that is being raised must have the necessary flood 
compensation storage area designed and approved. This will be based on the values contained in the 
approved FRA (revision 3 March 2012   2019 addendum & DWG 0812 rev C). 
 
 
PREVIOUS COMMENTS PROVIDED 17TH JUNE 2019: 
 
Further to my email of the 14th June 2019, I provide an updated position to the proposed development 
described above.  
 
Environment Agency position 
We object to the proposed development as submitted on the grounds that it involves building directly 
adjacent to an Environment Agency Asset. The reason for this updated position and advice on how to 
overcome our objection is provided below.  
 
Reason – Since our previous letter dated 11th March 2019, new information has come to light after 
internal discussions with the Asset Performance Team.  
 
There is an environment agency maintained trash screen asset on the minor watercourse to the north 
of the main site. We require an access route to be agreed and built as part of the works around the 
SUDS pond/wetland feature. Plans should be amended to demonstrate that this can be satisfactorily 
accommodated at the outline stage. We request to be consulted on any revised plans submitted.   
 
Please contact us again if you require any further advice.  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the amended plans that have been submitted do not alter or 
address the comments previously made by the Environmental Protection Team dated 8 March 2019. 
In summary, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections in principle but makes the 
following comments: 
 
Land Quality 
The contaminated land assessment produced by Idom Merebrook has identified some areas of 
potential contamination on the application site. A subsequent remediation strategy has been devised 
which appears to address these contamination issues. It is noted that the assessment was 
undertaken in 2017 and given that a reasonable period of time has elapsed since its production, it 
would be useful to receive confirmation from the applicant that no changes have occurred at the site 
and the assessment is still relevant. Given the contamination identified and to cover any potential 
unforeseen contamination, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the 
Authority's full standard contaminated land condition should planning consent be granted. 
 
Residential Amenity Impact (Noise) 

Page 61



The application site neighbours several commercial premises to the north and south. The noise 
assessment produced by Acoustic Associates South West has not been undertaken fully in 
accordance with British Standard BS4142:2014, the appropriate methodology for assessing the 
impact of commercial noise. However, the assessment does identify noise, predominantly from the 
Jewsons site to the north of the application site, whereas there is limited noise from Bethel 
Construction (operating as a Western Power Distribution compound) and Jamestan Engineering (part 
of the Kynocks Industrial Estate) to the north and south respectively. The sites are assumed to 
operate during daytime hours only which considerably lessens the potential noise impact on 
residential amenity during noise sensitive times (eg. evenings, early morning). However, as detailed in 
the noise assessment, the sites may give rise to unwanted sound on occasions. For example, noise 
from forklifts, loading/unloading and power tools may be apparent. It is noted that buffer zones exist 
between the Jewsons site and the northern boundary of the application site and also between 
Jamestan Engineering and the southern boundary of the application site. Additional measures such 
as screening (ie. fencing) either at the site boundary or dwelling garden boundaries should be 
considered as this would substantially reduce any potential noise impact. 
 
The noise assessment highlights the presence of electricity transformers within the Bethel (WPD) 
depot but there is no mention of their potential impact. Electricity transformers produce low frequency 
noise which is capable of being audible over considerable distances and can be particularly 
noticeable during periods of low level background noise such as the evenings and night time. 
According to the proposed development layout, there are several proposed dwellings, in particular 
plots 10 to 16, that have first floor windows facing towards the electricity transformers. Subsequently, 
there is the potential for sleep disturbance in an area that is likely to have low background levels 
during the night time period. It would be helpful to have an assessment of the potential noise impact 
associated with the electricity transformers. Depending on the noise impact, the orientation of rooms 
may need to be altered so that less noise sensitive rooms (eg. bathroom) face towards the 
transformers or less preferable, the introduction of mechanical ventilation. The noise assessment was 
carried out in 2017 and again, it would be useful to have confirmation from the applicant that no 
changes have occurred at the site and the assessment is still relevant. The Environmental Protection 
Team is satisfied that noise arising from the Jewsons site, Bethel Construction/Western Power 
Distribution and Jamestan Engineering should not have a significant adverse noise impact on the 
residential amenity of the proposed development. In order to have a full understanding of the noise 
environment, the Environmental Protection Team would require further information or assessment of 
the electricity transformer noise, particularly during the night time period. Suitable mitigation 
measures, as alluded to above, should be considered in order to prevent or reduce any potential 
unwanted sound from the above mentioned sites that could cause disturbance. Should planning 
consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the following 
condition: 
Noise mitigation measures should be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
development commencing. Mitigation measures should be approved by the local authority and 
completed prior to any dwellings being occupied. 
 
Residential Amenity Impact (Construction) 
Existing dwellings are located to the south of the application site such that an adverse impact on 
residential amenity may arise from construction works (eg. noise and dust) during development.  
Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition 
of the following condition to protect existing residential amenity: 
Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, groundworks or 
construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or minor works that the Local Planning 
Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to manage the impacts of 
construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the CMP shall include:- 
a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
c) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 

Page 62



f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must include wheelwashing 
facilities 
g) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust suppression 
h) impact assessments and associated mitigation measures in relation to noise, vibration, dust and 
lighting.(Assessments must be carried out by suitably qualified persons and the plan should 
demonstrate the adoption and use of best practice to reduce impacts) 
i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings 
j) specified parking arrangements for vehicles associated with the construction works and the 
provision made for access thereto; 
k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of how 
complaints will be addressed 
 
The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to ensure continuing 
compliance during the construction of the development.  In addition to the above, it is recommended 
that construction works are restricted to 0700 to 1900 hours Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 
hours Saturdays with no working on Sundays and Bank Holidays.  
 
UPDATED RESPONSE DATED 7TH MAY 2020: 
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has reviewed the Acoustic 
Addendum which assesses both the noise impact from neighbouring electricity transformers on future 
occupants of dwellings and the effect of construction noise on wildlife during construction. 
 
The Environmental Protection Team will comment on the noise impact from electricity transformers 
only. The Acoustic Addendum indicates that there have been no notable changes to the locality that 
would significantly alter the acoustic environment that was evaluated in the original noise assessment 
dated April 2017. Having undertaken its own visits to the locality, the Environmental Protection Team 
would concur with this finding. Although the noise assessment contained within the Acoustic 
Addendum has not been undertaken fully in accordance with British Standard BS4142:2019, it is 
evident that the noise emanating from the electricity transformers is likely to have a significant 
adverse impact on the dwellings shown as plots 10 to 16 on the outline plan. 
 
The Environmental Protection Team concurs with the findings in that noise mitigation measures, in 
addition to those already outlined in previous consultation responses, will be required. It is 
acknowledged that the plan is illustrative as opposed to definitive and that noise mitigation measures 
are available for implementation that will minimise the predicted impact. Should planning consent be 
granted, the Environmental Protection Team recommends the imposition of the following condition: 
 
Noise mitigation measures should be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
development commencing. Mitigation measures should be approved by the local authority and 
completed prior to any dwellings being occupied.  
 
It should be noted that this further consultation response focusses on the additional noise assessment 
provided. The previous consultation responses and subsequent recommendations regarding 
contaminated land, residential amenity and construction management remain relevant. 
 
Strategic Enabling Officer:  
RESPONSE DATED 8TH MAY 2019: 
 In terms of Affordable Housing, Local Plan Policy ST18 is applicable which requires 30% of the 
overall number of units to be provided as Affordable Housing. The required tenure split is for 75% to 
be provided at a Social Rent level and 25% at an ‘intermediate’ level - the associated definitions being 
detailed in the National Planning Policy Framework.  
The Affordable Housing provision has been agreed previously in the following form which remains 
acceptable:-  
 
Bedroom  Percentage of overall 

AH provision  
Minimum Size  

Page 63



1 bed  25%  46 sqm  
2 bed  50%  76 sqm  
3 bed  25%  86 sqm  
  
 
 The applicant has presented a case that the provision of 30% affordable housing on this scheme 
would make the scheme unviable. Evidence to support this position has been submitted by the 
developer in the form of a development appraisal and this has now been assessed on behalf of 
Torridge District Council by the District Valuation Office  
Through this assessment, the District Valuation Office have concluded the development to be viable 
with the following 7 Affordable Units which equates to 6.9% of the overall provision. 
 

 
To ensure the Affordable Housing provision is affordable for the residents of Torridge District, it is 
imperative the rented units are provided at a Social Rent level rather than an ‘Affordable’ Rent level - 
the associated definitions being detailed in the National Planning Policy Framework. 
For the Intermediate provision, it is acceptable for this to be provided in the form of Shared Ownership 
Housing, Intermediate Affordable Housing for Rent or Discounted Market Sales Housing. Whilst 
additional information regarding intermediate provision can be found in TDC’s Planning Obligations 
SPD, it is important to note that where Discounted Open Market housing is proposed, the percentage 
discount must be set having regard to 3.5 x the average median household income for Torridge and 
the discount secured in perpetuity. 
To ensure long term sustainability, the Affordable Housing provision is required to be pepper potted 
across the development 
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
 I can confirm I have no further comments reference this application. 
 
PREVIOUS RESPONSE DATED 28TH FEBRUARY 2019: 
Thank you for this application. 
It is appreciated that at this time it is for outline only, therefore please note the following information, 
initial advice and recommendations given from a designing out crime, fear of crime, antisocial 
behaviour (ASB) and community conflict perspective. All relevant planning applications should 
demonstrate, generally within the Design and Access Statement (DAS), the principles of Crime 
Prevention through Environmental Design (CPtED) and how they have been considered and 
incorporated into the design and layout of all new developments. 
 
The seven attributes of Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) are key to 
ensuring a safe and sustainable community and in addition to the layout the physical security is now a 
consideration. 
 
• Access and movement: Places with well-defined and well used routes, with spaces and entrances 
that provide for convenient movement without compromising security. 
• Structure: Places that are structured so that different uses do not cause conflict 
• Surveillance: Places where all publicly accessible spaces are overlooked, have a purpose and are 
managed to prevent the creation of problem areas which can attract the antisocial to gather, dumping 
and dog fouling etc. 
• Ownership: Places that promote a sense of ownership, respect, territorial responsibility and 
community 

Page 64



• Physical protection: Places that include necessary, well-designed security features as laid out in 
SBD Homes 2016 
• Activity: Places where the level of human activity is appropriate to the location and creates a 
reduced risk of crime and a sense of safety at all times. 
• Management and maintenance: Places that are designed with management and maintenance in 
mind, to discourage crime and ASB. 
 
With an application of this size, areas of concern tend to be in relation to defensible space, clear 
ownership of property including parking spaces, defensive planting preventing conflict with youths and 
ball games etc, desire lines, and unwarranted permeability allowing potential offenders to wonder 
unchallenged. 
 
Routes for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles should be integrated to provide a network of supervised 
areas to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour. Public footpaths should not run to the rear of, and 
provide access to gardens, rear yards or dwellings as these have been proven to generate crime. If a 
footpath is essential to give access to the rear of properties, they must be gated. The gates must be 
placed at the entrance to the footpath, as near to the front building line as possible, so that attempts 
to climb them will be in full view of the street. 
 
Cars should either be parked in locked garages or on a hard standing within the dwelling boundary. 
Where communal car parking areas are necessary they should be in small groups, close and adjacent 
to homes and must be within view of active rooms within these homes. The word ‘active’ in this sense 
means rooms in building elevations from which there is direct and regular visual connection between 
the room and the street or parking court. Such visual connection can be expected from rooms such as 
kitchens and living rooms. 
 
Rear car parking courtyards are discouraged for the following reasons: 
• They introduce access to the vulnerable rear elevations of dwellings where the majority of burglary is 
perpetrated 
• In private developments such areas are often left unlit and therefore increase the fear of crime 
• Un-gated courtyards provide areas of concealment which can encourage anti-social behaviour 
Communal areas, such as playgrounds and seating areas have the potential to generate crime, the 
fear of crime and anti-social behaviour. They should be designed to allow supervision from nearby 
dwellings with safe routes for users to come and go. Boundaries between public and private space 
should be clearly defined and open spaces must have features which prevent unauthorised vehicular 
access. Communal spaces as described above should not immediately abut residential buildings. 
 
Early consultation with the police frequently prevents delays further down the planning process when 
crime and disorder issues present a problem with the layout of a submitted design. 
 
I look forward to reviewing a more detailed application in due course but in the meantime please do 
not hesitate to contact me if I can assist further. 
 

South West Water:  
I refer to the above and would advise that South West Water has no objection or comment. 
 
Tree & Landscape Officer:  
NO RECENT RESPONSE PROVIDED – PREVIOUS RESPONSE DATED 13TH SEPTEMBER 2016: 
 
Further to your request for observations on the above matter, I can confirm that I am able to comment 
as follows. 
 
A Tree Constraints Survey and Plan have been produced and shows that this brownfield site is 
surrounded by neglected hedgerows with some larger trees. The tree quality is generally poor to 
moderate and the site now contains a lot of scrub and self set tree saplings. The survey shows that 
there are no reasons for the trees to be a constraint to the development of the site. 
 

Page 65



It will be important that hedgerows and trees are retained for screening, especially along the Tarka 
Trail boundary, but care should be taken not to retain inappropriate trees just because they are 
growing in the right place. The final layout and landscaping should have input from the scheme 
Arboriculturalist, and an Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural 
Method Statement Should be provided. 
 
In conclusion I have no objections to this development. 
 
Suggested conditions: 
Provision, implementation and maintenance of detailed landscape proposals 
i) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall be carried 
out as approved. These details shall include proposed finished levels or contours; means of 
enclosure; car parking layouts; other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard 
surfacing materials; minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other 
storage units, signs, lighting etc.); proposed and existing functional services above and below ground 
(e.g. drainage power, communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes, supports 
etc.); retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration, where relevant. 
ii) Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and 
other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants (noting species, 
plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities); implementation and management programme. 
Reason: To assimilate the development into the landscape and to safeguard the appearance and 
character of the area. 
 
Provision & implementation of an Arboricultural Impact Assessment including Tree Protection Plan 
(TPP) and an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
No works or development shall take place until an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and scheme for 
the protection of the retained trees and hedges [BS5837: 2012 section 5.5 Tree protection plan (TPP) 
and 6.1 Arboricultural method statement (AMS)] has been agreed in writing with the by the Local 
Planning Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved. 
 
This scheme shall include: 
(a) a plan to a scale and level of accuracy appropriate to the proposal that shows the position, crown 
spread and Root Protection Area (RPA) of every retained tree and hedge on site and on neighbouring 
or nearby ground to the site in relation to the approved plans and particulars. The positions of all trees 
and hedges to be removed shall also be clearly indicated on this plan and marked with a dashed 
outline. 
(b) a tree survey schedule in accordance with section 4.4 of BS5837: 2012. 
(c) a tree work schedule for all the retained trees and hedges in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, 
specifying pruning and other remedial or preventative work, whether for physiological, hazard 
abatement, aesthetic or operational reasons. All tree works shall be carried out in accordance with 
British Standard 3998: 2010 Tree Work - Recommendations. 
(d) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Ground Protection 
Zones. 
(e) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Tree Protection 
Barriers, identified separately where required for different phases of construction work (e.g. 
demolition, construction, hard landscaping). The Tree Protection Barriers must be erected prior to 
each construction phase commencing and remain in place, and undamaged for the duration of that 
phase. No works shall take place on the next phase until the Tree Protection Barriers are repositioned 
for that phase. 
(f) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Construction 
Exclusion Zones. 
(g) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the underground 
service runs. 
(h) the details of any changes in levels or the position of any proposed excavations within 5 metres of 
the Root Protection Area of any retained tree, including those on neighbouring or nearby ground. 
(i) the details of any special engineering required to accommodate the protection of retained trees, 
(e.g. in connection with foundations, bridging, water features, surfacing) 

Page 66



(j) the details of the working methods to be employed with the demolition of buildings, structure and 
surfacing within or adjacent to the RPAs of retained trees. 
(k) the details of the working methods to be employed for the installation of drives and paths within the 
RPAs of retained trees in accordance with the principles of No-Dig construction. 
(l) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to the access for and use of 
heavy, large, difficult to manoeuvre plant (including cranes and their loads, dredging machinery, 
concrete pumps, piling rigs, etc) on site. 
(m) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to site logistics and storage, 
including an allowance for slopes, water courses and enclosures, with particular regard to ground 
compaction and phytotoxicity. 
(n) the details of the method to be employed for the stationing, use and removal of site cabins 
within any RPA. 
(o) the details of tree protection measures for the hard landscaping phase. 
(p) the timing of the various phases of the works or development in the context of the tree 
protection measures. 
(q) no retained tree, hedge or shrub shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any 
retained tree or hedge, be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the approved plans and 
particulars, without the written approval of the local planning authority. Any topping or lopping 
approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard [3998 (Tree Work)] 
(r) If any retained tree, or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree or hedge 
shall be planted at the same place and that tree or hedge shall be of such size and species, and shall 
be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the local planning authority. 
(s) the details of the arboricultural consultant to be employed during construction works to 
supervise erection of protective barriers and to carry out site monitoring during the development. 
 
Historic England: 
RESPONSE DATED 17TH FEBRUARY 2020: 
 
Thank you for your letter of 10 February 2020 regarding further information on the above application 
for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the following advice to assist your 
authority in determining the application.  
 
Historic England Advice : 
Historic England were consulted on this application in 2019 and provided a letter of advice dated 12 
March 2019. In that letter we outlined our position that the application's lack of heritage assessment 
restricts your authority's ability to properly assess the potential for harm to the historic environment. 
Given the continued lack of heritage assessment for the site and development proposal, our position 
remains the same. 
 
Recommendation : 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. These concerns are 
outlined fully in our letter of 12 March 2019. We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in 
our advice need to be addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 
189, 190, 193 and 194 of the NPPF.  
 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas.  
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, safeguards or 
further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you 
would like further advice, please contact us. 
 
FURTHER RESPONSE DATED 21ST MAY 2020: 
Historic England made initial comments on this application in our letter of 12 March 2020. We 
recommend that this correspondence is read in conjunction with our previous letter, in which we 
expressed concerns at the lack of heritage statement accompanying the application, given the size of 
the development and its potential inter-relationship with various designated and undesignated 

Page 67



heritage assets and Bideford conservation area. We also identified the possibility of below ground 
archaeological, and palaeoenvironmental remains being present.  
 
An Historic Environment Impact Assessment has now been submitted to accompany the application. 
This identifies the heritage assets within 1 km of the application site, and assesses the potential 
impacts of the development on them. We are reassured by the document and generally support its 
conclusions given the available information to date. However, because of the outline nature of the 
application, the final impact of those issues raised in our first letter (flood alleviation measures, 
development layout, height of dwellings, design of dwellings, ground works, the location of associated 
public open space, lighting, etc.) remains incompletely understood – it will be for the reserved matters 
application to update the impact assessment, taking these into account and consider mitigation 
measures where appropriate.  
 
Notwithstanding the Historic Environment Impact Assessment, we provide the following specific 
advice in relation to archaeological evaluation which we believe will help form the basis for any 
conditions attached to a consent, but also assist the applicant in forming the evidence base for the 
reserved matters application.  
 
Geotechnical Investigations  
The Contaminated Land Assessment (2017) submitted with the application identifies a perched water 
table in some areas of the sites above the alluvial layers. In order to assess at the earliest possible 
stage, the archaeological potential of the site and to identify any areas of organic archaeological or 
palaeoenvironmental potential which may be impacted either directly, or indirectly through 
Contaminated Land Remediation, construction or piling, geoarchaeological monitoring or assessment 
of the Geotechnical Investigations is recommended. In addition, combining Geotechnical Investigation 
with archaeological monitoring will enhance site data, inform risk assessment processes for both 
contaminated land and archaeology and promote time and fee efficiencies by avoiding duplication of 
work[1]. 
 
This may be undertaken as part of the Staged Programme of Archaeological Works undertaken under 
Planning Condition and would result in a Geoarchaeological assessment and initial Deposit Model, to 
inform targeting of the archaeological evaluation trial trenches and production of a Preservation of 
Archaeological Remains Assessment and Strategy in line with Historic England Guidance[2] [3] [4].  
 
Contaminated Land  
The Contaminated Land Assessment (2017) suggests that remediation may be required in some 
areas of the site, and that this may be achieved through removal of contaminated deposits. It is 
recommended that geoarchaeological assessment of Geotechnical Investigations is completed prior 
to Contaminated Land Remediation, and where possible, archaeological evaluation. Where any 
stripping of deposits or removal of material is to be undertaken, the need for archaeological 
supervision should be discussed with the Local Authority Archaeological Advisors, Devon County 
Historic Environment Team (DCHET). It is recommended that Historic England’s Land Contamination 
and Archaeology Good Practice Guidance is consulted at the earliest opportunity, to inform the scope 
of works[1]. 
 
Summary 
A key principle of Historic England’s Land Contamination and Archaeology Practice (2017) [1] is that 
of Early Assessment – ensuring that the underlying sedimentary sequence is characterised at an 
early stage to limit potential impacts on archaeological assets which may result in loss or harm. To 
achieve this, it is essential that the below ground environment is understood, and this can be 
achieved through geoarchaeological assessment, recording and sampling as part of Geotechnical 
Works and through careful consideration of the approach to Contaminated Land Remediation, to 
ensure that the historic environment is understood adequately prior to potential impacts of 
remediation [1]. Having an understanding of the archaeological environment, land contamination and 
water environment at an early stage, will support decision taking where Preservation of 
Archaeological remains is intended2. 
 

Page 68



If clarification is required, our Science Advisor would be pleased to discuss this further and can be 
contacted through our South West Regional Office. 
 
Recommendation 
Historic England has no further comments to make on the application, but recommends that an 
appropriately worded condition (formed with input from Devon County Council’s archaeological 
advisors) is applied to any consent granted to ensure that archaeological investigations are 
undertaken as appropriate. 
 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, safeguards or 
further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or you 
would like further advice, please contact us. 
 
Devon County Council - Flood Risk Management:  
RESPONSE DATED 12TH FEBRUARY 2020: 
Thank you for your email. 
We have withdrawn our objection in a response dated 26/02/2019 and therefore will not be providing 
comments at this stage. 
 
 
RESPONSE DATED 30TH JUNE 2020: 
Recommendation: 
Our objection is withdrawn and we have no in-principle objections to the above planning application at 
this stage, assuming that the following pre-commencement planning conditions are imposed on any 
approved permission: 
 
- No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Nuttaberry Estate Residential Development 
Flood Risk And Drainage Assessment Rev 3 dated March 2012 and FRA Addendum dated 19th July 
2019 RMA/LC1972 – Nutaberry Bideford – FRA Addendum. 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption, if appropriate, and maintenance of all aspects of the proposed 
permanent surface water drainage system. 
(d) A plan clearly indicating the overland exceedance flood routing for the site. 
 
Observations: 
Following my previous consultation response (FRM/TO/0041/2019), dated 26th February 2019, the 
applicant has submitted additional information in relation to the surface water drainage aspects of the 
above planning application, for which I am grateful. 
 
- Emails from Rosie Tutton RMA Environmental to Poppy Millar dated 06/06/2019 and 27/06/2019. 
- FRA Addendum dated 19th July 2019 RMA/LC1972 – Nutaberry Bideford – FRA Addendum. 
 
It has been noted that due to the slope of the land the drainage system will not be affected by tidal 
locking and therefore attenuation will not be required as surface water runoff can discharge at an 
uncontrolled rate into the tidally influenced River Torridge. 
 
The applicant is proposing a piped based drainage strategy which will discharge under the Tarka Trail 
into the River Torridge. The on site drainage system should be designed to cope with the 1 and in 100 
year plus 40% event. Opportunities should be investigated at detailed design stage for use of rain 
gardens or other above sustainable drainage techniques which will provide a betterment to the site. It 

Page 69



would also offer biodiversity benefit and provide a level of treatment to the runoff. The applicant 
should consider how water quality indices as indicated in the Ciria SuDS Manual C753 will be met at 
detailed design stage. 
 
Chief Education Officer:  
RESPONSE DATED 19TH FEBRUARY 2020: 
Please see attached for our consultation response for the application above. 
 
ATTACHED RESPONSE IS PREVIOUS RESPONSE PROVIDED DATED 25TH AUGUST 2016: 
With regard to the above application, Devon County Council will need to request education 
contributions to mitigate the impact of this development. I can advise that 96 dwellings can expect to 
produce an additional 24 primary pupils & 14.4 secondary school pupils. 
 
Primary provision in Bideford is at capacity and under significant pressure; we would there need to 
request for primary contributions. As new primary provision is required, DCC would require 
£13,329.50 per additional pupil. This makes a total contribution of £319,908 (based on the current DfE 
new build rate per pupil).  In addition, as a new primary school is required, we would also need to 
request a proportionate land contribution of 10sqm per family-type dwelling. Based upon a land value 
of £400,000 per hectare, this land contribution would equate to £38,400 and would be used to assist 
in the procurement of the new school site. 
 
There is sufficient capacity for the additional secondary students we can expect from this 
development and therefore a contribution towards secondary education would not be requested for 
this development. In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County Council would wish 
to recover legal costs incurred as a result of the preparation and completion of the Agreement. Legal 
costs are not expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to the education 
contribution. However, if the agreement involves other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the 
legal costs are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
  
TDC - Property Department: No response received. 
  
Conservation Officer:  
The Historic Environment Impact assessment carried out in April this year by AC Archaeology is very 
helpful and meets the requirement of paragraph 189 of the NPPF in that the report evaluates the 
heritage assets surrounding the site and the impact of the proposal on their significance.  
 
The assessment is accepted and there are no further comment at this time. 
 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  46  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  16 Number of neutral representations: 2 
Number of objection letters:  14  

 
THE FOLLOWING REFLECTS THE REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED IN RESPONSE TO THE 
CONSULTATION PERIOD IN FEBRUARY 2020: 
Objections raised can be summarised as follows: 
- Significant increase in traffic on Torrington Street; 
- Existing highway restrictions to Torrington Street with impact on surrounding highway network; 
- Note improvements sought to access but won't resolve existing issues; 
- Adverse impact on amenities from proximity of residential properties to commercial businesses; 
- Likely knock on impacts on existing commercial businesses by dwellings in close proximity; 
- Transport Assessment uses out of date information; 
- No need for a second access to Tarka Trail; 
- Lack of consideration of parking requirements for existing dwellings on Torrington Street and 
Torridge Place with loss of existing parking spaces to allow access to Tarka Trail; 
- Development on flood plain; 

Page 70



- Loss of existing pavement to Torrington Street; 
- Limited passing places on Torrington Street as existing; 
- Highway safety concerns; 
- Lack of sewerage infrastructure; 
- Potential contaminated land issues. 
 
Policy Context: 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031: 
 
ST02 (Mitigating Climate Change); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST05 (Sustainable 
Construction and Buildings); ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Strategic and 
Main Centres); ST09 (Coast and Estuary Strategy); ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST14 (Enhancing 
Environmental Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage Assets); ST17 (A Balanced Local Housing 
Market); ST18 (Affordable Housing on Development Sites); ST22 (Community Services and 
Facilities); ST23 (Infrastructure); BID (Bideford Spatial Vision and Development Strategy); BID04 (Site 
South of East-the-Water); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); 
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM03 
(Construction and Environmental Management); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 
(Parking Provision); DM07 (Historic Environment); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); 
DM09 (Safeguarding Green Infrastructure); DM10 (Green Infrastructure Provision);  
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA 
(Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981); NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities);  
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Main Planning Considerations: 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Affordable Housing 
3. Impact on Character and Appearance 
4. Impact on Heritage Assets 
5. Impact on Residential Amenities 
6. Access, Parking and Car Park 
7. Drainage 
8. Trees 
9. Ecology 
10. Section 106. 
 
1. Principle of Development: 
The application site is located within the urban area of East-The-Water as part of Bideford and is 
located within the settlement boundary for Bideford as identified on the Proposals Maps to the North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  As a result, the provisions of Policy ST06 of the Local Plan are 
relevant.  This identifies Bideford as a Strategic Centre and notes that Bideford will provide a focus for 
housing and employment development, with significant levels of development being accommodated 
consistent with its scale and complementary role to Barnstaple.  Policy ST06 states that development 
will be supported in principle within the development boundaries of Bideford. 
 
Policy BID sets out the spatial strategy for the settlement of Bideford more specifically noting that: 
‘Bideford will continue to be a focus for growth in northern Devon, which will be delivered without 
prejudice to the valued environmental assets having due regard to the importance of the area’s 
setting and landscape quality’. 
 
Policy BID also proposes the provision of significant levels of housing development within Bideford 
during the Plan period, specifically noting urban extensions to the south of East-The-Water.   

Page 71



 
The eastern boundary of the application site abuts the BID04 allocation as identified on the Proposals 
Map.  Policy BID04 relates to an extensive area to the south of the existing settlement edge of East-
The-Water.  The Policy seeks the provision of a sustainable, high quality mixed-use development to 
include approximately 600 dwellings providing a mix of dwelling types and sizes to reflect local need 
including affordable housing.  Policy BID04 further notes that the development of the adjacent site to 
the current application site should include integrated pedestrian, cycle and public transport networks 
that provide connections to neighbouring residential and commercial areas as well as the Tarka Trail.   
 
The principle of residential development with associated community facilities on the application site 
would therefore be supported by Policies ST06 and BID of the Local Plan and the proposal would 
complement the development sought on the adjacent site, subject of Policy BID04. 
 
2. Affordable Housing: 
Policy ST17 of the Local Plan seeks the provision of a range in the scale and mix of dwelling types, 
sizes and tenure within development proposals, taking account of the site character and its context as 
well as development viability.  Policy ST18 relates more specifically to affordable housing provision 
and notes that proposals of 11 or more dwellings will be expected to provide the on-site delivery of 
affordable housing equal to 30% of the gross number of dwellings on the site.   
 
Policy ST18 further notes, at Section (5) that negotiations to vary the scale and nature of affordable 
housing provision, along with the provision of other infrastructure and planning requirements, will be 
considered on the basis of a robust appraisal of development viability.  The supporting text to Policy 
ST18 also notes that there may be occasions whereby circumstances result in the development of 
affordable housing in line with the policy requirements compromising the viability of the development.  
In these instances, it is the applicant’s obligation to provide a robust financial justification to support 
any proposals for a less than policy compliant scheme and these will normally be independently 
verified.   
 
The applicant has provided a viability assessment in support of the application which sets out that the 
provision of 30% affordable housing within the proposed development would make the scheme 
unviable.  This viability appraisal for the site which has been independently assessed and extensive 
discussions have been undertaken to ensure that an appropriate and viable provision of affordable 
housing can be provided on the site.  The conclusion of the viability appraisal is that the scheme 
would be viable with the provision of 7 affordable units, 6.9% of the overall provision.   
 
Section (7) of Policy ST18 seeks the provision of affordable housing with a tenure mix of 75% social 
rent and 25% intermediate provision.  Given the viability assessment process which the application 
has been subject to, the provision of 5 units as social rent (a mix of one bedroom flats and two & three 
bedroom houses) and 2 units as intermediate accommodation (1 two bed house and 1 three bed 
house) would be sought. 
 
The Council’s Strategic Enabling Officer has been involved in the viability discussions and has 
commented on the lower affordable housing provision and raises no objection to the proposed 
provision, subject to the details of the affordable provision identified above.  In addition, the Strategic 
Enabling Officer has provided details of the definitions of the affordable housing types sought which 
would need to be secured via a Section 106 agreement as part of any permission granted for the 
development.   
 
Taking into consideration the viability assessments which have been undertaken on the site and their 
outcomes, the proposed development is considered to provide an acceptable level of affordable 
housing on site given the circumstances, in accordance with the provisions of Policy ST18.  Any 
planning permission would need to be subject to a Section 106 agreement to secure the on-site 
affordable housing provision.   
 
3. Impact on Character and Appearance: 
Policy DM08A notes that development should be of an appropriate scale, mass and design that 
recognises and respects landscape character of both designated and undesignated landscapes.   

Page 72



 
The Joint Landscape Character Assessment (JLCA) for North Devon and Torridge Districts identifies 
the application site as being both within Landscape Character Type 7 (Main Cities and Towns) and 
3G (River Valley Slopes and Combes).  The JLCA notes the importance of recreation within  
Landscape Character Type 3G including the Tarka Trail and notes that these areas include important 
wildlife habitats, narrow green lanes forming tunnels through woodland and roadside hedges as well 
as a sense of peace and tranquillity.  The forces for change within this landscape character type 
include recreation pressures and increased levels of traffic on rural roads, with the Tarka Trail 
specifically notes as being a popular recreational facility within the landscape.  In addition, further 
development pressures leading to the expansion of Bideford and the consequential impact on levels 
of tranquillity is also noted. 
 
No Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been provided for consideration at this stage, 
although it is noted that the appearance, scale, landscaping and layout of the development are all 
matters to be reserved for submission at a later stage.  Notwithstanding this, the indicative site layout 
demonstrates that the quantum of development sought through within the application could be 
accommodated on the site with the retention of much of the area to the west of the access road 
(existing and proposed) being retained as open space.   
 
The western half of the application site is largely flat, with overgrown shrubs and large areas of 
concrete foundations from previous industrial buildings which were on the site.  The eastern half of 
the site slopes up steeply, west to east.  The submitted site survey plan indicates an elevation gain of 
around 11 metres from the existing access road to the eastern boundary of the site.  As existing, clear 
views of the site are able to be gained from the Tarka Trail immediately to the west which occupies an 
elevated position relative to the western section of the site.  In addition, views can be gained from the 
northern entrance to the site along the access road and from the recent development to the north-east 
and east which is located significantly above the application site.  The existing boundaries of the site 
are not clearly marked other than by the Tarka Trail to the west and a bank to the eastern boundary.  
The site therefore has an open aspect within the surrounding landscape although is seen within the 
context of the industrial scale buildings to both the north and south of the application site.   
 
It is considered that this site is capable of accommodating residential development, without having a 
harmful affect on the character and appearance of the surrounding landscape.   
  
The scale and design of the proposed dwellings as well as their final siting would be secured via a 
subsequent Reserved Matters Application following any grant of planning permission.  It is not 
therefore possible to comment on these details at this outline stage. 
 
Policy DM04 of the Local Plan outlines the design principles sought in relation to development 
proposals and notes that these should be appropriate and sympathetic to their setting in terms of 
scale, density, massing, height, layout appearance, fenestration, materials and their relationship to 
buildings and landscape features in the local neighbourhood.  Policy DM04 also notes at section (2) 
that all major residential proposals will be expected to be supported by a Building for Life 12 
assessment. 
 
As noted above, all matters of design, layout, appearance and scale of the proposed development 
would be assessed at the reserved matters stage and are not for consideration as part of this outline 
application. As a result of the nature of the application, it is not considered that a Building for Life 
assessment could be completed in any detail at this stage and therefore will be for assessment at the 
Reserved Matters stage when the details of the appearance and layout of the scheme will be 
provided.   
 
Policy ST17 of the Local Plan seeks the provision of a balanced local housing market noting that the 
scale and mix of dwellings, in terms of dwelling numbers, type, size and tenure provided through 
development proposals should reflect local housing needs, taking account of site character and 
context as well as development viability.  The Council’s Housing and Economic Needs Assessment 
(HEDNA), which forms part of the evidence base for the Local Plan, identified that the long term 

Page 73



demographic for Torridge District would require the provision of 5-10% of market dwellings as 1 bed 
units, 30-35% as 2 bed units, 40-45% as 3 bed units and 15-20% as 4+ bedroom units.   
 
Whilst this application is only at outline with no details of the precise housing numbers, mix or tenure 
being submitted, the Council would seek to secure the mix of housing at this stage via a condition as 
part of any permission granted to ensure that any future Reserved Matters application reflects the 
housing needs of the District.   
 
The Council's former Tree and Landscape Officer has commented on the proposed development 
noting that a Tree Constraints Survey and Plan have been provided in support of the application 
which demonstrates that the site is surrounded by neglected hedgerows with some larger trees and 
the tree quality across the site is generally poor to moderate, with a lot of scrub and self-seeded tree 
saplings.  The Tree and Landscaping Officer confirmed that the trees should not be a constraint to the 
development of the site however highlights the needs of hedgerows and trees to be retained in places 
for screening, particularly along the Tarka Trail.  The Tree and Landscape Officer raised no objections 
to the proposed development, subject to a number of conditions including those seeking landscaping 
details and the provision of an Arboricultural Impact Assessment for the development together with 
tree protection measures.   
 
Taking into consideration the character of the surrounding area to the application site, together with 
the nature of the proposed development and the outline stage of the proposals, a harmful impact on 
the surrounding landscape and character is considered to result from the proposed residential 
development.  This conclusion notes the conditions relating to landscaping and tree protection 
measures outlined above. 
 
4. Impact on Heritage Assets: 
Policy ST15 seeks to conserve heritage assets noting that great weight will be given to the desirability 
of preserving and enhancing northern Devon’s historic environment.  Policy DM07 provides more 
specific policy guidance in relation to heritage assets, stating: ‘Proposals which conserve and 
enhance heritage assets and their settings will be supported.  Where there is unavoidable harm to 
heritage assets and their settings, proposals will only be supported where the harm is minimised as 
far as possible, and an acceptable balance between harm and benefit can be achieved in line with the 
national policy tests, giving great weight to the conservation of heritage assets’. 
 
A Historic Environment Impact Assessment has been submitted in support of the application and this 
concludes that the site has three previous historic records either wholly or partially within the 
application site; a former medieval shoreline to the River Torridge, a post-medieval limekiln and the 
possible site of a 1915 acetone factory.  The Assessment concludes that there is no upstanding 
evidence remaining for the two former records with their significance and archaeological potential 
being currently unknown.  With respect to the 1915 acetone factory it is considered that the probable 
foundations and associated surfaces of a small part of the former factory survive within the application 
area however are considered to be of negligible significance.   
 
The submitted Assessment provided conclusions with respect to the archaeological potential for the 
site and this is deemed to be either low or very low.  In relation to surrounding historic assets 
including nearby listed buildings and structures and conservation areas, the Assessment considers 
that the development would not harm elements of the setting of these assets contributing to their 
significance. 
 
The Council’s Conservation Officer has commented on the submitted plans noting that the Historic 
Environment Impact Assessment submitted meets the requirements of national policy providing an 
evaluation of the heritage assets surrounding the site and the impact of the proposals on their 
significance.  The Conservation Officer accepts the findings of the Assessment and has raised no 
specific objections to the proposed development. 
 
Historic England have commented on the submitted plans noting that due to the outline nature of the 
application the final impact of the development remains unknown and will be for further assessment at 
the Reserved Matters stage and appropriate mitigation can be considered at this stage.  Historic 

Page 74



England further notes that works for the remediation of any contaminated land on the site should be 
undertaken in parallel with archaeological investigations to ensure that duplication of works does not 
occur and the preservation of archaeological remains is retained.  In addition, the importance of the 
County Council’s Archaeologist and their recommendations is highlighted. 
 
The County Council’s Archaeologist has also commented on the submitted scheme noting that 
quantities of 18th Century sgraffito pottery have been recovered from an area in the immediate vicinity 
of the application site and it is not known whether this relates to a kiln site itself or an area in which 
material waste from a nearby kiln site has been dumped.  The importance of the pottery industry in 
Bideford is noted, specifically with three potteries in East-The-Water, one of which is un-located and it 
is possible that the material recovered in the vicinity of the site may be associated with the un-located 
pottery.  As a result, the County Council’s Archaeologist considers that the construction of the 
proposed development may have the potential to impact upon significant heritage assets associated 
with the historic pottery production industry in the area.  The County Council’s Archaeologist has 
therefore recommended the inclusion of two conditions, one requiring the submission of a written 
scheme of investigation and the other ensuring that the archaeological investigations are undertaken 
in advance of and the layout in any future Reserved Matters application.   
 
Taking into consideration the outline nature of the proposed development and the conditions 
recommended above, the proposed development is not considered to result in a harmful impact on 
surrounding heritage assets and would be in keeping with the provisions of Policies ST15 and DM07 
of the Local Plan. 
 
5. Impact on Residential Amenities: 
Policy DM01 of the Local Plan notes that development proposals will be supported where they would 
not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses or future occupants or 
uses.  In addition, Policy DM02 highlights that development proposals will be supported where they 
would not result in unacceptable impacts to atmospheric or water pollution, noise & vibration and light 
pollution.   
 
To the north of the application site are commercial uses, with those closest being Jewsons with its 
associated yard to the north-west and the Western Power Depot to the north-east.  The existing 
buildings associated with both of these uses are set away from the northern boundary of the site and 
the proposed development of the application site for residential purposes is not considered to result in 
a harmful impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers to the north.   
 
The Tarka Trail and River Torridge are located to the west of the application site.  To the east of the 
application site is an open agricultural field. 
 
To the south of the application site are residential dwellings at Nuttaberry Bungalows which include a 
residential curtilage which extends up to the southern boundary of the application site.  Due to the 
outline nature of the application, the relationship of these nearest neighbouring residential properties 
cannot be fully assessed at this time but will be able to considered in detail at the Reserved Matters 
stage.   
 
To the south-west of the application site is the Kynoch Industrial Estate which included Jamestan 
Engineering closest to the application site.  These neighbouring commercial uses are located at a 
distance from the southern boundary of the site.   
 
The proposed development is therefore not considered to result in an adverse impact on the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers and uses. 
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has commented on the submitted proposals and 
raised no objection to the proposals although initially requested further information on the acoustic 
impacts of the adjacent electricity transformers to the north of the site.   
 
With respect to contaminated land, the submitted Contaminated Land Assessment confirms that the 
site does not have significant contamination within the soil samples taken whilst there may be 

Page 75



localised contamination within some of the made ground and eater.  The Assessment concludes that 
the area identified indicatively as public open space would not result in any risk to public users from 
exposure to contamination in the made ground.  Additionally, the risk to the public from asbestos on 
the site is considered to be low to moderate and the risk to surface and groundwater in the area is 
also considered to be low.   
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has reviewed the contaminated land assessment and 
recommended the inclusion of a contaminated land condition as part of any permission granted given 
the time which has elapsed since the Assessment was undertaken and to cover the discovery of any 
unforeseen contaminants during the construction phase. 
 
Concerns have been raised about the potential for noise from the commercial uses to the north and 
south of the site to result in an adverse impact on the amenities of future residents of the 
development.  Whilst no details of the proposed site layout are available for assessment at this outline 
stage, it is considered likely that noise mitigation measures would be required to be installed to 
ensure that an adverse impact does not result from existing commercial uses.  It is however noted 
that the existing commercial uses are largely restricted to normal daytime working hours.  The 
potential impacts of the electricity transformers located within the Western Power Depot are also 
noted as these produce low frequency noise which is capable of being audible over considerable 
distances.   
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer does not however consider that the surrounding 
commercial uses should not have a significant adverse noise impact on the residential amenity of the 
proposed development.   
 
The Environmental Protection Officer has also given consideration to the likely impacts of the 
construction phase on surrounding occupants and recommended the inclusion of a condition to 
ensure the provision of a Construction Management Plan in advance of the commencement of works 
and a further condition to restrict construction working hours.   
 
A further Acoustic Addendum report was submitted by the applicant in response to the queries raised 
by the Environmental Protection Officer which confirms that there are no new commercial neighbours 
to the application site since the last assessment was undertaken (i.e. no new noise sources for 
consideration) and an assessment of the noise emitted by the electricity transformers has been 
carried out.  This confirms that this is a noise source which presents a potential adverse impact for 
residents who may have bedroom windows to the first and second floor overlooking the substation 
although notes that this is best resolved at the detailed design stage to ensure that bedroom windows 
are not oriented to the north with other non-habitable rooms facing to the north. 
 
The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has commented on these additional details, 
confirming that a site visit has been undertaken and the noise levels from the electricity transformers 
would have a significant adverse impact on dwellings located to the north of the application site 
(indicatively identified as plots 10-16 on the submitted illustrative plan).  The Environmental Protection 
Officer, noting the outline nature of the application has recommended the inclusion of a condition as 
part of any permission granted to ensure that details of noise mitigation measures are submitted and 
approved prior to the commencement of development.   
 
Taking into consideration the relationship of the application site to neighbouring occupiers, their uses 
and the outline nature of the proposed development, it is not considered that a harmful impact on 
neighbouring or future occupants will result, subject to the recommended conditions set out above.  
The proposal is considered to be in keeping with the provisions of Policies DM01 and DM02 of the 
Local Plan. 
 
6. Access, Parking and Car Park: 
Policy ST10 of the Local Plan sets out the strategic priorities in terms of transport and seeks to meet 
the needs of local communities and visitors to the area by providing transport infrastructure that 
facilitates the delivery of housing and economic regeneration.  Further, Policy ST10 promotes the 

Page 76



development of quality strategic recreational routes and local pedestrian, cycle and bridleway 
networks and interchanges for transfer between modes of transport.   
 
Policy DM05 states that all development must ensure safe and well designed vehicular access and 
egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highway users 
including cyclists and pedestrians. Policy DM06 relates more specifically to parking provision noting 
that development proposals will be expected to provide an appropriate range and scale of parking 
provision to meet anticipated needs, noting the accessibility and sustainability of the site, the 
availability of public transport and the provision of safe walking and cycling routes.   
 
The submitted plan (0812 01 Rev G) sets out the proposed highway works which relate to the area 
along Torrington Street from its junction with Torrington Lane in the north through to the application 
site boundary.  These include the provision of a footpath of 1.8 metres in width to only one side of the 
road along the majority of this section of Torrington Street, with the resulting widening of the 
carriageway for vehicles to a minimum of 5.1 metres and a maximum of 6.5 metres.  The road width 
will be 6 metres under the bridge of the Tarka Trail and then 5.5 metres in width extending south into 
the application site.  The access through the site itself will remain relatively unaltered as a result of the 
development, retaining access to addresses further to the south.   
 
A Transport Assessment has been submitted in support of the proposed development which 
concludes that the application site is considered to be in a sustainable location due to its proximity to 
public transport and cycling routes, as well as the facilities and services within East-The-Water and 
Bideford itself.  Further the Assessment considers that the proposed development will result in a 
minimal increase in traffic which in unlikely to result in a noticeable effect on the surrounding road 
junctions.   
 
The County Council’s Highways Officer has commented on the submitted plans and confirms that 
discussions have been undertaken with the applicant to find an acceptable solution to the vehicular 
and pedestrian access into the site.  The Highways Officer makes clear that Torrington Street and 
Nuttaberry Hill to the north of the application site are public highway, however the access south from 
the junction of thwse two roads is not public highway with the yard area by Jewsons and beyond into 
the site proper are private roads.   
 
The Highways Officer has noted that the proposed highway works will ensure a minimum 5.5 metres 
width road from the proposal to the public highway.  Pedestrian and cycle access is confirmed to be 
via new ramps up to the Tarka Trail from Torrington Street and back down to the area near Jewsons 
or onward on the Tarka Trail for access to the housing.  Pedestrians can also continue to use the 
existing access into the site although this would not have a designated footway.   
 
The County Council’s Highways Officer has confirmed that the proposed highway alterations and 
access arrangements have been subject to a stage 1 road safety audit and will continue to be subject 
to further design and review (with stage 2, 3 and 4 road safety audits as appropriate if the 
development proceeds).  The Highways Officer further confirms that the traffic impacts of the site are 
considered acceptable subject to the works on Torrington Street being carried out before the 
occupation of any proposed dwelling and subject to a financial contribution towards off-site highway 
works.   
 
In addition, the Highway Officer has confirmed that the County Council would not wish to own or 
operate the proposed public car park within the site, unless a significant commuted sum is provided 
for its further maintenance.  No objection is raised to the proposed development by the County 
Council’s Highways Officer, subject to a number of conditions including those requiring further 
highway design details and a construction traffic management plan to be submitted for consideration 
prior to the commencement of development. 
 
The proposed development, subject to the proposed works to the access and Torrington Street and 
the conditions recommended, is considered to provide a safe and well designed vehicular access and 
egress.  The proposed development is not considered by the Highway Authority to result in an 
adverse impact on the surrounding highway network and the proposed highway works would meet 

Page 77



road safety requirements.  The proposals would include the provision of a public car park within the 
site for users of the Tarka Trail to further assist in promoting cycle and pedestrian alternatives to the 
private car.  This facility would be secured via a Section 106 as part of any permission granted for the 
site, with details of the proposed facility to be submitted as part of the first Reserved Matters 
application for the development.   
 
On this basis, the proposed development is considered to be in keeping with the provisions of Policies 
ST10, DM05 and DM06 of the Local Plan.   
 
7. Drainage: 
The western side of the site, up to the access road is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3.  The 
remainder of the site is located within Flood Zone 1. 
 
The applicant has submitted an updated Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) dated 2019 which directly 
responds to concerns raised by the Environment Agency in their 2019 comments and previous 
comments from the County Council’s Flood Risk Engineers.  The FRA confirms that the proposed 
dwellings would all be located within Flood Zone 1 and would remain free from flooding during a 1 in 
1000 year flood event plus an allowance for climate change (0.1% annual exceedance probability).  
This relates to the risk of fluvial flooding from the Nuttaberry Stream which flows east-west across the 
northern most part of the application site.   
 
A separate assessment has been undertaken in relation to the risk of tidal flooding which shows this 
would extend to the northern and western parts of the site, including the access road and four of the 
proposed dwellings shown on the indicative site plan to the north-western corner of the development. 
Taking into account the predicted sea level rise over the next 100 years, the proposed ground levels 
for these four dwellings would need to be set above the likely tidal flooding level for a 1 in 500 year 
flooding event  with a 300 freeboard to account for wave action, as requested by the Environment 
Agency.  The precise levels associated with these dwellings as well as those to the remainder of the 
development would be confirmed and fixed at the Reserved Matters stage.  In addition, a condition 
requiring detailed levels information could be included as part of any outline permission granted. 
 
The amended FRA also notes the need for an unimpeded access and egress to the site during a flood 
event.  The modelling of a 1 in 500 year tidal flooding event would result in the main vehicular access 
into the site from Torrington Street being affected and alternatives for access to the site and the 
potential to warn residents are all discussed in the updated FRA. 
 
In addition, the applicants have confirmed that access will be retained to the Environment Agency 
trash screen which is within the northern part of the site. 
 
Further comments have been received from the Environment Agency in relation to the updated FRA, 
raising no objections to the proposed development subject to the inclusion of two additional conditions 
which require an updated FRA to take account of the most recent flood modelling and will require 
consideration at the Reserved Matters stage once the detailed layout has been submitted.  It is 
considered reasonable to include these as part of any planning permission granted.   
 
The County Council’s Flood Risk Engineers have commented on the details of the updated 2019 FRA 
raising no objection subject to the inclusion of a condition requiring the submission of a detailed 
drainage scheme at a later date.  The comments from the Flood Risk Engineers note that the surface 
water drainage from the site will be able to discharge from the application site into the tidally 
influenced River Torridge via a pipe based drainage system to run underneath the Tarka Trail.  The 
potential for a betterment to the site via the inclusion of features such as rain gardens is noted which 
can be included within a detailed submission and required for the discharge of the recommended 
condition.  On this basis, the proposed surface water drainage system is considered to be acceptable, 
subject to the inclusion of conditions as recommended above. 
 
8. Trees: 
As noted above, the Council’s Tree and Landscape Officer has previously commented on the 
proposed development and made recommendations about the need for a robust landscaping scheme 

Page 78



for the proposed development to ensure appropriate screening.  Landscaping remains a consideration 
for the Reserved Matters stage and, as highlighted above, conditions have been recommended in 
relation to tree retention and landscaping on the site.  There are no objections to the proposed tree 
works at this outline stage, subject to these conditions and the provision of further information at the 
Reserved Matters stage. 
 
9. Ecology: 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within the North Devon and Torridge District Local Plan through Policy DM08 which 
requires new development to 'avoid adverse impacts on existing ecology features as a first principle, 
and enable net gains by designing in biodiversity features'.  
 
An updated Ecological Appraisal (dated November 2019) has been submitted in support of the 
application and confirms that the site currently comprises area of hardstanding, scrub, unmanaged, 
species poor, semi-improved grassland and tall ruderal vegetation.  The Appraisal confirms that 
Japanese knotweed has been removed from the site and regular surveys are undertaken to confirm 
its absence.  The updated walkover of the site confirms that the site remains in a similar conditions to 
that identified in 2015 however with a lack of management there has been an increase in scrub and 
ruderal encroachment into areas which were previously dominated by species-poor, semi-improved 
grassland and hardstanding. 
 
The updated Appraisal confirms that further bat surveys of the general site area as well as an 
emergence and dawn re-entry survey were undertaken to a single tree within the site, along with 
dormouse surveys, a badger survey and reptile surveys. 
 
The updated badger survey and given evidence found together with the inaccessibility of parts of the 
site, it is considered likely that badgers will utilise the site for foraging.  No badger setts were 
identified. 
 
A single ash tree in the centre of the site was identified as having the potential for a bat roost and s 
further dusk and dawn survey was undertaken which confirmed that no roosting bats were recorded 
and therefore roosting bats are considered to be absent from the tree.  This tree is identified for 
removal on the Tree Constraints Plan.  No other trees on the site were considered as having the 
potential for bat roosts. 
 
The more general bat survey of the site confirmed that bats are likely to be roosting near to the site 
and using parts of the site for foraging with commuting activity also noted.  The results of the surveys 
confirms that a total of 10 species of bats were recorded using the site and there is considered to be a 
significant level of bat activity in the area.  The highest levels of activity were recorded to the northern 
portion of the site and along the eastern and western boundaries.  All of these areas are noted to be 
retained as part of the development.   
 
The updated Appraisal concludes that the hedgebanks, trees and areas of dense scrub on the site 
have a high potential to support nesting birds. 
 
With respect to dormice, the surveys undertaken did not identify any evidence of dormice being 
present on site.   
 
Due to the proximity of the River Torridge, an assessment of the potential use of the site by otters was 
undertaken however no potential otter holts or resting locations were identified.   
 
A reptile survey was undertaken to areas of the site which represented areas of potential foraging and 
basking habitat for reptile species such as slow worms.  This survey identified a breeding population 
of slow worms, common lizards and grass snakes, in particular to the western half of the site. 
 

Page 79



The updated Ecological Appraisal provides recommendations for the construction phase of the 
development, including a precautionary approach with respect to nesting birds and bats roosting in 
the ash tree which is intended to be removed.  It is further recommended that artificial lighting is not 
used on the construction site due to its potential impact on bats and a precautionary approach to the 
removal of hedgerows during the dormouse breeding and hibernation periods.  Due to the high 
numbers of slow worms and moderate numbers of common lizards identified on the site, a Reptile 
Mitigation Strategy will be required to detail a translocation programme prior to the commencement of 
development works.  A condition to this effect could be added to any permission granted. 
 
The updated Appraisal also identities potential enhancement measures which could be included 
within the proposed development, including the planting of additional native vegetation long with 
western and northern banks of the site to provide a new habitat corridor and additional buffer areas.  
In addition, the provision of an informal grassland area within the site could provide a suitable reptile 
habitat with the addition of suitable hibernacula of log and rock piles surrounded by vegetation cover.  
The inclusion of an above ground surface water attenuation feature, should this be included within 
any reserved matters application as a betterment to the surface water drainage from the site, would 
also provide an additional enhancement to the habitats within the site.  Bat boxes are also 
recommended for inclusion within the proposed development and the restriction of external lighting, 
together with bird boxes.  Further recommendations are made to form hedgehog highways through 
proposed residential gardens.  The proposed mitigation and enhancement measures are set out in a 
table as an appendix to the updated Appraisal and these demonstrates a positive impact for protected 
species and habitat enhancement across the site.  A condition to ensure that the works are 
undertaken in accordance with these recommendations, mitigation and enhancement measures could 
be included as part of any planning permission granted. 
 
Natural England have commented on the submitted plans which initially raised concerns about the 
potential impact adverse impact of the development on overwintering birds within the Taw-Torridge 
Estuary SSSI.  Specifically the comments noted that mitigation measures would be required due to 
the increased activity on the site as part of the construction and operational phases of the 
development.  The assessment of the likely impact on the adjacent SSSI also required the submission 
of an updated acoustic assessment, as discussed above. 
 
The Acoustic Addendum dated April 2020 which was subsequently submitted includes an assessment 
of the likely noise impacts of the construction phase on the wildlife within the adjacent SSSI and 
concludes that the construction activity levels areas unlikely to be sufficient loud to impact on the sites 
for overwintering birds located within the Taw-Torridge Estuary SSSI. 
 
An updated consultation response has been sought from Natural England (dated 20th May 2020) 
following these additional details which confirms that the proposed construction works are not 
considered to disturb the Lapwing roost further upstream of the application site adjacent to the Iron 
Bridge.  However Natural England note that there is an abundant and currently undisturbed habitat on 
the eastern bank of the river closest to the development is designated as the Kynocj Foreshore Local 
Nature reserve which is suggested as being important for a number of bird species.  As a result, a 
noise management plan, including potential mitigation in the form of acoustic screening, for the 
construction phase would be required and can be secured by condition.  This would ensure that 
construction noise levels are within the background levels on the adjacent salt marsh.   
 
Taking into consideration the mitigation and enhancement measures proposed for inclusion within the 
development as set out in the Ecological Appraisal and the comments received from Natural England 
relating to the likely impacts on the adjacent SSSI, it is considered that the proposed development 
would not result in an adverse impact on protected species, subject to appropriately worded 
conditions as discussed above.  The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the provisions of 
Policies ST15 and DM08 of the Local Plan in this regard. 
 
10. Playspace: 
Policy DM10 of the Local Plan seeks the provision of new accessible green infrastructure including 
public open space within development proposals and sets out requirements within Table 13.1. 
 

Page 80



The development of the site for up to 96 dwellings, of which the number of family sized dwellings is 
unknown at this stage, a provision of 0.767ha of open space to provide allotments, amenity and 
natural green space, children’s playspace and park areas would be sought.  A review of the submitted 
indicative site layout plan illustrates that this provision can be provided on site and can be secured via 
a Section 106 agreement with the detailed design and layout being provided at the Reserved Matters 
stage. 
 
On this basis, it is considered that adequate public open space and play space would be provided 
within the site to meet the requirements of Policy DM10 of the Local Plan. 
 
11. Section 106: 
As discussed above, a Section 106 agreement will be required as part of any permission granted to 
secure the provision of 7 units of affordable housing.   
 
The viability discussions and assessments which have been undertaken have noted the other 
financial contributions which would be sought for the development in relation to education and off-site 
highways works, however for the provision of the 7 units of affordable housing on-site, this would be 
at the expense of financial contributions towards education and highways.  
 
In this particular instance, discussions have been undertaken with local Ward Members to determine 
the priority in terms of social benefits for the site and affordable housing has been identified as a 
priority in this location.  The need for affordable housing is clearly set out within the Council’s Local 
Plan and whilst the proposed development would not meet the threshold set out in Policy ST18 of the 
Local Plan, the provision of some affordable housing on site in this instance would seek to address 
some of the local affordable housing needs in the local area.   
 
As noted above, any Section 106 agreement would also seek to secure on site play and public open 
space to a total area of 0.767ha as well as the provision of a car park for users of the Tarka Trail. 
 
Conclusion: 
At this outline stage, the proposed development is considered to be in keeping with the character of 
the surrounding area and would not result in an adverse impact on protected species or the amenities 
of neighbouring occupiers, subject to conditions as identified above.  The proposed development is 
considered to provide a safe and secure access and adequate provision for open space and surface 
water drainage, subject to the relevant conditions and Section 106 agreement. 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
Subject to the applicant entering into a legal agreement covering the following matters: 

- The on-site provision of 7 affordable dwellings (of which 5 are for social rent and 2 are of an 
intermediate tenure) 

- The provision on site of 0.767ha of open space, including equipped playspace, amenity & 
natural greenspace, parks/sports/recreation provision and allotments 

- The provision of a car park for users of the Tarka Trail, in accordance with details to be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority as part of the first Reserved 
Matters application. 

 
 
 1         Approval of the details of      
 a) layout, 
 b) scale, 
 c) appearance, 

Page 81



 d)     landscaping   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

  
 (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority 

in writing before any development is commenced. 
     
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Part 2 (4) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010. 
 
 2         (i) Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
                                             
           (ii) The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last reserved matters to be approved whichever is the later.   

                                             
           Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended). 
 
 3       The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
 
 4    Prior to commencement of development, including any site clearance, groundworks or 

construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or minor works that the Local 
Planning Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to manage 
the impacts of construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the CMP shall include:           
(a) the timetable of the works; 

           (b) daily hours of construction; 
           (c) any road closure; 
           (d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 

vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 
9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 

           (e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 

           (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 

           (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 

           (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
           (i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; 
           (j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 

construction staff vehicles parking off-site; 
           (k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations; 
           (l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes and measures to 

regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
           (m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking; 
           (n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement 

of any work; 
 (o) the importation of spoil and soil on site; 
 (p) the removal/disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 

Page 82



 (q) the location and covering of stockpiles; 
 (r) control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and construction activities; dust 

suppression; 
 (s) impact assessments and associated mitigation measures in relation to noise, vibration, 

dust and lighting (assessments must be carried out by suitably qualified persons and the plan 
should demonstrate the adoption and use of best practice to reduce impacts); 

 (t) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facilities buildings; 
 (u) a point of contact (such as Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and details of how 

complaints will be addressed. 
 
 The submitted details should take into account the best practice Pollution Prevention 

Guidelines due to the proximity to the estuary environment.  The details so approved and 
subsequent amendments as shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be 
complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to ensure continuing compliance during 
the construction of the development 

                       
           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 

Planning Authority is satisfied of the impacts of the construction process prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of a detrimental impact on highway safety and the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers. 

 
5 Any proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 

sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture 
shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before their construction begins, For this purpose, 
plans and sections indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials 
and method of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
           Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 

Planning Authority is satisfied of the highway details of the development prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of a detrimental impact on highway safety and the amenities of 
neighbouring and future occupiers. 

 
6 No part of the development hereby approved shall be commenced until: 
           A) The access road has been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to base course level 

for the first 10 metres back from its junction with the private road accessing the site; 
           B) The ironwork has been set to base course level;  
           C) A site compound and car park  have been constructed in accordance with details previously 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
                       

Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the highway details of the development prior to works 
commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of a detrimental impact on highway safety and the amenities of 
neighbouring and future occupiers. 
 

7. Prior to commencement of the development, a proposed dwelling mix for the development 
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The proposed 
dwelling mix shall be in broad accordance with Table 114 of the North Devon and Torridge 
Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (2016), which requires the following: 1 bed – 5-
10%; 2 bed – 30-35%; 3 bed – 40-45%; 4 bed - 15-20%. Any deviation from this mix shall be 
justified in accordance with Policy ST17(a). The reserved matters shall come forward in 
accordance with the agreed mix. 

 

Page 83



Reason: To ensure that the housing mix across the whole of the development meets the 
identified need in the area. 

 
8 No development shall take place until the applicant has secured the implementation of a 

programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which 
has been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved 

scheme, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with the County Council is satisfied of the archaeological 
investigation works to be undertaken prior to works commencing on site. Failure to provide this 
information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the risk of the loss or destruction 
of heritage assets currently on the site.   
 

9 No reserved matters application for the development of the site shall be submitted until the 
results of the archaeological field evaluation has been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the safeguarding of areas of archaeological importance in accordance with 
Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan.   

 
10 Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that 

required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not commence 
until conditions a) to d) have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is found after 
development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing 
until condition d) has been complied with in relation to that contamination. 

 
a) Site Characterisation  

 
An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the 
planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature 
and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The 
contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a 
written report of the findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority. The report of the findings must include:  

 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  

• human health,  
• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and 

service lines and pipes,  
• adjoining land,  
• groundwaters and surface waters,  
• ecological systems,  
• archeological sites and ancient monuments;  

(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s).  
 

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.  Approval by the Local 
Planning Authority of the report submitted at this stage will confirm whether there is a need to 
undertake remediation measures under conditions b), (c) and (e) below.  

 
b) Submission of Remediation Scheme  

Page 84



 
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by 
removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural 
and historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management 
procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under 
Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land 
after remediation.  

 
c) Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme  

 
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to 
the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must 
be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.  

 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
d) Reporting of Unexpected Contamination  

 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with the requirements of condition a), and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition b), 
which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority in accordance with condition c).  

 
e) Long Term Monitoring and Maintenance  

 
Where an approved remediation scheme includes a requirement for a monitoring and 
maintenance scheme to ensure the long-term effectiveness of the proposed remediation over 
time, a report setting out monitoring and maintenance requirements must be submitted in 
writing for the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation 
objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring 
and maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11’.  

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority it satisfied of the details of any land contamination and appropriate 
remediation works to be undertaken prior to works commencing on site.  Failure to provide this 
information prior to works commencing on site could lead to risks to future users of the land 
and neighbouring land together with controlled waters, property and ecological systems.  In 
addition, the required details will ensure that the development works can be undertaken safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 

Page 85



11 Detailed noise mitigation measures in relation to the electricity transformers to the north of the 
application site shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning prior to the 
commencement of development hereby granted planning permission.  Such approved 
measure shall then be completed on site in advance of the occupation of any dwellings on the 
site.   

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the noise mitigation measures to be put in place prior to 
works commencing on site. Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on 
site could lead to an adverse impact on the amenities of future occupiers.   

 
12 Construction works shall not take place other than between 0700hrs and 1900hrs on Mondays 

to Fridays, Saturdays between 0800hrs and 1300hrs and at no time on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays. 

 
Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 

 
13 Provision, implementation and maintenance of detailed landscape proposals 

i) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works 
shall be carried out as approved. These details shall include proposed finished levels or 
contours; means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other vehicle and pedestrian access and 
circulation areas; hard surfacing materials; minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play 
equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting etc.); proposed and existing functional 
services above and below ground (e.g. drainage power, communications cables, pipelines etc. 
indicating lines, 
manholes, supports etc.); retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration, 
where relevant. 
ii) Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications (including 
cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of 
plants (noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities); implementation and 
management programme. 

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the landscaping details for the development prior to works 
commencing on site.  Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site 
could lead to the risk of the development not assimilating into the landscape and to safeguard 
the appearance and character of the area. 

 
14 No works or development shall take place until an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and 

scheme for the protection of the retained trees and hedges [BS5837: 2012 section 5.5 Tree 
protection plan (TPP) and 6.1 Arboricultural method statement (AMS)] has been agreed in 
writing with the by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall be carried out as 
approved. 

 
This scheme shall include: 
(a) a plan to a scale and level of accuracy appropriate to the proposal that shows the position, 
crown spread and Root Protection Area (RPA) of every retained tree and hedge on site and on 
neighbouring or nearby ground to the site in relation to the approved plans and particulars. 
The positions of all trees and hedges to be removed shall also be clearly indicated on this plan 
and marked with a dashed outline. 
(b) a tree survey schedule in accordance with section 4.4 of BS5837: 2012. 
(c) a tree work schedule for all the retained trees and hedges in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, 
specifying pruning and other remedial or preventative work, whether for physiological, hazard 
abatement, aesthetic or operational reasons. All tree works shall be carried out in accordance 
with British Standard 3998: 2010 Tree Work - Recommendations. 
(d) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Ground 
Protection Zones. 

Page 86



(e) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Tree Protection 
Barriers, identified separately where required for different phases of construction work (e.g. 
demolition, construction, hard landscaping). The Tree Protection Barriers must be erected 
prior to each construction phase commencing and remain in place, and undamaged for the 
duration of that phase. No works shall take place on the next phase until the Tree Protection 
Barriers are repositioned for that phase. 
(f) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the Construction 
Exclusion Zones. 
(g) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the underground 
service runs. 
(h) the details of any changes in levels or the position of any proposed excavations within 5 
metres of the Root Protection Area of any retained tree, including those on neighbouring or 
nearby ground. 
(i) the details of any special engineering required to accommodate the protection of retained 
trees, (e.g. in connection with foundations, bridging, water features, surfacing) 
(j) the details of the working methods to be employed with the demolition of buildings,  
structures and surfacing within or adjacent to the RPAs of retained trees. 
(k) the details of the working methods to be employed for the installation of drives and paths 
within the RPAs of retained trees in accordance with the principles of No-Dig construction. 
(l) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to the access for and use of 
heavy, large, difficult to manoeuvre plant (including cranes and their loads, dredging 
machinery, concrete pumps, piling rigs, etc) on site. 
(m) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to site logistics and 
storage, including an allowance for slopes, water courses and enclosures, with particular 
regard to ground compaction and phytotoxicity. 
(n) the details of the method to be employed for the stationing, use and removal of site cabins 
within any RPA. 
(o) the details of tree protection measures for the hard landscaping phase. 
(p) the timing of the various phases of the works or development in the context of the tree 
protection measures. 
(q) no retained tree, hedge or shrub shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any 
retained tree or hedge, be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the approved plans 
and particulars, without the written approval of the local planning authority. Any topping or 
lopping approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard [3998 (Tree Work)] 
(r) If any retained tree, or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree or 
hedge shall be planted at the same place and that tree or hedge shall be of such size and 
species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the local planning 
authority. 
(s) the details of the arboricultural consultant to be employed during construction works to 
supervise erection of protective barriers and to carry out site monitoring during the 
development. 

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the tree protection measures and arboricultural impacts of the 
development prior to works commencing on site.  Failure to provide this information prior to 
works commencing on site could lead to the risk of the development not assimilating into the 
landscape and to safeguard the appearance and character of the area. 

 
15 Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted a plan identifying the finished 

floor levels of all proposed dwellings together with the finished levels of the surrounding areas 
of the site, including amenity spaces to the proposed dwellings in relation to an identifiable 
datum point shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with such agreed details. 

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the levels of the development relative to surrounding sites 
prior to works commencing on site.  Failure to provide this information prior to works 

Page 87



commencing on site could lead to the risk of the development being a dominant feature, out of 
keeping with the surrounding landscape and neighbouring sites.   

 
16  Prior to the commencement of works hereby granted planning permission, a detailed Reptile 

Mitigation Strategy (as recommended within the Updated Ecological Appraisal) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall 
then be undertaken in accordance with such approved details.   

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the reptile translocation strategy on site. Failure to provide 
this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the risk of the development 
resulting in a harmful impact on protected species. 

 
17 Prior to the commencement of development hereby granted planning permission, a noise 

management plan to include mitigation measures for during the construction process shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The noise management 
plan shall be undertaken in relation to the potential noise impacts of the development works on 
the nearby saltmarsh at Kynoch Foreshore local nature reserve and should include mitigation 
measures such as acoustic screening if required. 

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the noise impacts of the development and its construction.  
Failure to provide this information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the risk of a 
detrimental impact on protected species and the adjacent Taw-Torridge Estuary SSSI. 

 
18 No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until such time as a 

revised Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority. This shall be completed in line with the latest guidance (NPPF, sea 
level rise and climate change data). 

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the flood risk to future occupants.  Failure to provide this 
information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the risk to flooding to the 
proposed development and its future users. 

 
19 Before any works start on site, the proposed ground landscaping and floor levels are agreed 

land and the access road (within the fluvial flood area) that is being raised must have the 
necessary flood compensation storage area designed and approved. This will be based on the 
values contained in the approved FRA (revision 3 March 2012   2019 addendum & DWG 0812 
rev C). 

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 
Planning Authority is satisfied of the flood risk to future occupants.  Failure to provide this 
information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the risk to flooding to the 
proposed development and its future users. 

 
20 No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Nuttaberry Estate Residential 
Development Flood Risk And Drainage Assessment Rev 3 dated March 2012 and FRA 
Addendum dated 19th July 2019 RMA/LC1972 – Nutaberry Bideford – FRA Addendum. 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from the site 
during construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption, if appropriate, and maintenance of all aspects of the proposed 
permanent surface water drainage system. 
(d) A plan clearly indicating the overland exceedance flood routing for the site. 

 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition which is imposed to ensure that the Local 

Page 88



Planning Authority is satisfied of the surface water drainage system.  Failure to provide this 
information prior to works commencing on site could lead to the risk of flooding from surface 
water runoff. 

  
21 The approved highway works to Torrington Street and the pedestrian and cycle access to the 

Tarka Trail as outlined on the approved plans, together with the Tarka Trail car park shall be 
undertaken and completed prior to the occupation of any dwelling in the development hereby 
approved.  The access to the Tarka Trail shall be hard surfaced and drained and maintained 
as such thereafter. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to provide alternative pedestrian and cycle 
routes to and from the site. 

 
22 The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with the Impacts and 

Recommendations & Conservation Action Statement set out in the Updated Ecological 
Appraisal prepared by Devon Wildlife Consultants dated November 2019. 

                       
           Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not result in a harmful impact on 

protected species or biodiversity. 
 
23      The occupation of any dwelling in an agreed phase of the development shall not take place until 

the following works have been carried out in accordance with details submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

           A) The spine road and cul-de-sac carriageway including the vehicle turning head within that 
phase shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including base 
course level, the ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, manholes and service 
crossings completed; 

           B) The spine road and cul-de-sac footways and footpaths which provide that dwelling with 
direct pedestrian routes to an existing highway maintainable at public expense have been 
constructed up to and including base course level; 

           C) The cul-de-sac visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 
           D) The street lighting for the spine road and cul-de-sac and footpaths has been erected and is 

operational; 
           E) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the dwelling by this 

permission has/have been completed; 
           F) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of the dwelling 

have been completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 
           G) The street nameplates for the spine road and cul-de-sac have been provided and erected. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure that adequate access and associated facilities are available for the traffic 

attracted to the site. 
   
 24  The development hereby approved shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with 

a phasing programme which shall previously have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority in writing. 

                       
           Reason: To ensure the proper development of the site. 
 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

                          
                          
   

0812/LONG/002    20.01.2009 
0812/LONG/001 REV 5   15.12.2010 
R1638(TCP)     31.07.2015 
0812 01 REV G    03.01.2020 
  

Page 89



Statement of Engagement 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
 
In this instance the Council required additional information following the consultation process. The 
need for additional information was addressed with the applicant and submitted for further 
consideration.  
 
The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 90



 
Committee Report – 03.09.2020 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number:  1/0460/2020/FUL 

Registration date:  9 June 2020 

Expiry date:  4 August 2020 

Applicant:  Dr B Lee  

Agent:  Collier Planning 

Case Officer:  Helen Smith 

Site Address:  Land To The West Of Hampton Park,  
Raleigh Hill,  
Bideford, 
Devon 

Proposal:  Residential development of 3 dwellings and 
associated works 

Recommendation:  Grant 

 

 
 
 
 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7c



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
The application has been called in by Cllr Leather for the following reason: 
 
‘An almost identical application has twice been refused at Plans Committee and at two appeal 
hearings.’ 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No.  Description  Status  Closed  

     

1/0095/2017/FUL Three new dwellings REF 18.05.2017 
   

1/0153/2018/FUL Three dwellings (re-
submission of 
1/0095/2017/FUL with 
amended access) 

REF 14.06.2018 

   

 
The above applications were both refused by Plans Committee against an Officer recommendation of 
approval for the following reasons: 
 
Application 1/0095/2017/FUL: 
‘The proposal represents residential development encroaching into the open countryside beyond the 
built up area of the settlement of Bideford. The principle of the proposed development, due to its siting 
within the countryside, is considered to result in an adverse impact on the surrounding landscape and 
open countryside, together with the character and appearance of the surrounding area. In the 
absence of special circumstances allowing the erection of isolated new dwellings in the countryside, 
this would be contrary to the provisions of Policies DVT2C and DVT6 of the Torridge District Local 
Plan (2004) and national policy guidance contained in paragraphs 55 and 109 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012)’; and 
 
1/0153/2018/FUL: 
‘The proposal represents residential development encroaching into the open countryside beyond the 
built up area of the settlement of Bideford. The principle of the proposed development, due to its siting 
within the countryside, is considered to result in an adverse impact on the surrounding landscape and 
open countryside, together with the character and appearance of the surrounding area, and it is not 
considered that the proposed landscaping would mitigate this impact. This would be contrary to the 
provisions of Policies DVT2C and DVT6 of the Torridge District Local Plan (2004) and national policy 
guidance contained in paragraphs 55 and 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012).’ 
 
The Applicant lodged appeals against both of these previous refusals under references 
APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 and APP/W1145/W/18/3206556, which were subsequently dismissed on 
the 8th February 2018 and 26 October 2018 respectively. The appeals were considered by two 
different Inspectors who similarly summarised the main issues as being the: ‘effect on the character 
and appearance of the area and the contribution the housing would make to the district’ 
(1/0095/2017/FUL); and ‘whether the development accords with the provisions of the relevant 
planning policies in respect of locating new housing; and the effect of the proposal on the character 
and appearance of the area’ (1/0153/2018/FUL).   
 
Copies of both appeal decisions are appended to this report and pertinent points will be referred to 
throughout, particularly in respect of landscape impact. However, for ease of reference, the 
Inspector’s conclusions were as follows: 
 
In respect of application 1/0095/2017/FUL, the Inspector concluded: 
‘The proposal would have the social and economic benefits of making a contribution to address the 
current under-supply of housing and make a contribution to the local economy. On the other hand 

Page 92



without the secured provision for the maintenance and management of the communal landscaping 
area (which also makes provision for measures to address drainage in a critical drainage area), the 
development would result in significant harm to the character of the landscape and to visual amenity. 
In these circumstances the adverse impacts identified would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits. The scheme would be contrary to the relevant policies in the Local Plan and the appeal 
is dismissed.’   
 
In light of this appeal decision, the Applicant resubmitted the application with a unilateral undertaking 
to secure the maintenance and management of the communal landscaping. The second Inspector 
concluded in respect of application 1/0153/2018/FUL: 
 
‘I have concluded above that subject to the implementation of the landscaping secured by the 
undertaking, the development would not harm the character and appearance of the area. The 
appellant has alluded to the benefits of the development which were also acknowledged by my 
colleague in the previous appeal decision. The provision of three dwellings would make a small 
contribution to the housing stock in the town with associated social and economic benefits. 
 
The evidence now before me suggests that the Council is able to demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites. This is a material difference from the previous appeal. Furthermore, the 
NDTLP makes provision to allow for sufficient dwellings in Bideford through its allocations and windfall 
allowance over the plan period. In this context the development of the appeal site would not make a 
significant contribution to the supply of housing in the plan area and therefore I afford the benefits 
limited weight.  
 
I note the references to the Framework and presumption in favour of sustainable development. The 
Framework reiterates the requirements of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 (as amended) in placing the development plan at the forefront of decision making. The 
NDTLP has been examined with regard to the revised Framework and has been found to be 
consistent with it. Although not formally yet part of the development plan, the NDTLP is capable of 
attracting substantial weight and there is nothing in the Framework to lead me to a decision contrary 
to the policies therein. This is also a material difference from the previous appeal.  
 
For the reasons given above, the development would conflict with the policies in the development 
plan and emerging policies in terms of the strategy for locating new housing. My conclusion in respect 
of the scheme’s effect on the character and appearance of the area does not overcome the harm that 
would arise from the conflict with the development plan. The benefits that would arise, and the lack of 
other identified harm, do not amount to material considerations sufficient to justify a decision contrary 
to the aforementioned policies. 
 
For the reasons identified above, and having regard to all other matters raised, the appeal should be 
dismissed.’ 
 
The above context sets a somewhat unique and complex background to this current proposal and it is 
important to note that both appeal decisions are material considerations in respect of the 
determination of this current proposal.  Put simply, the first appeal was dismissed due to there being 
no completed and signed legal agreement to secure the required landscape mitigation; the Inspector 
considered the site appropriate for residential development in principle given the lack of a five year 
housing land supply (5YHLS) at that time. The second appeal Inspector, in noting the application 
included a signed unilateral undertaking to secure the landscaping, concluded that the landscape 
harm associated with the proposal was not sufficient to refuse the application; however she concluded 
that as the Council had recently received the Inspector’s Report into the emerging Local Plan, it was 
able to demonstrate a 5YHLS and therefore she put significant weight to the fact the site was outside 
of the development boundary.  
 
 
 
 

Page 93



Site Description & Proposal 
 
The Site : 
The site lies to the north west of the Strategic Centre of Bideford, on part of the southern slopes of a 
valley and comprises the northern, lower part of a field which rises in a southerly direction. It borders 
a classified road (Class C, road 568), "Raleigh Hill" along its northern boundary. Vehicular access 
terminates along Raleigh Hill further to the North West following construction of the A39. Whilst lying 
within an undeveloped part of the countryside, it immediately adjoins the development boundary of 
Bideford which runs along its eastern boundary. Immediately to the east of the application site, and 
the field in which it is located, lies Hampton Park which consists of various detached dwellings rising 
in a southerly direction. The site falls with the Northam Ward.  
 
Immediately to the west of the site, the general character and appearance is undeveloped, open 
countryside. To the north, the land slopes downwards to the valley bottom and to where the A39 runs, 
before rising steely where the general character and appearance is of fields bounded by Devon 
hedgerows, pockets of woodland, sporadic dwellings and farmsteads.    
 
The site lies within the Kenwith Critical Drainage Area. It is not subject to any landscape designations. 
The Scheduled Monument known as Lenwood bowl barrow (NHLE 1016212) lies approximately 350  
metres to the north. 
 
The Proposal : 
The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of three, detached two storey 
dwellings, accessed off Raleigh Hill via a private estate road. The existing field access onto Raleigh 
Hill would be widened to create improved visibility. The majority of the hedgebank abutting Raleigh 
Hill would be retained, and reinforced with additional planting where necessary, as would the 
hedgerow along the western boundary. New hedgerow planting would be created along the site's 
southern and part eastern boundaries. Access would be retained to allow connectivity with the 
remainder of the field to the south. 
 
Each of the dwellings would be of a pitched roof design, with forward projection along part of each of 
the front elevations, and would have an attached double garage. They would be of an "upside" 
internal layout with bedrooms and bathrooms at ground floor levels and lounge, dining room and 
kitchen at first floor levels. External finishing materials would comprise natural slate roof, rendered 
and timber clad walls and aluminium framed windows and doors. In terms of housing mix, the 
submitted drawings show one 5-bed unit, one 4-bed unit and one 3-bed unit (albeit this unit includes a 
generous study which could be used as a bedroom).  
 
Due to the sloping nature of the site, rear garden areas to the south of the dwellings would be "linked" 
by a bridge from first floor dining rooms.  
 
The proposed dwellings would be sited so that their respective frontages would be parallel to Raleigh 
Hill. Situated between the dwellings and Raleigh Hill would be the private estate road and new 
grassland and landscaped open amenity areas.  
 
Foul and surface water drainage would be connected to the existing public foul and surface water 
sewers, which would be extended to the site entrance. 
 
The application is essentially a resubmission of previous applications 1/0095/2017/FUL and 
1/0153/2018/FUL, although there is a slight difference to application 1/0095/2017/FUL in respect of 
access.  
 
If the application is approved it would be necessary to secure a unilateral undertaking to secure the 
management and maintenance of the landscaping area via the submission and approval of a 
Maintenance Standard and the maintenance of the drainage infrastructure as shown on the drainage 
strategy.    
 

Page 94



Consultee representations: 
 
Northam Town Council:  
1/0460/2020/FUL 
Recommend that this application be REFUSED on the same grounds as our recommendation for 
1/0095/2017 and taking into account the Inspector's comments. Members are concerned that it is 
outside the Development area on the edge of a settlement. 
 
*For ease of reference, the Town Council’s comments in respect of application 1/0095/2017/FUL 
were: 
‘It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused. Under the NPPF there are three 
dimensions to sustainable development, Economic, Social & Environmental, this application is 
contrary to all of them. This site is in open countryside and outside of the current development 
boundary in the Local Plan and is contrary to DVT2C. NPPF 17.7 states there are 12 principles that 
planning should comprise; contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and 
reducing pollution. Allocations of land for development should prefer land of lesser environmental 
value, where consistent with other policies in this framework. DTV8 Landscaping at 3.121a, the 
Devon hedgebank is locally distinctive and defines local landscapes. Under this application, 10 
metres of hedgebank will be lost. This section of Raleigh Hill is prone to regular flooding, road surface 
water drainage in this area is very poor, this will be compounded with this scheme. The road giving 
access to site, by reason of its width and lack of footways, is unsuitable to accommodate the increase 
in traffic likely to be generated and the application lacks adequate visibility splays. Any additional 
traffic added to Raleigh Hill or Lenwood Road would increase the risk to pedestrians, horse riders, 
cyclists, dog walkers and drivers and on highways grounds should be refused. There is no provision 
for refuse or recyclable storage adjoining Raleigh Hill, TDC refuse vehicles will not drive onto a private 
driveway. This is a creeping form of sporadic development into open countryside which should be 
refused. A large site behind Raleigh Hill with access onto Heywood Road has planning permission for 
180 homes, there is no need for further housing development on this very restricted access road. 
Finally, the application is contrary to ENV1 Conservation Interest (1) (c) to maintain or where possible 
enhance biodiversity, the richness of wildlife habitats and the variety of natural interest.’ 
 
DCC Archaeology Section:  
I refer to the above application. The proposed development site lies in an area of archaeological 
potential with two Scheduled monuments located within 600 metres of the site, Godborough Castle to 
the south-west and a barrow to the north. Kenwith Castle, also Scheduled, is located within 900 
metres to the south-west. Further prehistoric activity is indicated by a possible barrow to the south of 
the proposed development site. The Historic Landscape Characterisation shows the site to be in an 
area of medieval enclosures based on strip fields. As such, groundworks for the construction of the 
proposed development have the potential to expose and destroy archaeological and artefactual 
deposits associated with prehistoric and later activity. 
 
The impact of development upon the archaeological resource here should be mitigated by a 
programme of archaeological work that should investigate, record and analyse the archaeological 
evidence that will otherwise be destroyed by the proposed development. 
 
The Historic Environment Team recommends that this application should be supported by the 
submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) setting out a programme of archaeological 
work to be undertaken in mitigation for the loss of heritage assets with archaeological interest. The 
WSI should be based on national standards and guidance and be approved by the Historic 
Environment Team. 
 
If a Written Scheme of Investigation is not submitted prior to determination the Historic Environment 
Team would advise, for the above reasons and in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019), that any consent your Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded 
below, based on model Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby: 

Page 95



‘No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme 
of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such other details as may be 
subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 ofthe National Planning Policy Framework (2019), that an appropriate 
record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development.' 
 
This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works are agreed and 
implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by the commencement of 
preparatory and/or construction works. 
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of a staged programme of 
archaeological works, commencing with the excavation of a series of evaluative trenches to determine 
the presence and significance of any heritage assets with archaeological interest that will be affected 
by the development. Based on the results of this initial stage of works the requirement and scope of 
any further archaeological mitigation can be determined and implemented either in advance of or 
during construction works. This archaeological mitigation work may take the form of full area 
excavation in advance of groundworks or the monitoring and recording of groundworks associated 
with the construction of the proposed development to allow for the identification, investigation and 
recording of any exposed archaeological or artefactual deposits. The results of the fieldwork and any 
post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to be presented in an appropriately detailed and 
illustrated report, and the finds and archive deposited in accordance with relevant national and 
local guidelines. 
 
I will be happy to discuss this further with you, the applicant or their agent. The Historic Environment 
Team can also provide the applicant with advice of the scope of the works required, as well as contact 
details for archaeological contractors who would be able to undertake this work. Provision of detailed 
advice to non-householder developers may incur a charge. For further information on the historic 
environment and planning, and our charging schedule please refer the applicant to: 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/development-management/. 
  
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Standing advice.  
 
South West Water:  
I refer to the above application and would advise that South West Water has no objection subject to 
surface water being managed in accordance with the submitted drainage strategy. 
  
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, the Environmental Protection Team has no objections in principle. 
 
There appears to be no detailed information on the historic use and land quality of the application site 
although it is acknowledged that the land is undeveloped. However, agricultural use can result in 
ground contamination and ground conditions that may potentially cause harm to human health. 
Having regard for the sensitive end use, it is imperative that any potential land contamination is 
identified and remediated. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection Team 
recommends the imposition of the Authority's full standard contaminated land condition. 
 
The application site neighbours an existing residential development to the east. The residential 
amenity of the existing dwellings may potentially be adversely affected from construction works if 
control measures are not in place. Should planning consent be granted, the Environmental Protection 
Team recommends a condition restricting construction works (including deliveries) to Monday to 
Friday 0700 to 1900 hours and Saturdays 0800 to 1300 hours only with no works on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays.  
 

Page 96



Historic England - Southwest Casework:  
Thank you for your letter of 18th June 2020 regarding the above application for planning permission. 
On the basis of the information available to date, we offer the following advice to assist your authority 
in determining the application. 
 
Historic England Advice 
The proposed development site lies 350m south of the Scheduled Monument known as Lenwood 
bowl barrow (NHLE 1016212). 
 
Bowl barrows are funerary monuments dating from the Late Neolithic period to the Late Bronze Age 
(2400-1500BC). Often occupying prominent locations, they are a major historic element in the modern 
landscape and their considerable variation of form and longevity as a monument type provide 
important information on the diversity of beliefs and social organisations amongst early prehistoric 
communities. 
 
Lenwood barrow is a relatively prominent landscape feature and enjoys uninterrupted views of the 
proposed development site, which is currently open fields. Whilst we recognise that this application 
has previously been dismissed at appeal we also note that the current application fails to consider the 
impact of the proposals on the historic environment in general and designated heritage assets in 
particular. 
 
NPPF 189 requires an applicant to "describe the significance of any heritage assets affected" and 
notes that "As a minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been consulted and 
the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary". The current application 
fails to address this test of NPPF. 
 
Recommendation 
Historic England has no objection to the application on heritage grounds. 
 
We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be addressed in order for 
the application to meet the requirements of paragraph 189 of NPPF. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account in determining the application. If there 
are any material changes to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact us. Please 
advise us of the decision in due course. 
  
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  16  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  6 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  6  

 
6 letters of objection have been received at the time of compiling this Committee report. The 
objections can be summarised as follows: 
 
- The site falls outside the development plan, which is set up to prevent residential encroachment into 
agricultural land. The number of residencies proposed in the development plan exceeds that required. 
There is no need for such a development outside the plan; 
- The roads in the area are narrow. Additional building to that already agreed in the plan will only 
increase the future problems that will occur because of this; 
- The proposal will result in yet further reductions in the visual amenity of the area. The area we live 
in is beautiful with a rich history. We should be taking steps to protect not destroy it. We are all 
being encouraged to take more exercise, destruction of what brings people out for exercise is 
against central government advice; 
- The increased traffic to Raleigh Hill will cause more noise, pollution and danger to pedestrians and 
cyclists due to the fact there are no pavements and it is extremely narrow in places; 
- The regular flooding of Raleigh Hill in various parts along its length would be made worse; 

Page 97



- Loss of open space and wildlife capacity; 
- It will set a precedent for further development; 
- This is the 3rd application for this site, which has been refused 4 times, twice by this 
Planning Committee and twice by the Planning Inspector, and all prior to the approved definitive 
Development Plan; 
- Planning Law requires that applications for Planning Permission must be determined in 
accordance with the Development Plan. In the Governments Planning Inspectorate report, the 
Inspector Wendy Burden stated that she was satisfied that the Council could demonstrate a healthy 
supply of housing land for 5 years. The fundamental aim of Green Belt Policy is to prevent Urban 
Sprawl, by keeping land permanently open, and to assist in safe guarding the country side from 
encroachment; 
- The Local Authority should regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in 
Green Belt, with the exception of Agriculture, Forestry, Sport, Cemeteries, Allotments, detentions or 
replacements, none of which are pertinent to this application, and therefore must be refused. 
 
Where the concerns raised relate to material planning considerations, they will be considered in the 
relevant section below.  
 
The comments made regarding this being a resubmission of a proposal that has twice been 
previously refused are noted, however, given the change in circumstances with the most recent 
appeal decision and the direction given by both appeal Inspectors, it is considered appropriate for the 
application to be reconsidered.  
 
Policy Context: 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking 
Provision); DM07 (Historic Environment); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); DM08 
(Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM10 (Green Infrastructure Provision); NOR (Northam Spatial Vision 
and Development Strategy); ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST04 
(Improving the Quality of Development); ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's 
Strategic and Main Centres); ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); 
ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST15 (Conserving Heritage 
Assets); ST17 (A Balanced Local Housing Market); ST23 (Infrastructure);  
 
Government Guidance: 
NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
Planning Considerations 
 
The main considerations with this application are: 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Design and Impact on Character and Appearance of the Area 
3. Heritage Impacts 
4. Residential Amenity 
5. Highways 
6. Ecology 
7. Foul and Surface Water Drainage 
8. Planning Obligations 
9. The Planning Balance 
 
1. Principle of Development 
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 
Section 38(6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

Page 98



accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans, and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions.   
 
The application site is located to the north west of Bideford, one of the Strategic Centres identified 
under Policy ST06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) and is considered a 
sustainable settlement with a range of amenities and facilities. The NDTLP identifies that Bideford will 
provide a focus for housing and employment development. The site does however fall within the ward of 
Northam, which is identified as a Main Centre under the same Policy. In the Main Centres, Policy 
ST06 supports appropriate levels of growth that will increase self-containment, to meet its own needs 
and those of surrounding communities, where such is sought through the local vision. Policy ST06 
states that development will be supported within the development boundaries of the sub-regional, 
strategic and main centres. The proposed housing development would be sited outside of and to the 
west of the development boundary of Bideford, albeit adjoining said development boundary, as shown 
on NDTLP Policies Map 2.  
 
As the site falls within the Northam Ward it is considered appropriate to consider NDTLP Policy NOR 
(Northam Spatial Strategy), which states: 'The three centres will continue to provide a range of 
services and facilities to meet locally generated needs and to accommodate the expanded needs of 
visitors to the area. Across Appledore, Northam and Westward Ho! a range of housing appropriate to 
local needs will be provided. Development will be supported by necessary infrastructure that will be 
delivered in a manner to minimise deficiencies against service capacity'.  Policy NOR further advises 
that the spatial vision will be delivered through: (a) ‘provision of a minimum of 1,916 dwellings to meet 
all the communities housing needs, including affordable and supported homes together with an 
expanded supply to meet the increasing needs of the area's ageing population, which will be 
supported with associated development and infrastructure on a continuous basis’.  
 
Given the sites location outside of the development boundary, the provisions of part (4) of Policy 
ST07 would be relevant; this states: '(4) In the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural 
Settlements, development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social 
needs, rural building reuse and development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location'. 
In proposing 3 open market dwellings the application proposal is in conflict with Policy ST07 and the 
Council’s Spatial Strategy for the Rural Area.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, as a result of the Burwood Appeal (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), the 
Council accepts that it cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites 
(5YHLS); with the appeal concluding that there is a supply of 4.23 years across Northern Devon. By 
virtue of not being able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (footnote 7, 
NPPF), there is a need to apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development (the 
'Presumption') (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration in determining planning 
applications for housing. 
 
Paragraph 11 (d) notes: 
 
Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, Local Planning Authorities should grant planning 
permission unless: 

 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
(National Parks, AONB, SSSI, Heritage Assets, Habitat Sites) provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 
For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not considered to be 
automatically out-of-date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 5YHLS. Whether a policy of the 
development plan is out-of-date is a matter for the decision taker, in light of their substance and 

Page 99



considering their conformity with the NPPF. As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of 
the policies are generally considered to be out-of-date for the application of the Presumption. 

 
The Presumption is set out in two parts by Paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF, however, as this proposal 
does not harm a 'protected area', the decision taker/s in this case needs to consider the NPPF's 
requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits - the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), NPPF).  
 
In addition to the 'tilted balance', some weight can be given to policy ST21 of the NDTLP which 
relates to managing the delivery of housing. In particular, ST21 (2) is relevant, which supports 
development outside of settlement limits (where completions are below 90% of the annual 
requirement). The Burwood Appeal Decision determined that ST21 (2) is currently engaged, which 
requires any proposal to be in a location, of a scale, and nature commensurate with the deficit in 
required housing (a), demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing the deficit 
in housing supply (b), be broadly consistent with the plans spatial strategy/vision along with the 
relevant settlement vision and development strategy (c), and be compliant with the remaining plan 
where relevant (d). Dealing with each of these points in turn:  
 
(a) The deficit of housing within Northern Devon is clearly substantial as a 5YHLS supply cannot 
be proven. This proposal is minor in scale, however, combined with other development, can assist in 
the contribution towards a 5YHLS. The proposal is outside of the settlement limit but well grouped 
with existing housing and the Strategic and Main Centres of Bideford and Northam are accessible. A) 
is satisfied.  
 
(b) The application is made in full which means, subject to the discharging of any pre-
commencement conditions, a developer could commence development relatively promptly. 
Nevertheless, in order to ensure that the application will contribute in a timely manner to addressing 
the deficit in housing supply, it is recommended that a shorter time condition is utilised for any 
permission, which may incentivise the landowner to develop the site in a timelier manner at the risk of 
the application lapsing. 
 
(c) This proposal adjoins the settlement boundary of Bideford (but is within the Northam Ward).  
Because of the above considerations, it is reasonable to take into account the Northam Spatial 
Strategy, rather than just considering the site as being within the countryside. As indicated above, the 
Northam Spatial Strategy is set out in policies ST06 and NOR.  
 
The assessment above recognises that the proposed site is not on allocated land and is outside of the 
settlement boundary; therefore the proposal is contrary to this element of the spatial strategy, 
however, Policy ST21 recognises that development can be acceptable outside settlement limits in a 
scenario where a lack of housing supply is present. This proposal could be said to be compliant with 
the wider principles of the local vision, as the new dwellings would assist in the supporting of local 
services, may create some employment, could result in increased public transport use (which may in 
turn lead to improvements), and thus, improve the self-sufficiency of the Main Centre. The 
development of 3 dwellings is not considered to undermine the development of the allocated sites. 
 
(d) The remaining planning considerations are discussed in the report below.    
 
Given the above, the proposal is compliant with Policy ST21, and is broadly compliant with NOR. 
Nonetheless, the proposal is contrary to ST07.  
 
The Town Council and third parties express concern that the site is outside of the development 
boundary. Due to the lack of a 5YHLS, the planning considerations will need to be weighed up within 
the planning balance with the NPPF's requirement to grant permission unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits as a material consideration.  
 
As indicated above, the application proposal has been subject to two previous appeals and, in respect 
of application 1/0095/2017/FUL, the Inspector concluded that the site was appropriate for residential 
development when the Council was unable to demonstrate a 5YHLS. 

Page 100



 
The planning considerations are set out below.  
 
2. Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area  
 
Policy ST04 of the NDTLP encourages improved design quality, and notes: development will achieve 
high quality inclusive and sustainable design to support the creation of successful, vibrant places. 
Design will be based on a clear process that analyses and responds to the characteristics of the site, 
its wider context and the surrounding area, taking full account of the principles of design found in 
Policy DM04.  
 
Policy DM04 then proceeds to detail 14 design principles which should be taken into consideration 
within any new development. The crux of DM04 requires new developments to be of high quality 
design, including being well related to their surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality 
materials, and to be sympathetic to the character and appearance of the local area.  
 
Policy DM08A is also relevant which relates to landscape impacts, and seeks to ensure that 
proposals do not cause undue landscape harm. 
 
The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of three dwellings.   
 
The Council does not currently have a Tree and Landscape Officer (TLO); however, given the 
proposal is the same as that proposed under application 1/0153/2018/FUL, the comments made by 
the Council’s previous TLO in respect of this earlier application are still considered relevant. He noted 
that there are some poor quality elm trees growing in the eastern boundary with Hampton Park, but 
these should not be affected by the proposed dwellings due to the position of the access and the 
continued access required for the remaining field. 
 
The TLO previously acknowledged the submitted landscape scheme as showing all the hedgerows 
and the elm to be retained and enhanced with further planting, including a new hedgerow along the 
southern site boundary. He further noted that no scheme for the protection of the retained hedgerow 
has been provided, but protection of retained trees and hedgerows to BS5837 is recommended in the 
Ecological Reports mitigation requirements. It is considered that it would be appropriate to also 
require retention of the existing hedgerows via a specific condition.  
 
The development would be within open country side and would sit within Landscape Character Type 
(LCT) 5B: Coastal Undulating Farmland set out within the document "Joint Landscape Character 
Assessment", adopted on 14th February 2011. The TLO commented that this character type is 
slightly diluted due to its close proximity to existing residential development and would have an 
insignificant impact on the wider LCT character and the visual impact would also be low, especially as 
all the mature hedgerows are to be retained. 
 
The TLO concluded that the special qualities, forces for change and landscape strategy show that this 
site is on the edge of the LCT and open countryside and therefore its impact on the surrounding 
countryside would be minimal. He therefore raised no objections to the previous identical application 
and welcomed the inclusion of a legal agreement to secure the management and maintenance of the 
landscaping area. 
 
Notwithstanding the previous position of the TLO, a key element of Members’ refusal reasons for the 
previous applications was that the ‘the proposed development, due to its siting within the countryside, 
is considered to result in an adverse impact on the surrounding landscape and open countryside, 
together with the character and appearance of the surrounding area’. Consistent with this, the Appeal 
Inspectors considered the main issues being: ‘the effect on the character and appearance of the area 
and the contribution the housing would make to the district’. 
 
The first Appeal Inspector noted that ‘the visual impact would be partly mitigated by the retention of 
the existing vegetation which would be supplemented by additional planting, crucial at the western 
end where the current planting is less dense. However there is no legal mechanism provided by the 

Page 101



appellant to secure the future management and maintenance of the communal area and without it the 
site would be very prominent in views across the valley resulting in visual harm to the appearance of 
the site in the wider landscape’. The Inspector further advised that ‘a planning obligation is necessary 
to secure this requirement and without one I cannot be satisfied how the management and 
maintenance of this space would be secured and legally binding’.  
 
In respect of landscape matters, the Inspector in respect of the second appeal concluded: ‘The 
appellant has submitted a legal undertaking with this appeal which secures the management and 
maintenance of the proposed landscaping area in the long term. I am satisfied that this would ensure 
that the visual impacts of the development would be appropriately mitigated in views across the 
valley. Therefore, as the appeal proposal is ostensibly the same as that previously considered and 
none of the surrounding characteristics have changed since that time, I find that the appeal proposal 
would not harm the character and appearance of the area. In this regard, the proposal would comply 
with policies DV2C and DVT6 of the TDLP which ensure that new development does not detract from 
the character and appearance of an area. 
 
Whilst the proposed development would extend beyond the existing limits of the town and onto a 
greenfield site, it would be in close proximity to existing properties to the east. Due to the topography 
of the site, the development would be seen in the wider landscape and visible from certain locations 
on the opposite side of the valley to the north, as well as from the more immediate view from Raleigh 
Hill. Notwithstanding this, it is considered that the site can be developed without having a significant 
adverse impact on this part of Bideford/Northam with no adverse landscape impact and visual impacts 
restricted to local viewpoints. The topography and proposed landscaping scheme including boundary 
treatments and vegetation growth along the perimeter of the site would enable the site to be 
developed in an acceptable manner, subject to appropriate landscaping and lighting conditions and 
the securing of the landscape mitigation and its ongoing management via a legal agreement.  
 
The proposed design, scale and appearance of the new houses are considered acceptable and not 
out of keeping with the general design context within the locality. The proposed development is 
considered to be in keeping with the character and appearance of the surrounding area and would be 
seen in context with the surrounding landscape, notwithstanding the removal of a section of hedgerow 
fronting the site to allow improved visibility.  
  
NDTLP Policy ST17 states that ‘the scale and mix of dwellings, in terms of dwelling numbers, type, 
size and tenure provided through development proposals should reflect identified local housing 
needs, subject to consideration of: (a) site character and context; and (b) development viability’. 
Supporting Paragraph 7.13 requires the housing mix to be provided by an individual development 
proposal to have regard to relevant up-to-date and robust evidence. Paragraph 7.13A indicates that 
Policy ST17 recognises that ‘the character and context of an individual development site may 
influence or constrain the types of residential development that are appropriate in individual 
circumstances’. The Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HEDNA) for Torridge and North 
Devon Councils undertaken by GL Hearn and dated May 2016, concludes based on the evidence, 
that it is expected for the focus of new market housing provision to be on two and three-bed 
properties. Continued demand for family housing can be expected from newly forming households. 
There may also be some demand for medium-sized properties (2- and 3-beds) from older households 
downsizing and looking to release equity in existing homes, but still retain flexibility for friends and 
family to come and stay. The HEDNA sets the following required housing mix on development sites: 
 

• 1 bed = 15% 
• 2 bed = 35% 
• 3 bed = 35% 
• 4 bed = 15% 

 
The application proposes three dwellings broken down as one 5-bedroom, one 4-bedroom and one 3-
bedroom dwelling. There is limited scope for mix to be negotiated to reflect the HEDNA on 
developments of this scale and given the previous acceptance of the proposed design by two appeal 

Page 102



inspectors it is not considered that an objection could be sustained in respect of housing mix and 
Policy ST17.   
 
Taking account of the above, it is considered that the impact of the proposal on the character and 
appearance of the area would be acceptable causing limited harm and that it is of an appropriate 
layout and design, subject to the landscape mitigation being secured. The proposal therefore satisfies 
the policies of relevance set out above, subject to the securing of a unilateral agreement to secure 
and maintain the required landscape mitigation. 
 
3. Heritage Impacts 
NDTLP Policy ST15 advises that ‘great weight will be given to the desirability of preserving and 
enhancing northern Devon’s historic environment.’ Policy DM07 requires all proposals affecting 
heritage assets to be accompanied by sufficient information, in the form of a Heritage Statement, to 
enable the impact of the proposal on the significance of the heritage asset and its setting to be 
properly assessed. Part (2) of Policy DM07 advises: ‘proposals which conserve and enhance heritage 
assets and their settings will be supported. Where there is unavoidable harm to heritage assets and 
their settings, proposals will only be supported where the harm is minimised as far as possible, and 
an acceptable balance between harm and benefit can be achieved in line with the national policy 
tests, giving great weight to the conservation of heritage assets.’  
 
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires that ‘where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use.’  Paragraph 193 states ‘when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation 
(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether 
any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance.’ 
 
Devon County Council’s Historic Environment Team (HET) has commented on the application and 
advised that the proposed development site lies in an area of archaeological potential and that the 
Historic Landscape Characterisation shows the site to be in an area of medieval enclosures based on 
strip fields. As such, the HET notes that groundworks for the construction of the proposed 
development have the potential to expose and destroy archaeological and artefactual deposits 
associated with prehistoric and later activity. Given this, the HET recommends that the impact of 
development upon the archaeological resource here should be mitigated by a programme of 
archaeological work that should investigate, record and analyse the archaeological evidence that will 
otherwise be destroyed by the proposed development. 
 
Historic England has also commented on the application and identifies the proximity of Lenwood 
barrow, which they describe as a relatively prominent landscape feature enjoying uninterrupted views 
of the proposed development site, which is currently open fields. Whilst they recognise that this 
application has previously been dismissed at appeal, they also note that the current application fails to 
consider the impact of the proposal on the historic environment in general and designated heritage 
assets in particular.  
 
NPPF Paragraph 189 requires an applicant to "describe the significance of any heritage assets 
affected" and notes that "as a minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been 
consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary". 
 
Historic England is raising no objection to the application on heritage grounds however, given their 
comments, the Applicant was asked to provide further information to ensure compliance with NPPF 
Paragraph 189. Their further submission summarised the historic record for Lenwood barrow and its 
significance, concluding that ‘in light of the Scheduled Monument being located 350m from the site 
together with the proposed landscaping which will mitigate the visual impact of the development, 
the proposed development is considered to cause no harm to the Monument. In addition, 

Page 103



planning permission would be subject to a condition requiring an archaeological investigation to 
be undertaken in accordance with paragraph 189 of the NPPF.’   
 
Given the above, and with the securing of a condition to require archaeological investigations along 
with a legal agreement to secure ongoing maintenance of the required landscape mitigation, the 
proposal is considered to comply with the policies of the NDTLP that deal with heritage and the 
relevant paragraphs of the NPPF.   
  
4. Residential Amenity 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, development will be 
supported where: 
 
a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and 
b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing 
or allocated uses.  
 
Policy DM04 (i) seeks for development to ‘ensure the amenities of existing and future neighbouring 
occupiers are safeguarded.’ 
 
In addition, Policy DM02 of the NDTLP relates to Environmental Protection and seeks to ensure that 
development proposals will have an acceptable impact having regards to Hazards and Pollution.  
 
One of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. As detailed in the representation 
section objection comments have been submitted in terms of impact on privacy and amenity etc.  
 
In terms of noise, it is considered that a residential development of three dwellings would not be likely 
to result in the generation of significant levels of noise. It is noted that the construction phase would 
have the potential to have an adverse impact in respect of amenity; however, this would be for a 
limited time only. In addition, it is recommended that a condition be attached to any forthcoming 
planning permission to limit the hours of construction, as requested by the Environmental Protection 
Officer who is raising no objections to the proposal.   
 
The site is in the open countryside, albeit bordering the Hampton Park residential estate on its eastern 
boundary. However, the nearest dwellings in Hampton Park facing the application site are between 29 
metres and 37 metres from Plot 1. Any direct overlooking of the rear amenity/garden space serving 
Plot 1 would be minimal. In addition, Plot 1's dwelling would have no side windows in its gable, 
eastern wall, thereby ensuring there would be no unacceptable adverse impact on the amenities of 
existing residential property. Having regard to the siting, heights and design of the proposed 
development, there would be no significant unacceptable detriment caused to neighbouring properties 
by overlooking, loss of privacy, loss of sunlight/daylight, dominance and overshadowing. 
 
There are no other issues relating to the proposal that would be expected to adversely affect the 
amenities of the existing residents of the nearby residential properties, or the future residents of the 
proposed development.  It is therefore considered that the proposal accords with Policies DM01, 
DM02 and DM04 of the NDTLP. 
 
5. Highways  
Policy ST10 of the NDTLP relates to the districts Transport Strategy, and seeks to reduce the need to 
travel by car. It is considered that any occupants of open market housing are likely to have a reliance 
on private motor vehicles; however, this would often be the case for development within Torridge, 
especially outside of the strategic settlements. Therefore, whilst some harm can be attributed to the 
proposal in this respect, it is only minor given the site abuts a local centre which has a range of 
services and facilities affording it a relatively high degree of sustainability.  
 

Page 104



Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.  
 
Policy DM05 of the NDTLP relates to highways, and notes: 
 
(1) All development must ensure safe and designed vehicular access and egress, adequate parking 
and layouts which consider the needs and accessibility of all highways users including cyclists and 
pedestrians. 

 
(2) All development shall protect and enhance existing public rights of way, footpaths, cycleways and 
bridleways and facilitate improvements to existing or provide new connections to these routes where 
practical to do so. 

 
Policy DM06 of the NDTLP is also relevant which requires development to provide suitable parking 
provision.  
 
Objections have been submitted in respect of the impact of the development on the highway network 
and in respect of pedestrian safety. 
 
The application proposes access onto the lane (Raleigh Hill) which runs along the north of the site. 
Each dwelling would be provided with a double garage with parking in front of that garage. Devon 
County Council as Highways Authority refers to "standing advice" in their comments on this proposal. 
With regard to the standing advice, it is considered that a safe and suitable access can be created 
onto this highway and adequate on-site parking facilities would be provided to serve the development.  
 
Whilst the objections from third parties relating to highways issues are noted, it is not considered that 
a highway objection can be sustained for this application. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that 
development should only be refused on transport grounds if there would be unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe. This proposal 
for three dwellings would not result in a severe impact on the local highway network and the access is 
considered to be safe and suitable.  
 
Accordingly, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP. 
 
6. Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced within the NDTLP through Policies DM08 and ST14 which states that development 
proposals should conserve and, where possible, enhance biodiversity interests.  
  
The applicant has submitted an Ecological Appraisal in support of the proposed development, which 
is as per that submitted with the previous applications. Given the time that has passed, the Applicant 
has also provided an updated ecological walkover survey, which was undertaken in May 2020. The 
updated Ecological Appraisal notes that given the habitats are largely consistent with those identified 
within the 2017 appraisal; the assemblage of protected species on site is also likely to have remained 
unchanged. Therefore, the update advises that the avoidance, mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement measures detailed in Section 6 of the original Appraisal remain valid for the purposes of 
the current application.    
 
The original Appraisal noted the following: 
 
a) Badgers - No setts or other evidence of badgers were recorded on the site, but the site does 
support some foraging opportunities in the form of short grassland that may support invertebrate prey 
and hedgerows that may provide fruit and berries. The proposed housing layout could provide 

Page 105



continuity of commuting habitat, with new roads being used infrequently by slow moving cars. It is 
considered that badgers would not be significantly affected during operation. 

 
b) Bats - Whilst the number of bats recorded during surveys was relatively low, a high diversity of bats 
(at least eight species) were present. Nevertheless the proposed development would likely to impact 
foraging bats. Lighting during construction and operation would have the potential to have negative 
impacts. Whilst the layout design is sensitive towards all retained hedgerow habitats, and no street 
lighting is proposed, if the design can ensure no increase in light levels on the boundaries, the 
impacts on bats would unlikely to be significantly adverse. 
 
c) Breeding birds - Boundary hedgerows provide suitable nesting habitat for common woodland and 
farmland bird species such as dunnock and song thrush. These are largely to be retained with the 
exception of small breaks for access purposes. Existing stables also provide nesting opportunities for 
swallow and other species. Overall, the proposals would result in a permanent loss of nesting habitat, 
although given the small area to be lost and the availability of other suitable nesting habitat, this is 
considered unlikely to be significant. 

 
d) Dormice - No records but the hedges around the site would offer some suitability for Dormice. In 
the absence of mitigation there is a low risk of impact to this species during the removal of hedgerow 
habitat. 

 
e) Great Crested Newts - No records and the species is unlikely to be present on the site. 

 
f) Reptiles - The majority of the field as a whole is unsuitable for reptiles as it provides little or no 
cover due to heavy grazing by horses. Nevertheless, several records for reptiles in the area include 
adder, common lizard, grass snake and slow-worm. Long term adverse impacts to the local 
population of any reptiles on the site are considered unlikely to be significant. 

 
g) Other species - There is potential to support species such as harvest mouse, hedgehog, common 
toad. 
 
Various mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures are set out in the Appraisal.  
 
In summary, the main impacts from the proposed development would be due to the removal of part of 
the northern hedgerow which may directly harm reptiles, dormice and breeding birds during 
vegetation and bank clearance. Further indirect impacts would include reducing the connectivity value 
of this hedgerow for bats and dormice. Provided the proposed avoidance and mitigation measures set 
out in the Appraisal are carried out, the proposal is considered unlikely to have significant adverse 
effects on ecology. A number of enhancement measures are recommended with the aim of providing 
a net biodiversity gain, contributing to the aims of the NPPF and local policy. This includes including 
habitat enhancement with native tree planting and wildlife-friendly grassland creation and provision of 
additional nesting and roosting opportunities for birds and bats. 
 
These proposed avoidance, mitigation and enhancement measures are recommended to be the 
subject of a planning condition to ensure that they are implemented and that the works are 
undertaken in accordance with the recommendations and mitigations set out in the Ecological 
Appraisal. A condition is also recommended requiring the submission of details in respect of any 
external lighting to be installed in order to safeguard protected and other species. In addition it is 
recommended that the applicant/developer enters into a Section 106 Agreement requiring the setting 
up of a management company in order that the management company and the applicant/developer 
will manage and maintain all boundary hedges, landscaped areas and other parts of the site as 
indicated on the submitted drawing no. 16 128 08C "Site Landscape Plan" which do not fall within 
private curtilages of the properties. This would ensure a consistency of management and 
maintenance approach, rather than such management and maintenance being carried out by the 
individual plot owners.  
 
The updated appraisal notes that since the production of the 2017 appraisal, the North Devon 
Biosphere Reserve has been designated, which the site falls within. It continues that, provided the 

Page 106



development incorporates the measures detailed in the appraisal to ensure a net gain in biodiversity, 
it should be considered sustainable from an ecological perspective.   
 
Providing the above measures are secured via a planning condition and legal agreement, it is 
considered that the application proposal will have an overall positive impact on biodiversity interests 
at the site in accordance with NDTLP Policies ST14 and DM08 and the above quoted legislation.  
 
7. Foul and Surface Water Drainage  
Policy ST03 requires that development takes account of climate change to minimise flood risk. Policy 
DM04 requires development to 'provide effective water management including Sustainable Drainage 
Systems, water efficiency measures and the reuse of rain water'.  
 
The site is not located within an area that is at risk of flooding. It does however fall within a Critical 
Drainage Area. 
 
Existing public foul and surface water sewers are to be extended to the site entrance in order that the 
proposed development can be connected to the mains system rather than being connected to any on-
site drainage system. This is in accordance with Government guidance. To control surface water run-
off into the mains system, an on-site surface storage water tank would be provided with a flow control 
chamber. 
 
The application is accompanied by a Drainage Statement, which confirms that percolation tests were 
undertaken which concluded that infiltration is not possible on this site. There is no watercourse 
available within close proximity of the site and therefore the application proposes the third option of 
the drainage hierarchy with the discharge of surface water at the required greenfield run-off rate into 
the surface water sewer.    
 
SWW has raised no objections to this application.  
 
A condition is recommended to ensure that any surface water is disposed of within the site and that it 
does not extend onto the public highway; therefore, flooding concerns expressed by third parties can 
be addressed.  
 
Taking account of the above, it is concluded that the proposal concludes with Policies ST03 and 
DM04 of the NDTLP. 
 
8. Planning Obligations 
Any shortfall in infrastructure for the proposed development should be funded by developer 
contributions in accordance with NDTLP Policy ST23 (Infrastructure), which requires development to 
provide or contribute towards the timely provision of physical, social and green infrastructure made 
necessary by the specific or cumulative impacts of those developments and where such contributions 
comply with Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 as amended.  The 
application generates the following infrastructure requirements: 
 
Public Open Space 
In respect of green infrastructure and built recreational facilities, NDTLP Policy DM10 states: 
‘Development will provide new accessible green infrastructure, including public open space and built 
facilities, to meet at least the green infrastructure quantitative and accessibility standards, as set out 
in Table 13.1 and Infrastructure Delivery Plan, to meet the needs of its intended occupants’. 
 
Based on the proposed mix of housing, the application of the provisions of Policy DM10 and 
associated Table 13.1 of the NDTLP, the Local Planning Authority’s Green Infrastructure calculator 
identifies an on-site requirement for 0.031 hectares of open space across different typologies with 
equivalent off-site contributions (including maintenance) as follows: combined amenity and natural 
green space = £4,489.12; play space child = £1,173.24; play space youth = £469.29; parks, sports 
and recreation = £12,631.98; and allotments = £539.75. Should Plans Committee resolve to approve 
this application it will be appropriate for Officers to engage with the Town Council and Ward Members 
to establish where these monies should be directed.  

Page 107



 
The above contributions, along with the required landscape and surface water maintenance, will be 
secured through a Unilateral Agreement.  
 
9. The Planning Balance 
Paragraph 2 of the NPPF states that planning law (namely Section 38(6) of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990) requires 
that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a material consideration in 
planning decisions. 
 
As discussed above, the Local Planning Authority cannot currently demonstrate a 5YHLS to meet the 
identified need within the district.  It is therefore necessary to consider whether the adverse impacts of 
the proposal would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits (the tilted balance). 
 
In this instance, the proposal would provide a contribution of 3 dwellings towards local housing supply 
on a site that is adjacent to the development boundary of a Strategic Centre/Main Centre and thus is 
a settlement that offers a range of facilities and services, as well as sustainable travel options; these 
are moderate economic and social benefits of the proposal as recognised by both appeal Inspectors. 
It would also provide a benefit to the local economy in respect of the construction of the development; 
improve the sustainability of Bideford and Northam in respect of the viability of local services and 
facilities; and deliver betterment in terms of the biodiversity value of the site.  All of these elements are 
in accordance with the three core strands of the NPPF in respect of economic, social and 
environmental benefits.  
 
Turning to the adverse impacts, as discussed earlier the highways impacts are considered to be 
acceptable, both in respect of traffic generation and the proposed access.  In addition, the impact on 
the character of the area is considered acceptable for the reasons discussed above and to cause 
limited harm on securing of the proposed landscape mitigation; the development would ensure that 
residential amenity is maintained to an adequate standard; and foul and surface water will be 
appropriately managed.  In addition, the suggested conditions would ensure that any harm is 
effectively mitigated. Your officer does however acknowledge that there is harm to be associated with 
the conflict with Policies ST06 and ST07; this harm should be afforded moderate weight. However, in 
its compliance with Policy ST21, which seeks to release sites outside of the identified development 
boundary, the conflict with Policies ST06 and ST07 is reduced.   
 
Lastly, it is noted that objections have been received in respect of the application along with a 
recommendation of refusal by the Town Council.  Whilst the issues raised have been given due 
consideration, it is considered that they should not preclude the granting of planning permission, for 
the reasons set out above.  
 
As demonstrated above, the adverse impacts associated with the development fail to significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, with the result that when assessed against the policies in the 
NDTLP and the NPPF as a whole and having considered all the planning issues, on balance, a 
recommendation for approval is made. 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 
Recommendation 

Page 108



 
GRANT subject to the conditions detailed below and the prior satisfactory completion of a  
legal agreement covering the required infrastructure set out in Section 8 above and a 
maintenance scheme for the proposed landscaping and surface water drainage. 

 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration 

of two years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
   
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                       
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3         Prior to the commencement of any development hereby granted planning permission and 

before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought onto the site for the purposes of the 
development hereby granted planning permission, details of the specification and position of 
the fencing for the protection of all boundary hedgerows (except for that section of hedgerow 
adjoining the highway to be removed for access purposes as indicated on the approved 
drawings) and any retained tree/group of trees shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be carried out as approved and the fencing 
shall be erected prior to the commencement of any of the development hereby permitted and 
shall be maintained until the development has been completed and all equipment, machinery 
and surplus materials have been removed from the site. 

                       
           Reason: To protect the boundary hedgerows and trees to be retained on this site from damage 

before and during the course of development. 
 
 4         Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved drawings, prior to construction of any of 

the dwellings hereby permitted above slab level, a schedule of materials and (colour) finishes 
and samples of materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.                    

           Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be retained and maintained in that form. 

                       
           Reason: Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved drawings, this condition is 

imposed to enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the details of all external finishing 
materials at an appropriate stage in the course of the development to ensure that the 
development displays good design practise and reflects local distinctiveness, having due 
regard to safeguarding visual and residential amenity. 

 
 5         The landscaping details indicated on drawing no. 16 128 08C hereby approved shall be 

implemented in accordance with the agreed details. The time of planting shall be submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, with the agreed scheme being delivered 
before the proposed development is brought into use and implemented at those times 
specified. If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any hedgerow (or part 
of hedgerow), meadow grassland, shrub or tree, that hedgerow (or part of hedgerow), 
meadow grassland, shrub or tree, (or any hedgerow, meadow grassland, shrub or tree planted 
in replacement for it), is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or becomes seriously damaged or 
defective, another hedge (or part hedge), meadow grassland, shrub or tree of the same 
species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.   

                       
           Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the agreed details in 

the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity. 
 

Page 109



 6         Except for that section of hedgerow to be removed for access purposes as indicated on the 
approved drawings, the existing boundary hedgerows along the northern eastern and western 
boundaries of the site shall be retained in perpetuity, and shall not at any time be removed, 
either in whole or in part.   

                       
           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and biodiversity. 
 
 7         The proposed development shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the recommended 

mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures set out in Section 6 of the submitted 
Ecological Appraisal dated January 2017 prepared by Green Ecology, together with additional 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority prior to 
occupation of any dwelling. Such additional details shall include timings of implementation and 
completion of the approved mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures and 
numbers and locations of all new bat and nest boxes. 

                       
           Reason: In the interests of the ecology and biodiversity of the site. 
 
8         Prior to occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, the vehicular access into the site, road, 

parking/garaging and manoeuvring facilities and foul and surface water drainage provision 
shall be completed and shall, thereafter, be retained and maintained in perpetuity. All garaging 
and parking spaces shall be kept permanently available for the parking of motor vehicles and 
kept permanently free from any other forms of obstruction. 

                         
            Reason: To ensure that adequate facilities are available for the traffic attracted to the site and 

to avoid flooding of land including the highway. 
 
9         There shall be no installation/construction of street lighting or lighting to public areas unless 

otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details of any external lighting 
(including security lighting/floodlighting) to be erected, placed or operated on the site 
(including on the dwellings themselves) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to its installation/construction. Such details shall include the 
equipment and supporting structures, positions, sizes, heights, type, luminance/light intensity, 
direction and cowling of all external lights to the dwellings and other parts of the application 
site and the hours at which such lighting is to be operated. The work shall thereafter be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details (unless the Local Planning Authority gives prior 
written approval to any subsequent variations) and under no circumstances shall it cause light 
pollution. 

                       
            Reason: To safeguard visual amenity in general and biodiversity interests; to safeguard the 

residential amenities of owners/occupiers of existing neighbouring properties and future 
owners/occupiers of the approved neighbouring development; and in the interests of public 
safety and convenience. 

 
10       Construction works and deliveries of construction materials and equipment to and from the site 

shall not take place other than between 0730hrs and 1800hrs on Mondays to Fridays, 
Saturdays between 0900hrs and 1300hrs and at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays. 

                       
             Reason: To protect the amenities of neighbouring properties. 
 
11         No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a 

programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such 
other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

             
           Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 

Plan 2011 - 2031 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018), that 

Page 110



an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the 
development. 

            
           This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works are 

agreed and implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by the 
commencement of preparatory and/or construction works. 

 
12        Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway. 
            
           Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway. 
 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

  

16 128 01B  09.06.2020 
   

16 128 02D  09.06.2020 
   

16 128 03A  09.06.2020 
   

16 128 04A  09.06.2020 
   

16 128 05A  09.06.2020 
   

16 128 06  09.06.2020 
   

16 128 08C  09.06.2020 
    

 
Statement of Engagement 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 38) requires local planning authorities to work 
positively and proactively with applicants to achieve sustainable development. Throughout the 
application process guidance has been given to the applicants and all outstanding issues have been 
identified. 
  
In this instance the Council required additional information in respect of heritage impacts in response 
to comments made by Historic England. The need for additional information was addressed with the 
applicant and submitted for further consideration. The Council has therefore demonstrated a positive 
and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 111



 
Temple Quay House
2 The Square
Bristol
BS1 6PN

Direct Line: 
Customer Services:
0303 444 5000

Email:  
despatch.admin@pins.gsi.gov.uk

www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Your Ref:  1/0153/2018/FUL
Our Ref:   APP/W1145/W/18/3206556

Sean Kearney
Torridge District Council
Development Control
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

26 October 2018

Dear Mr Kearney,

Town and Country Planning Act 1990
Appeal by Dr B Lee
Site Address: Land to the West of Hampton Close, Raleigh Hill, Bideford, Devon, 
EX39 3PB

I enclose a copy of our Inspector's decision on the above appeal(s), together with a copy 
of the decision on an application for an award of costs.

If you wish to learn more about how an appeal decision or related cost decision may be 
challenged, or to give feedback or raise complaint about the way we handled the appeal(s), 
you may wish to visit our “Feedback & Complaints” webpage at https://www.gov.uk/
government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure.

If you do not have internet access you may write to the Customer Quality Unit at the 
address above.  Alternatively, if you would prefer hard copies of our information on the 
right to challenge and our feedback procedure, please contact our Customer Service Team 
on 0303 444 5000.

The Planning Inspectorate is not the administering body for High Court challenges and 
cannot change or revoke the outcome of an appeal decision. If you feel there are grounds 
for challenging the decision you may consider obtaining legal advice as only the High 
Court can quash the decision. If you would like more information on the strictly enforced 
deadlines and grounds for challenge, or a copy of the forms for lodging a challenge, please 
contact the Administrative Court on 020 7947 6655.

Guidance on Awards of costs, including how the amount of costs can be settled, can be 
located following the Planning Practice Guidance.

http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-
application-for-an-award-of-costs/

We are continually seeking ways to improve the quality of service we provide to our 
customers. As part of this commitment we are seeking feedback from those who use our 

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/planning-inspectorate/about/complaints-procedure
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-application-for-an-award-of-costs/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-application-for-an-award-of-costs/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-application-for-an-award-of-costs/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/blog/guidance/appeals/how-to-make-an-application-for-an-award-of-costs/


service. It would be appreciated if you could take some time to complete this short survey, 
which should take no more than a few minutes complete:

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey

Thank you in advance for taking the time to provide us with valuable feedback.

Yours sincerely,

Kevin Plummer
Kevin Plummer

Where applicable, you can use the internet to submit documents, to see information and to check the 
progress of cases through GOV.UK. The address of the search page is - https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-
inspectorate

Page 113

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/Planning_inspectorate_customer_survey
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/appeal-planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 1 October 2018 

by Mrs Hollie Nicholls  MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  26 October 2018 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/18/3206556 

Land to the West of Hampton Close, Raleigh Hill, Bideford, Devon EX39 3PB 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Dr Ben Lee against the decision of Torridge District Council. 

 The application Ref 1/0153/2018/FUL, dated 12 February 2018, was refused by notice 

dated 14 June 2018. 

 The development proposed is residential development for three dwellings (with 

amended access). 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Application for costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Dr Ben Lee against Torridge District 
Council. This application is the subject of a separate Decision. 

Preliminary Matters  

3. On 11 September 2018, the final report detailing the inspector’s findings of the 
examination into the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP) was 

published. The inspector has determined that an adequate five year supply of 
housing land exists in the plan area and that subject to the modifications 

specified, the plan and its policies are considered to be sound. The plan is now 
expected to move forward to adoption by both Councils in the near future. On 
this basis, I can ascribe substantial weight to the policies of the NDTLP and the 

updated housing supply position.  

4. There are no issues in dispute between the appellant and the Council in relation 

to detailed design, highway access, drainage, ecology or other technical 
matters and I have considered the appeal in this context.  

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are:  

 Whether the development accords with the provisions of the relevant 

planning policies in respect of locating new housing; and  

 The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area.  

 

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/18/3206556 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Location of New Housing 

6. The appeal site lies outside of, but adjoining, the development limits of 

Bideford as defined by the inset map in the Torridge District Local Plan (TDLP) 
adopted in 2004. Neighbouring dwellings to the east are within the 
development limits. Agricultural land lies to the west and north.  

7. The settlement boundary for Bideford has been amended as part of the 
formulation of the NDTLP and should be assessed in conjunction with policy 

ST06 which defines Bideford as a strategic centre. Policy ST08 specifies the 
housing apportionment for Bideford and policy BID sets out the spatial vision 
and development strategy for the planned growth. The appeal site is excluded 

from the settlement boundary for Bideford and does not form part of an area 
allocated to receive an apportionment of housing or economic development 

over the plan period.  

8. As the site is outside of the settlement boundary, it is to be treated as being in 
the open countryside. Policy DVT2C of the TDLP and policy ST07 of the NDTLP 

contain a limited number of circumstances where development will be 
permitted in the countryside. The appeal proposal does not fall within any of 

the listed exceptions.    

9. Irrespective of the close proximity of the site to the settlement boundary for 
Bideford, it is in the countryside, outside of an area where for support for new 

residential development exists. The policies within the existing plan and the 
newly examined plan set a clear and unambiguous strategy for new housing 

development which precludes development of the appeal site.  

10. In view of the first main issue, I find that the proposal conflicts with the 
strategy for the location of new housing development set out in policy DVT2C 

of the TDLP, policies ST06 and ST07 of the emerging NDTLP and the 
Framework.  

Character and Appearance  

11. I have been referred to a decision by my colleague in connection with an 
almost identical proposal on the appeal site1. That decision acknowledged that 

the proposed dwellings would be seen against the backdrop of rising ground 
but would still be very prominent across the valley. The decision also indicated 

that the landscape planting proposed was essential to help mitigate the visual 
impacts of the development. The absence of a legal undertaking to secure the 
future management and maintenance of the communal landscaped area was 

determinative in the appeal. The appeal was dismissed in the absence of the 
legal undertaking due to the visual harm to the appearance of the site in the 

wider landscape, contrary to policies DVT2C and DVT6 of the TDLP. 

12. The appellant has submitted a legal undertaking with this appeal which secures 

the management and maintenance of the proposed landscaping area in the 
long term. I am satisfied that this would ensure that the visual impacts of the 
development would be appropriately mitigated in views across the valley.  

Therefore, as the appeal proposal is ostensibly the same as that previously 
considered and none of the surrounding characteristics have changed since that 

                                       
1 APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 

Page 115

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/18/3206556 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

time, I find that the appeal proposal would not harm the character and 

appearance of the area. In this regard, the proposal would comply with policies 
DV2C and DVT6 of the TDLP which ensure that new development does not 

detract from the character and appearance of an area.   

Other Matters  

13. The appellant has brought to my attention a number of cases and appeal 

decisions2 for schemes in other locations that relate to the issue of housing 
land supply and the weight to be attributed to the associated social and 

economic benefits. There are obvious differences between those cases and the 
appeal proposal in terms of the location, scale of development and status of the 
relevant planning policies. As such, they do not materially affect my findings on 

the main issues or the planning balance.  

Planning Balance and Conclusion 

14. I have concluded above that subject to the implementation of the landscaping 
secured by the undertaking, the development would not harm the character 
and appearance of the area. The appellant has alluded to the benefits of the 

development which were also acknowledged by my colleague in the previous 
appeal decision. The provision of three dwellings would make a small 

contribution to the housing stock in the town with associated social and 
economic benefits.  

15. The evidence now before me suggests that the Council is able to demonstrate a 

five year supply of deliverable housing sites. This is a material difference from 
the previous appeal. Furthermore, the NDTLP makes provision to allow for 

sufficient dwellings in Bideford through its allocations and windfall allowance 
over the plan period. In this context the development of the appeal site would 
not make a significant contribution to the supply of housing in the plan area 

and therefore I afford the benefits limited weight.  

16. I note the references to the Framework and presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. The Framework reiterates the requirements of 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as 
amended) in placing the development plan at the forefront of decision making. 

The NDTLP has been examined with regard to the revised Framework and has 
been found to be consistent with it. Although not formally yet part of the 

development plan, the NDTLP is capable of attracting substantial weight and 
there is nothing in the Framework to lead me to a decision contrary to the 
policies therein. This is also a material difference from the previous appeal. 

17. For the reasons given above, the development would conflict with the policies 
in the development plan and emerging policies in terms of the strategy for 

locating new housing. My conclusion in respect of the scheme’s effect on the 
character and appearance of the area does not overcome the harm that would 

arise from the conflict with the development plan. The benefits that would 
arise, and the lack of other identified harm, do not amount to material 
considerations sufficient to justify a decision contrary to the aforementioned 

policies.    

                                       
2 Suffolk Coast District Council v Hopkins Homes Ltd / Richborough Estates 

Partnership v Cheshire East Borough Council, APP/D0840/A/13/2209757 and APP/A0665/A/14/2226994 

Page 116

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/18/3206556 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

18. For the reasons identified above, and having regard to all other matters raised, 

the appeal should be dismissed. 

Hollie Nicholls 

INSPECTOR 

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Costs Decision 
Site visit made on 1 October 2018 

by Mrs Hollie Nicholls  MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  26 October 2018 

 
Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/18/3206556 

Land to the West of Hampton Close, Raleigh Hill, Bideford, Devon EX39 6PB 

 The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 

322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

 The application is made by Dr Ben Lee for a full award of costs against 

Torridge District Council. 

 The appeal was against the refusal of the Council to grant subject to conditions planning 

permission for a proposed residential development of three dwellings with amended 

access. 
 

Decision 

1. The costs award is refused. 

Reasons 

2. The Planning Practice Guidance advises that costs may be awarded against a 
party who has behaved unreasonably and thereby caused the party applying 

for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal process. 

3. Paragraph 049 of the Planning Practice Guidance states that examples of 
unreasonable behaviour by local planning authorities includes failure to produce 

evidence to substantiate each reason for refusal on appeal and vague, 
generalised or inaccurate assertions about a proposal’s impact which are 

unsupported by any objective analysis. It also indicates that local planning 
authorities are unreasonable if they persist in objections to a scheme or 
elements of a scheme which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 

previously indicated to be acceptable. 

4. The appellant states that the appeal was unnecessary as the Plans Committee 

overturned a recommendation of its officer. The officer’s view was based on a 
previous appeal decision on the site1 which found the adverse visual impacts 
capable of being partly mitigated by a legal undertaking to secure a communal 

landscaped area. No such undertaking existed at the time that the appeal 
decision was taken.  

5. The assessment of the effect of a scheme on the character and appearance of 
an area is a subjective exercise. Furthermore, in this instance, I   note that the 
Plans Committee were of the opinion that the previous appeal decision was 

open to different interpretations.  Accordingly, the Plans Committee was 
entitled to reach the decision that it did on the basis of the judgements of its 

members.  

                                       
1 APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 

Page 118

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/W1145/W/18/3206556 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. In light of the above, I do not consider that the Council failed to properly 

consider the merits of the scheme or justify its reason for refusing it. I have 
found that the Council had reasonable concerns about the impact of the 

proposed development which justified its decision and as such, the appeal 
could not have been avoided. 

7. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or 

wasted expense, as described in the Planning Practice Guidance, has not been 
demonstrated.  

Hollie Nicholls  

INSPECTOR 

Page 119

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

  
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 14 November 2017 

by Mrs J Wilson  BA BTP MRTPI DMS 

Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 8th February 2018 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 

Land to the West of Hampton Close, Raleigh Hill, Bideford EX39 3PB 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Dr Ben Lee against the decision of Torridge District Council. 

 The application Ref 1/0095/2017/FUL, dated 26 January 2017, was refused by notice 

dated 18 May 2017. 

 The development proposed is proposed residential development for 3 dwellings. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The appellant has submitted a revised drawing number 16 128 02D which 

amends the location of the access to ensure the visibility splay is within the 
appellants ownership and highway land. This makes very minor adjustments to 

the access and the interests of parties would be unlikely to be prejudiced by its 
inclusion. I am considering this appeal on the basis of its inclusion.  

3. There are no issues in dispute between the appellant and the Council in relation 

to detailed design, highways access, drainage or other technical matters and I 
have considered the appeal in this context.  The Council accepts it is unable to 

demonstrate a five year supply for the provision of housing. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is the effect on the character and appearance of the area and 

the contribution the housing would make to the district. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance  

5. The site lies outside of the development limits of Bideford on the lower part of 

a sloping field used for the keeping of horses. Dwellings would be cut into the 
slope with gardens at the same level as the upper floors and would be seen 
against the backdrop of rising ground; nonetheless they would be visible from 

across the valley. This visual impact would be partly mitigated by the retention 
of the existing vegetation which would be supplemented by additional planting, 

crucial at the western end where the current planting is less dense. However 
there is no legal mechanism provided by the appellant to secure the future 
management and maintenance of the communal area and without it the site 

Page 120

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

would be very prominent in views across the valley resulting in visual harm to 

the appearance of the site in the wider landscape.  

6. I consider that a planning obligation is necessary to secure this requirement 

and without one I cannot be satisfied how the management and maintenance 
of this space would be secured and legally binding. Planning Practice Guidance 
makes clear the circumstances when conditions can be used and would not be 

appropriate for these circumstances. 

7. For these reasons there would be harm to the character and appearance of the 

area as a result of the visual intrusion of built development into open fields 
conflicting with Policies DVT2C and DVT6 of the Torridge District Local Plan 
2004 (Local Plan) which, among other things requires that development in the 

open countryside should not detract from the character and appearance of the 
area, should maintain restore or enhance the local vernacular and sense of 

place.  

Contribution to housing and other benefits  

8. Three dwellings would make a small contribution to the housing stock in the 

district where there is a lack of a 5 year supply of land for the provision of 
housing.  There would also be an economic benefit to the local economy during 

the construction phase and in the longer term new residents would help to 
support shops and services in the town.  The benefits would be a positive 
aspect of the scheme given the acknowledged need for housing.   

9. I have taken into account representations made that there are many consented 
dwellings within the development boundary which have not been built out and 

permission on this site would be premature. In the light of the lack of a five 
year housing supply resisting the scheme for this reason would not be justified. 

Other matters 

10. The Council and local residents have expressed concern that should this appeal 
be allowed further development in the field may be difficult to resist. It is noted 

that the configuration of the turning head is arranged to enable a field gate 
access to the remaining agricultural land. However, any application for built 
development elsewhere in the field would be a matter for the Council to 

consider. In any event, I am required to make my decision on the basis of the 
evidence before me.  

11. Representations have been made concerning the detail of the scheme 
including: that surface water run off would be exacerbated where the lane is 
subject to flooding; the lack of a footpath across the front of the site; the loss 

of 10 metres of significant hedgerow; and that the scheme does not represent 
sustainable development. Whilst I understand residents’ concerns on highway 

safety there is no substantive evidence to justify withholding permission on 
highway grounds, a fact reinforced by the lack of objection from the highway 

authority.  

12. Drainage matters have been addressed with appropriate water strategies to 
deal with foul and surface water drainage a matter important in a critical 

drainage area.  There is no substantive evidence that the loss of the hedgerow 
would prejudice ecological interests. Taken individually or together these 

details matters are not reasons to dismiss the appeal. 

Page 121

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/17/3180735 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Planning Balance and Conclusion 

13. The proposal would have the social and economic benefits of making a 
contribution to address the current under-supply of housing and make a 

contribution to the local economy. On the other hand without the secured 
provision for the maintenance and management of the communal landscaping 
area (which also makes provision for measures to address drainage in a critical 

drainage area), the development would result in significant harm to the 
character of the landscape and to visual amenity.  In these circumstances the 

adverse impacts identified would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits. The scheme would be contrary to the relevant policies in the Local 
Plan and the appeal is dismissed. 

Janet Wilson 

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 122

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 
Committee Report – 3 rd September 2020 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number:  1/0398/2020/FUL 

Registration date:  25 May 2020 

Expiry date:  20 July 2020 

Applicant:  Mr John Hare  

Agent:  Mr Kenneth Frost 

Case Officer:  Ryan Steppel 

Site Address:  Bramber,  
Raleigh Hill,  
Bideford, 
Devon, 
EX39 3PB,   
 

Proposal:  Construction of 1no. Dwelling (Re-submission of 
1/0453/2019/FUL) 

Recommendation:  Grant 

Page 123

Agenda Item 7d



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
Cllr Manley called in the application if the officer were minded to approve for reasons relating to 
overlooking and amenity harm. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No.  Description  Status  Closed  

   

1/0952/2002 2 SITES FOR RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT 

REF 15.07.2002 
   

1/2361/2002 ERECTION OF A 
DWELLING 

PER 03.04.2003 
   

1/0911/1983 ERECTION OF TWO 
DWELLINGS LAND 
ADJACENT TO 
HAYWORTHY HOUSE, 
RALEIGH HILL,BIDEFORD 

REF 25.10.1983 

   

1/1072/2004/REM Construction of a house, 
garage and associated site 
works 

PER 26.10.2004 

   

1/0453/2019/FUL Construction of 1no. Dwelling 
Land at Bramber Devon 
EX39 3NY 

WDN 09.10.2019 

   

 
Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description: 
 
The application site is located within a residential part of western Bideford. The site is accessed from 
Robins Hill, a minor road subservient south of Raleigh Hill. The site is used as well-kept garden land 
in association with the property Bramber to the north. The garden is bound by hedgerow/fencing at 
the southernmost point of the site.     
 
Proposal:  
 
This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a three-bedroom dwelling. The 
dwelling comprises of a series of monopitch roofs, a juliet balcony and an internal garage. The 
proposed dwelling would have a footprint of 10m x 13.7m with a maximum height of 7.72m. The 
dwelling is to be constructed from red cedar cladding, slate, white painted render and UPVC window 
units.  
 
Consultee representations: 
 
Northam Parish/Town Council:  
1/0398/2020/FUL  
 
It was resolved to recommend that this application be refused on the grounds of severe issues of 
overlooking to neighbouring properties causing a lack of privacy (Policy DM01); also Members felt 
that the design is out of character (Policy DM04) and there does not appear to be a wildlife statement. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Standing Advice  

Page 124



 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  7  Number of letters of support:  0 
Number of representations received:  4 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  4  

 
objections - 
 
Impact on surrounding residential amenity/overlooking/overbearing  
Traffic/Highways and Parking Concerns  
Visual Amenity/Character impact and Local Distinctiveness  
 
Policy Context: 
 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
 
DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking 
Provision); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM08A (Landscape and Seascape Character); 
ST10 (Transport Strategy); ST03 (Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience); ST14 
(Enhancing Environmental Assets); ST06 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's 
Strategic and Main Centres); BID (Bideford Spatial Vision & Development Strategy) 
 
Government Guidance: 
 
NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
 
The main considerations of the application are;  
 
1. Principle of Development  
2. Design and Character Impact  
3. Residential Amenity  
4. Highways and Parking  
5. Drainage  
6. Ecology  
 
1. Principle of Development 
 
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning law (namely 
Section 38(6) of the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990) requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
must be taken into account in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans and is a material 
consideration in planning decisions. 
 
The application site is located within the development boundary for Bideford and therefore the 
provisions of Policy ST06 are considered relevant. The NDTLP identifies that Bideford will provide a 
focus for housing and employment development. Policy ST06 supports appropriate levels of growth 
that will increase self-containment, to meet its own needs and those of surrounding communities, 
where such is sought through the local vision.  

Page 125



 
Notwithstanding the above, it should be noted that a recent appeal decision for a residential 
development in Torrington concluded that the Council cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites and that paragraph 11 (d) of the NPPF is engaged.  
 
Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF indicates that the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
should apply and that permission should generally be granted unless the adverse impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the 
Framework as a whole. In this instance, there is no clear reason to refuse based on a protected area 
or asset and therefore an assessment of the NPPF's requirement to approve unless the adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits, through the application 
of a 'tilted balance' should be undertaken. This would include an assessment of the policies within 
both the NPPF and the NDTLP. In addition to the 'tilted balance', some weight can be given to policy 
ST21 of the NDTLP which relates to managing the delivery of housing. In particular, ST21 (2) is 
relevant, which supports development outside of settlement limits (where completions are below 90% 
of the annual requirement). The Burwood Appeal Decision determined that ST21 (2) is currently 
engaged, which requires any proposal to be in a location, of a scale, and nature commensurate with 
the deficit in required housing (a), demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to 
addressing the deficit in housing supply (b), be broadly consistent with the plans spatial 
strategy/vision along with the relevant settlement vision and development strategy (c), and be 
compliant with the remaining plan where relevant (d). Dealing with each of these points in turn: 
 
(a) The deficit of housing within Northern Devon is clearly substantial as a 5YHLS supply cannot be 
proven. This proposal is minor in scale, however, combined with other development, can assist in the 
contribution towards a 5YHLS.  
 
(b) The application is made in full which means that subject to the discharging of any pre-
commencement conditions, a developer could commence relatively promptly.  
 
(c) This proposal is located within the boundary of Bideford and therefore the principle of development 
is acceptable, subject to Policy ST06 and other policy considerations.  
 
d) The remaining planning considerations are discussed in the report below.  
 
2.  Character and Design Impact  
 
Policy DM04 expects that development proposals adhere to the standards of good design. The policy 
states that good design seeks to guide overall scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, 
materials, access and appearance of any new developments. The policy provides fourteen design 
principles that developments should have regard to.  
 
There have been several objections regarding the design of the dwelling and the impact to the 
surrounding character.  
 
The site is located on the southern part of an 'island' of properties off Raleigh Hill. This 'island' is 
comprised of a series of grand properties which have a noticeable design impact to the area. This is 
particularly prevalent in the relationship between Bramber and Haworth House (north and north-east 
of the application site). Haworth House is a significant two storey Georgian dwelling whilst the 
adjacent property 'Bramber' is a dark red/burgundy cladded two storey dwelling with substantial 
elements of glazing on the front elevation. Raleigh Hill can accommodate such a mixture of design 
materials partly due to its outer town nature (whilst remaining within the settlement boundary) and due 
to the limited views towards the application site. It is within this context that such a scheme coming 
forward would have to adhere to high design standards and to compliment the existing assortment of 
high-quality grandiose dwellings.  
 
There is a constraint associated with the application site in relation to its overall plot size which is 
limited. A key quality of surrounding dwellings is that they benefit from substantial gardens and as 
such, the Council were of the view that any proposal that would come forward should retain this 

Page 126



quality and ensure that an approved dwelling should be designed proportionately in relation to the 
plot, leaving a good sized amenity area. This constraint has limited the applicant to a building of 
modest scale so that the proposal would not constitute overdevelopment.  
 
It is the Officers view that it is appropriate that the proposal should be of a contemporary style with the 
backdrop of Bramber and Haworth House in plain sight containing a mixture of materials, sloping 
roofs, glazing and cladding to ensure that the dwelling doesn't appear too bulky and sits comfortably 
within the site's context.  
 
On this basis, the proposal is deemed to accord with Policy DM04 of the NDTLP.  
 
Residential Amenity:  
 
NDTLP Policy DM01 states that development will be supported where it would not significantly harm 
the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses, and the intended occupants of the proposed 
development would not be harmed as a result of existing or allocated uses. There have been several 
objection letters submitted with concerns around residential amenity, particularly in relation to the 
potential overlooking on the amenity land of Haworth House. There is a distance of approximately 
30m between the proposed siting of the dwelling and the property 'Haworth House'. There is a 
window located on the northern elevation however this is located away from Haworth House and 
there is a balcony located on the eastern elevation. However given the distance to Haworth House's 
amenity land (between 10-15m) and that it would still retain large portions of private amenity space, 
the harm is expected to be limited.  
 
On this basis, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DM01 of the NDTLP.  
 
4. Highways and Parking  
 
Policy ST10 of the NDTLP seeks to ensure that development proposals would not adverse impact 
local or strategic transport networks. Policies DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP expect that all 
development must ensure safe and well-designed vehicular access, the protection and enhancement 
of existing pedestrian routes, and an acceptable range of parking provision.  
 
Paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that permission should only be 
refused on highway grounds, if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
 
Some of the objections highlight concerns about limited parking provision provided and the impact on 
Robins Hill in terms of highway safety. The proposal contains a garage and hard standing area 
sufficient to accommodate two vehicles. Robins Hill is a narrow straight road where speeds are low. 
The proposed access would contain the required visibility for safe entrance/egress to the site. 
 
As a result, the proposal accords with policies ST10, DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP.  
 
Drainage :  
 
Policy ST03 of the NDTLP notes that development should 'adopt effective water management 
including Sustainable Drainages Systems, water quality improvements, water efficiency measures 
and the use of rainwater'. This is reflected in Policy DM04.   
 
The proposal seeks to connect with an existing foul drainage system used for Bramber. The proposal 
also includes a soakaway to the north of the application site for surface water drainage. There shall 
be a condition imposed to ensure that no surface water drains onto the highway.  
 
Trees/Landscaping:  
 
NDTLP Policy DM08A considers the merit of landscape character, and the potential for development 
to have significant harm upon those qualities. The block plan shows the provision of a new hedgerow 

Page 127



on the northern, eastern and southern boundaries and the planting of a tree on the north-east corner 
of the site. These additions would help partially screen the development as well as adding to the 
overall design quality of the development. The Council seek to impose a condition to ensure that 
further details are provided of the planting type and times of planting prior to occupation.  
 
Ecology:  
 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010).  This is further 
reinforced by Policies ST14 and DM08 of the NDTLP which require that development ensures the 
protection and enhancement of biodiversity. 
 
The application has been supported by a wildlife trigger list which concludes that no protected species 
would be affected because of the proposal. The provision of hedgerow accords with the Councils aim 
to seek net gain in biodiversity. 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Conclusion 
 
It is therefore considered that subject to the compliance with the attached conditions and taking into 
account all other material planning considerations, including the development plan the proposal would 
be acceptable.  
 
Recommendation 
 
GRANT subject to the following conditions 
 
 1         The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration 

of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
    
 Reason: The time limit condition is imposed in order to comply with the time requirements of 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
 2         The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the Plans Schedule. 
                                  
           Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
 3         Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so that none drains on 

to any County Highway. 
                   
           Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway. 
 
 4         Prior to occupation full details (including species, type and size at time of planting) of all 

proposed tree planting and landscaping and the proposed times of planting, have been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The agreed details shall be implemented 
in accordance with the agreed scheme and at those times specified.  If within a period of five 
years from the date of the planting of any tree, that tree, or any tree planted in replacement for 
it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies or becomes seriously damaged or defective another 
tree of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 

            

Page 128



           Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. 
 
 
 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

  

34  25.05.2020 
   

35  25.05.2020 
   

36  25.05.2020 
   

37  25.05.2020 
  

 
  
Statement of Engagement 
 
In accordance with paragraphs 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following positive and proactive 
manner. In this instance there was no need for further engagement as the development as submitted 
is considered to accord with the development plan.  In such ways the Council has demonstrated a 
positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning 
application. 
 

Page 129



 
Committee Report – 3 rd September 2020 

 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number:  1/0457/2020/FUL 

Registration date:  18 June 2020 

Expiry date:  13 August 2020 

Applicant:  Mr. Jonathan Prance  

Case Officer:  Debbie Fuller 

Site Address:  Building At Grid Reference 231879 113378,  
Bradworthy,  
Devon, 
EX22 7RH  

Proposal:  Removal of condition 4 pursuant to permission 
1/0146/2019/FUL - Time Restriction 

Recommendation:  Refuse 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 130

Agenda Item 7e



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
The application has been called in for consideration by Plans Committee by Councillor Dart, if the 
planning officer is minded to refuse, for the following reasons:- 
 
The advantages of being able to use this site for storage, in conjunction with HJWickett & Co are lost 
owing to the imposed conditions on time restriction. 
 
Whilst I appreciate there is one residential property situated adjacent to this site and next to the main 
road, it is imperative that ALL implications on the entire village and surrounding area are considered 
during determination of this application. 
 
Any refusal decision taken In respect of this application, could have wider implications on the 
amenities within the rural village of Bradworthy, and ultimately, the delicate economy therein. 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No.  Description  Status  Closed  

     

1/1544/1991 
 
1/0161/2016/FUL 

ERECTION OF CATTLE 
SHED 
Retrospective change of use 
of building and yard from 
agricultural to B8 use for 
storage 

PER 
 
PER 

10.01.1992 
 
13.04.2016 

   

1/0146/2019/FUL Change of use of 
hardstanding and existing 
building to provide vehicle 
parking and storage use 
(Class B8 storage), including 
the addition of storage 
containers. (AMENDED 
DESCRIPTION) 

PER 30.04.2019 

   

 
Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description 
The application site lies within the open countryside approx. 625 metres to the south west of 
Bradworthy, which is a local centre within Torridge District. The site is a parcel of land, which 
measures approximately 0.5 hectares, and in the centre of the site is a steel portal frame building, 
clad in dark coloured metal sheeting, with hardstanding surrounding. There is an existing access to 
the site from a classified highway (C461). The site is bounded by agricultural land to the south and 
west, and woodland to the north and east. The nearest neighbouring property, 'Littleford Cottage,' is 
to the east of the site approx. 30 metres from the boundary of the site, or 53 metres from the 
application building.  
 
The building was originally approved to be a cattle shed, (planning reference 1/1544/1991), which 
then gained retrospective planning permission for the 'change of use of building and yard from 
agricultural to B8 use for storage,' (planning reference 1/0161/2016/FUL) to be used for ‘secure 
vehicle parking and storage by H. J. Wickett & Co. Bradworthy.’ A further application was submitted 
for the 'Change of use of hardstanding and existing building to provide vehicle parking and storage 
use (Class B8 storage), including the addition of storage containers, (AMENDED DESCRIPTION),' 
(planning reference 1/0146/2019/FUL). At this stage, the site area, was extended to include the 
woodland to the east and north of the building and yard, (approved drawing, numbered 0647 02 A). 

Page 131



The site was, again, proposed to be used as overspill storage for the existing business, which was 
situated in Bradworthy centre. The original description as submitted on the application form was 
amended to exclude the B1 use class, (light industrial) from the application due to concerns from 
Environmental Protection about the use of power tools and noise associated with car repairs, which, 
as advised by the Environmental Protection Team, ‘could not be sufficiently suppressed to prevent an 
adverse impact on the occupants of the nearest neighbouring property, ‘Littleford Lake,’ located 20 
metres to the east of the application site.’ 
 
Proposed Development 
The application seeks permission to remove condition 4 pursuant to the last planning approval, 
(planning reference 1/0146/2019/FUL). Condition 4 states the following:- 
 
The premises shall not be used except between the hours of 08.00 to 19.00 Monday to Friday and 
08.00-13.00 on Saturday and no working on Sunday and Bank Holidays.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring residents. 
 
The application form states that 'The current hours stipulated on the planning for this property are 
restricting its use' and 'It is also holding our business back and not allowing us to provide the services 
we would like to deliver to our customers.' 'Our Lorry which is stored in the Shed at Little ford is used 
for recovery of broken down vehicles and where vehicles have been involved in an accident. This 
could occur at any time on any day. Although this does not happen every day it is a service that we 
offer our customers. If stored at Little ford the lorry is not able to be accessed for such events then 
customers may be in a great deal of distress and in a dangerous position on the highway.' 
 
There are no other proposed changes, to the external appearance, access and/or layout of the site. 
The submitted plan is the same as the previously approved plan (planning reference 
1/0146/2019/FUL, (drawing numbered 0647 02 A). 
 
Consultee representations: 
 
Bradworthy Parish/Town Council:  
Bradworthy Parish Council has no objection to this application. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
No response received.  
 
Environmental Protection Officer:  
In relation to the above application, restricting the operating times relating to planning application 
1/0146/2019 was recommended by the Environmental Protection and subsequently imposed as a 
condition (condition 4) to prevent or minimise disturbance to the neighbouring residential property, 
Littleford Cottage, located immediately east of the application site. Unrestricted use of the application 
site has the potential to adversely impact the residential amenity of Littleford Cottage from the sounds 
associated with vehicle movements, in particular at noise sensitive times. Discharge of the condition 
would remove the protection currently afforded to Littleford Cottage and result in detriment to its 
amenity. The Environmental Protection Team does not support the discharge of the condition and 
recommends that this application be refused.  
 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  2  Number of letters of support:  17 
Number of representations received:  18 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  1  

 
18 representations have been received, 17 in support and one objection. 
 
The following matters have been raised:- 

Page 132



 
Objection from residents of ‘Littleford Cottage’:- 
- Impact on residential amenity, in particular privacy due to noise disturbance from the recovery lorry 
late at night/ during anti-social hours. 
 
Support from residents at 'Waterlands Park Stud,' (located approximately 100 metres away), and 
'Hilltop' farm (approximately 200 metres away):- 
- no disturbance/grievances 
- road is busy and fast 
- support the business 
 
Support from residents within the Parish and further (Kilkhampton, West Putford, Putford, Soldon, 
Okehampton, Barnstaple and surrounds):- 
- Long standing customers of Wickett's Garage (the Prance family) 
- Community-based business / highly valued/trusted, longstanding/established, local, independent 
business, employs significant number of local residents 
- Customers also bought vehicles and MOT / servicing from them. 
- Better/faster/more flexible/helpful than nationally recognised breakdown agencies.  
- Jobs/working long shifts/anti-social hours/need to finish work early to drop off/collect vehicle out of 
hours 
- Out of hours breakdown good for equine/farming (animal welfare) 
- Preferred by elderly/parents with children/NHS worker/workers with vans with work tools (risk of 
theft) 
- Prefer to leave/park vehicle in a safer place/secure compound overnight than in Bradworthy Square 
- Would allow the square to remain clear/less noisy/congested/better for residents 
- Recovery vehicle not as much disturbance as busy road 
- The current access restrictions render the property unfit for purpose. It will allow their recovery 
business to operate fully, which is an essential service for all of us in this rural location. 
 
Policy Context: 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST01 (Principles of Sustainable Development); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); ST07 
(Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST11 (Delivering Employment and 
Economic Development); ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); 
DM02 (Environmental Protection); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 (Highways); DM06 (Parking 
Provision); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM14 (Rural Economy).  
 
Government Guidance: 
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); NERC 
(Natural Environment & Rural Communities); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981). 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
The main considerations for this application are:- 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Impact on Character and Appearance 
3. Residential Amenity 
4. Access, Parking and Highway issues 
5. Ecology 
 
Principle of Development 
The site is located in the countryside therefore; Policy ST07 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan (NDTLP) must be applied. Policy ST07 restricts developments in the countryside to be limited to 
that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs that are necessarily restricted to a 
countryside location.  

Page 133



 
NTDLP Policy ST11, 'Delivering Employment and Economic Development' states that 'employment 
growth will be supported to deliver quantitative and qualitative improvements in job opportunities 
throughout northern Devon'. Parts (6) and (7) of this policy state that the achievement of which will be 
supported on the following basis: 'support will be given to existing sectors to ensure that they continue 
to flourish and grow in a sustainable manner. The modernisation of employment sites will be 
encouraged in order to meet current and future business needs' (6) and 'proposals for economic 
development and diversification of the rural economy will be supported where they do not conflict with 
other Local Plan policies' (7). Policy DM14 concerns the 'Rural Economy' and, in order to support the 
rural economy, allows new small-scale economic development at Rural Settlements and in the 
Countryside where it involves sites or buildings adjoining or well related to a defined settlement or a 
Rural Settlement (b) and where the proposed employment use has a strong functional link to existing 
rural activity (c). Parts (d), (e) and (f) concern amenity, highways and landscape impact, all of which 
are considered below. 
 
The site was granted permission in 2016, (planning reference 1/0161/2016/FUL), for the use of the 
building as B8 storage in connection with the existing established business (H J Wickett & Co), which 
is located in the centre of Bradworthy. A subsequent planning application was submitted before the 
Local Authority to expand the storage facility, and to utilise the hardstanding for the storage of 
vehicles, (planning reference 1/0146/2019/FUL). It should however be noted that the previous 
planning application, (planning reference 1/0161/2016/FUL), made no reference to the recovery 
vehicle service. 
 
It was previously considered that the proposal to expand the existing use of the site would support the 
economic growth of the business, and that the proposed scheme was a suitable form of development 
for the open countryside and would not detract from the character and appearance of the surrounding 
area. The principle of the site for employment use has been established. However, the application is 
now to remove a condition which specifically relates to residential amenity, which is covered by other 
Local Plan policies. As Policy ST11 (Part 7) states, 'proposals for economic development and 
diversification of the rural economy will be supported where they do not conflict with other Local Plan 
policies' and part (d) of Policy DM14 ''Rural Economy' concerns amenity. Therefore, employment uses 
are not supported unless there are no amenity concerns. The impacts on residential amenity are 
considered below. 
 
Design, Character and Appearance 
Policies ST04 (improving the quality of development) and DM04 (design considerations) of the 
NDTLP, requires new developments to be of high quality design, including being well related to their 
surroundings, be of an appropriate scale, include quality materials, and to be sympathetic to the 
character and appearance of the local area. NDTLP Policy DM14 (f) requires proposals to respect the 
character and qualities of the landscape and the setting of any affected settlement or protected 
landscape or historic assets and their settings and include effective mitigation measures to avoid 
adverse effects or minimise them to acceptable levels. 
 
The application is for the removal of a condition, and there are no proposed changes to siting, layout 
of the site and/or external changes to the approved building and/or storage containers. The submitted 
plan is the same as the previously approved plan, (drawing numbered 0647 02 A). 
 
In light of the above the proposal is in general accordance with Policies ST04, DM04 and DM14 of the 
NDTLP. 
 
The impact on residential amenity 
Policy DM01 of the NDTLP relates to amenity considerations and notes, development will be 
supported where: 
a) It would not significantly harm the amenities of any neighbouring occupiers or uses; and 
b) The intended occupants of the proposed development would not be harmed as a result of existing 
or allocated uses.  
 

Page 134



Policy DM04 includes a principle regarding amenity and Policy DM14 requires at part (d) that there is 
no adverse impact on the living conditions of local residents. 
 
One of the core principles of the NPPF is to secure high-quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. 
 
The Local Plan states 'Development must have regard to the importance of protecting residential and 
other amenities. People are entitled to enjoy their own homes or public places without undue 
disturbance or intrusion from neighbouring uses. Good neighbourliness and fairness are some of the 
yardsticks against which proposals can be measured. Some types of development, particularly 
employment uses, can damage the environment of residential areas by creating unacceptable levels 
of traffic and pollution such as noise, smell, dust or vibration,' (Paragraphs 13.1-13.2). 
 
Policy DM02 of the NDTLP states that 'development will be supported where it does not result in 
unacceptable impacts to: (c) noise or vibration. 
 
On the previous planning application, (planning reference 1/0146/2019/FUL), Environmental 
Protection commented that the application site has been the subject of a noise abatement notice 
served by the Environmental Protection Team. The abatement notice was served as a result of a 
generator being used to power tools at the application site due to the absence of utility services. The 
original description as submitted was amended to exclude the B1 use class (light industrial) from the 
application due to concerns about the use of power tools and noise associated with car repairs, 
which, Environmental Protection advised could not be sufficiently suppressed to prevent an adverse 
impact on the occupants of the nearest neighbouring property, Littleford Lake, located 20 metres to 
the east of the application site. In conclusion, the Environmental Protection Team had no objection in 
principle to the B8 use of the land, providing suitable time restrictions were imposed to prevent or 
reduce any adverse impact on neighbouring residential amenity. 
 
Environmental Protection have been consulted on the proposal to remove condition 4, and state 
'Unrestricted use of the application site has the potential to adversely impact the residential amenity of 
Littleford Cottage from the sounds associated with vehicle movements, in particular at noise sensitive 
times. Discharge of the condition would remove the protection currently afforded to Littleford Cottage 
and result in detriment to its amenity. The Environmental Protection Team does not support the 
discharge of the condition and recommends that this application be refused.' 
 
The application form states that 'The current hours stipulated on the planning for this property are 
restricting its use' and 'It is also holding our business back and not allowing us to provide the services 
we would like to deliver to our customers.' 'Our Lorry which is stored in the Shed at Little ford is used 
for recovery of broken down vehicles and where vehicles have been involved in an accident. This 
could occur at any time on any day. Although this does not happen every day it is a service that we 
offer our customers. If stored at Little ford the lorry is not able to be accessed for such events then 
customers may be in a great deal of distress and in a dangerous position on the highway.' 
 
However, the previous planning application, (planning reference 1/0161/2016/FUL), made no 
reference to the recovery vehicle service. The application was made to provide additional storage for 
vehicles, associated with the main garage business located within the Square, for repairs or servicing. 
Subsequently, the application was approved on this basis. The comments of support indicate that the 
24/7 recovery service currently operates so it is difficult to understand how the time restrictions at the 
application site prevent it. 
 
The applicant states 'The only noise created would be from a vehicle starting and running while 
leaving or entering the site' and comments of support state that the road is just as busy and noisy. 
However, the recovery vehicle service would undoubtedly involve noise disturbance from idling 
engines, unloading vehicles, vehicle manoeuvring and gate access. As advised by Environmental 
Protection, this is noise that can be very intrusive during noise sensitive times and potentially result in 
sleep disturbance, and comparing this noise with that of fleeting road traffic noise from the nearby 
public highway with noise from the site is dubious.  
 

Page 135



It is noted that there are medium sized trees between the storage building and the residential 
property, which serve to screen the building from the road, and the distance from the building is 53 
metres from the dwelling. However, the access road to the application site is approximately 14 metres 
from the dwelling at its closest point, and/or about 20 metres between the dwelling as it runs along the 
boundary of the residential garden. At the boundary to the residential garden, and at the point of 
access onto the highway, near to the dwelling, for a stretch of approximately 40 metres, there is no 
natural screening and/or walls, which might minimise the impact of noise and vibration. 
 
In terms of use classes, 'B2' would allow ‘vehicle repairs,’ but 'B8' does not as it is for storage only. 
The change of use from 'B8' to 'B2' would require a planning application, ('is not permitted 
development'), because 'B2' allows for industrial processes, (such as car repairs), which are 
commonly noisy activities, and which could potentially have a harmful impact on residential amenity. 
The change of use from B8 (to either B2 or B1) is therefore seen as needing to be controlled by the 
planning system because of the potential harm to residential amenity. It has been considered 
previously, (planning reference 1/0146/2019/FUL), that the proposal for a ‘B1’ uses, (which also 
allows industrial processes), was enough to raise concerns about the operating of a garage business 
from this site and it was agreed by all parties to be removed from the description. 
 
There appear to be two issues, the issue of time restriction hindering the day to day business, and the 
issue of the 24/7 recovery vehicle operation. The time restriction in the main accords with the daytime 
operating/opening hours of the main business. The garage business operates 08.00 to 19.00 Monday 
to Saturday from the main premises located in The Square at Bradworthy. The condition restricting 
use of the Littleford site allows use 08.00 to 19.00 hours Monday to Friday and 08.00 to 13.00 hours 
on Saturdays which, albeit Saturdays, accords with the daily business operating times. In view of this, 
it is difficult to envisage how the restriction significantly hinders the main day to day business. 
Secondly, there is the issue of the 24/7 recovery vehicle operation. Comments indicate that this 
service currently operates and the business has the main premises presumably from which to carry 
out this service without the time restriction hindering its operation. 
 
Environmental Protection Team served a noise abatement notice on the application site in 2014. 
Although the noise in question originated from a dissimilar source and operator, Torridge District 
Council is very aware of the potential for disturbance at the adjacent property, ‘Littleford Cottage.’ In 
determining the previous application, (planning reference 1/0146/2019/FUL), this was a significant 
consideration. The time restriction was imposed on the application site to protect neighbouring 
residential amenity, whilst also allowing the business to operate to more or less its capacity. There 
appears to be no other means of protection to the amenity at ‘Littleford Cottage’ other than the applied 
time restriction. 
 
The comments of support only emphasise the real potential for disturbance if the time restriction is 
removed, for example comments such as "we managed to get our broken down vehicle off a 
dangerous road safely late one night", "I work long shifts…..and often need to drop off and pick up 
vehicles at unsocial hours", "I tend to take my car the night before its due to have work carried out," 
"the opportunity to bring their vehicles to the garage for work to be done at times outside of normal 
working hours" and "They were very fast to come and rescue me and my elderly mum late one night 
when I was broken down." 
 
The comments about the importance of the business have been carefully considered, but this does 
not override the concerns about the significant harm to residential amenity. Therefore, it is considered 
that the proposal is contrary to Policies DM01, DM02 (2, c), DM04 (i), ST11 (Part 7) and part (d) of 
Policy DM14 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 
 
Access, Parking and Highway issues 
Policy DM05: 'Highways' in the Local Plan requires development to have safe and well designed 
vehicular access and egress, adequate parking and layouts which consider the needs and 
accessibility of all highway users including cyclists and pedestrians, and all development shall protect 
and enhance existing public rights of way, footways, cycleways and bridleways and facilitate 
improvements to existing or provide new connections to these routes where practical to do so. Policy 

Page 136



DM06: 'Parking Provision,' states that proposals will be expected to provide an appropriate scale and 
range of parking provision to meet anticipated needs. 
 
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual 
cumulative impacts of development are severe. 
 
The application is for the removal of a condition, and there are no proposed changes to the access 
and/or parking layout. The submitted plan is the same as the previously approved plan, (drawing 
numbered 0647 02 A).  
 
If condition 4 were to be removed, it is implied that the recovery lorry would be used more often, 
although, as the application form states 'this does not happen every day.' The application site is 
served by an existing access, which has adequate visibility, and the number of trips, although 
unknown, is likely to be too low for concern about highway safety. Devon County Council Highways 
Team have been consulted and no response has been received. 
 
In light of the above the proposal is considered to be in accordance with DM05 and DM06 of the Local 
Plan. 
 
Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on wildlife 
is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 2010). This is further 
reinforced within the adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan through Policy DM08 and ST14 
which states that development proposals should conserve and, where possible, enhance biodiversity 
interests. 
 
Due to nature of the proposal, the need for a wildlife survey has not been triggered by good practice 
guidance. The proposal is considered to comply with Policies DM08 and ST14 of the NDTLP. 
 
Conclusion 
In terms of the principle, improving the existing business is supported by the Local Plan, as long as 
other policies are satisfied, including the impact on residential amenity. It is acknowledged that the 
business has loyal customers from a wider area than Bradworthy, has built trust over the years and 
seen as being flexible, helpful and local. However, the application as submitted is for the removal of a 
condition, which has been previously applied so as to ensure the amenities of neighbouring residents 
are not adversely impacted. It is considered, that removing the time restrictions will allow use of the 
site during hours of the day and/or on days when residents are entitled to enjoy their homes without 
undue disturbance or intrusion from neighbouring uses. Although, the use of the recovery vehicle may 
be infrequent, and low, there are no exact figures presented, and the Local Planning Authority would 
not be able to enforce the number of trips if there were. It would also allow other uses related to the 
employment site, which may give rise to disturbance. Given that Environmental Protection has 
previously served a noise abatement notice on the application site, and there is an objection received 
from the nearby residential property, there are real concerns that activities would significantly harm 
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. In addition, although provided in support, the comments 
emphasise the real potential for disturbance if the time restriction is removed. 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
Recommendation 
 
REFUSE for the following reason:- 
 

Page 137



 
 1      The submitted application seeking the removal of Condition 4 of the previous planning approval, 

(reference 1/0146/2019/FUL), would create a situation, which is considered to significantly 
harm the amenities of the neighbouring occupiers, due to the potential to adversely impact the 
residential amenity of 'Littleford Cottage,' from the sounds associated with vehicle movements, 
in particular at noise sensitive times. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies DM01: 
'Amenity Considerations,' (criteria a), DM02: 'Environmental Protection,' (part 2, criteria c), 
DM04: 'Design Principles,' (criteria i), ST11: 'Delivering Employment and Economic 
Development,' (Part 7) and part (d) of Policy DM14: 'Rural Economy,' of the North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan. On this basis, the current application for the removal of Condition 4 
should be refused. 

 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

  

Site and Location Plan  18.06.2020 
  

 
Statement of Engagement 
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents, Planning Briefs and other informal written 
guidance, as well as offering a full pre-application advice service, in order to ensure that the applicant 
has been given every opportunity to submit an application, which is likely to be considered favourably. 
In such ways the Council has demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solution to 
problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
            
In this instance the applicant did not enter into pre-application discussions with the Council. No 
discussions were necessary with the applicant during the processing of the application as the Council 
had taken a decision, which set out its assessment on a previous planning application, which the 
applicant was aware of when submitting this application. 

Page 138



 
Committee Report – 3 rd September 2020 

 
 
 
 
 

              © Crown copyright and database rights 2012 Ordnance Survey 100022736 Application Number:  1/1054/2019/FUL 

Registration date:  2 December 2019 

Expiry date:  27 January 2020 

Applicant:  Mrs Laura Morrish  

Agent:  GM Planning 

Case Officer:  Angelo Massos 

Site Address:  Ruby Oak Park,  
Brandis Corner,  
Holsworthy, 
Devon, 
EX22 7YA,   
 

Proposal:  Proposed temporary live/work unit 

Recommendation:  Refuse 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100022736 
 

 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 7f



 
 
Reason for referral: 
 
This is a successful Rural Enterprise providing Life saving swimming lesson to school children 
together with aspects of Health and Well being.  
 
The provide additional facilities the applicant needs in order to be on site to avoid unnecessary 
journeys 
 
To provide all day attention to increase trade 
 
To provide full time security 
 
To work with her growing local work force 
 
Relevant History: 
 
Application No.  Description  Status  Closed  

    

1/0084/2011/FULM Redevelopment of existing 
commercial nursery site to 
provide community recreation 
facility 

PER 07.12.2011 

   

1/0031/2012/FUL Redevelopment of existing 
commercial nursery site to 
provide community recreation 
facility 

NPW 18.01.2012 

   

1/0003/2012/DIS Discharge of conditions - 
1/0084/2011/FULM - 
Conditions 3, 4, 6 and 7 

PER 10.02.2012 

   

1/0137/2017/FUL Supervisory dwelling to 
support an existing fitness 
and leisure facility located at 
Ruby Oak Park 

WDN 20.04.2017 

   

1/0413/2017/FUL Supervisory dwelling to 
support existing fitness and 
leisure facility at Ruby Oak 
(Resubmission of 
1/0137/2017/FUL) 

REF 01.06.2017 

     

 
Site Description & Proposal 
 
Site Description  
The site is located in the open countryside, and is comprised of an open area with mature woodlands 
/ grassland boundaries to the north and east and west. To the south the site adjoins the A3072. The 
site is accessible predominantly by private car but is on a bus route albeit there is no stop near to the 
site access and no pavements or cycle ways for safe access. The A3072 at this point has a 60 mph 
speed limit. The nearest main centre of Holsworthy is situated approximately 5 miles west and the 
centre of Halwill Junction is approximately 5 miles to the south. 
 
The existing site is comprised of the pool building with a hardcore car parking area to the south of the 
building. The site is known as Ruby Oak Park which operates as a swimming pool and leisure facility 
(Planning Use lass D2), with an ancillary café and associated storage and office facilities. The site 
was granted planning permission in 2011 under permission reference 1/0084/2011/FULM.   

Page 140



 
The site has previously been the subject of a planning application for a permanent supervisory 
dwelling under the application reference 1/0413/2017/FUL which was refused for the following reason: 
 
‘It is considered that the proposed new dwelling located in this open countryside location outside any 
established settlement does not constitute sustainable development and does not comply with the 
tests and other policy principles governing new dwellings as set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework in particular paras 6, 7, 49, & 55. The proposed new dwelling is considered to be contrary 
to policy DVT2C of the adopted Torridge Local Plan which requires that new dwellings in the 
countryside are limited to 'inter alia' agricultural, countryside recreational, and/or identified types of 
tourist development and/or other development that is related to appropriate farm diversification. It is 
not considered that there is an overriding or essential need for a supervisory dwelling in this location 
and that the case has not been proven as to why the business could not operate as it does at present 
remotely and in particular from one of the larger nearby settlements which is in easy travelling 
distance of the site. The lack of a 5 year land supply in relation to new dwellings does not override the 
key tests of sustainability in relation to new housing locations. There are no exceptional 
circumstances in this case to set that test aside’. 
 
Furthermore, the application was dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate (appeal reference 
APP/W1145/W/17/3190139) in which the inspector’s conclusion comments are summarised as 
follows: 
 
‘I conclude that there is not an essential need for a worker to live permanently at the appeal site. In 
this regard, the proposed house would therefore be contrary to saved policy DVT2C of the Torridge 
District Local Plan (1997-2011) which seeks to safeguard the character of the countryside, amongst 
other things, and control the type of development permissible in these rural areas. Furthermore, as a 
dwelling in the countryside I do not consider that it would be essential to support the rural enterprise 
and therefore would also be in conflict with paragraph 55 of the Framework. 
 
I consider the proposal to be without sufficient justification for a development within the countryside 
and in an isolated unsustainable location, which would neither minimise the need to travel nor support 
the transition to a low carbon future.  
 
Overall I find that the adverse impacts of the proposed development would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the Framework when taken 
as a whole. Therefore, the proposal would not represent sustainable development’. 
 
Proposed Development 
The application seeks full planning permission for a proposed temporary rural workers dwelling. The 
proposed dwelling will measure 13.5 metres by 7.3 metres with a height of 3.6 metres. The dwelling 
will provide the provision for a two bedroom dwelling with an open plan living areas and office. The 
dwelling will be constructed with cladding for the walls, box profile roofing merlin grey and UPVc for 
the fenestration. The proposed surface water and foul drainage will connect to the existing means of 
disposal.    
 
Consultee representations: 
 
Bradford & Cookbury Parish/Town Council:  
Bradford & Cookbury Parish Council fully supports this application. 
 
Devon County Council (Highways):  
Observations : 
Access to the site by vehicle is acceptable - however the applicant is reminded that in summer the 
visibility splays in both directions need to be maintained by cutting the trees/hedges back. The access 
to the site, or from the site to local facilities, on foot is however unsafe. This will result in all traffic 
associated with the proposal being by car. There are no capacity issues on the local road network, so 

Page 141



this is not a reason for the Highway Authority to object to the proposal. However, the LPA may wish to 
consider this in terms of sustainability policies. 
Recommendation: 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF 
DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, HAS NO OBJECTION 
TO THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - DC&D Police:  
  
Response 1 
Police have no objections to the proposal. 
 
Response 2 
As discussed, I went to the site on Friday and also had the opportunity meet with the applicant.  
 
I have no immediate concerns from a crime prevention perspective with regard to the main building; there is a 
monitored intruder alarm installed, exterior lighting and lockable gates at the entrance. It is my understanding 
that the applicant is looking to renew/upgrade the intruder alarm and I have offered some guidance on this 
matter. However, the locating of a community defibrillator by the entrance to the pool/café does give cause for 
concern. This effectively allows 24hr access into the site, thereby justifying any intrusion, legitimate or 
otherwise! I have advised that this be moved to the main gate pillar, but the site will still be open to allow access 
to the unit as there are concerns that the equipment would be too vulnerable if placed outside the site. 
 
CCTV was also discussed as a way to potentially enhance the present site security package. As with CCTV, 
having staff on permanently on site would enhance overall site security, hence police having no objection to the 
proposal, however, it should not be seen as a panacea to all security needs or the sole reason for granting 
permission. 
 
I have sought the thoughts of the local policing team but do not expect them to highlight the area as a 
major concern for crime and disorder. 
 
Representations: 
 
Number of neighbours consulted:  2  Number of letters of support:  6 
Number of representations received:  6 Number of neutral representations: 0 
Number of objection letters:  0  

 
6 letters of support were received from an interested third parties and their comments are 
summarised as follows: 
 
- Community facility 
- Support for Rural Economy 
- Design and siting 
- Security 
- Support growth and extended opening opens  
- Reduction in private car travel for commuting to the site 
 
 
Policy Context: 
 
 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031:  
ST07 (Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon's Rural Area); ST14 (Enhancing 
Environmental Assets); DM01 (Amenity Considerations); DM04 (Design Principles); DM05 
(Highways); DM06 (Parking Provision); DM08 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity); DM28 (Rural Worker 
Accommodation); ST04 (Improving the Quality of Development); DM02 (Environmental Protection);  
 

Page 142



 
Government Guidance:  
NERC (Natural Environment & Rural Communities); NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework); 
NPPG (National Planning Practice Guidance); WACA (Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981);  
 
 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
 
The main planning considerations in the determination of this application are as follows: 
 
1. Principle of development  
2. Character and Appearance 
3. Neighbouring Amenity  
4. Highways 
5. Foul and Surface Water Drainage  
5. Ecology 
 
 
1. Principle of Development  
1.1 This application is within the countryside and therefore policy ST07 (4) of the North Devon and 

Torridge Local Plan 2011 - 2031 (NDTLP) is relevant. Policy ST07 (4) notes: 
 

"Within the countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, development will 
be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse, 
and development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location." 

 
1.2 Policy ST07 (4) aims to strictly control inappropriate development in the countryside, however, 

does permit development which is justified and suitable for the rural location. Policy DM28 of the 
NDTLP relates specifically to rural workers accommodation, which states the following:  

 
(1) Proposals for the provision of accommodation in the countryside for a rural worker will be 
supported where: 

a) It can be demonstrated that there is an essential operational need for a full time worker to 
be resident at or near the place of work; 
b) The size and nature of the dwelling should be such that it can be sustained by the scale of 
the operation, reflective of the location and setting and proportionate to the needs of the 
intended occupants; 
c) The accommodation cannot be met by any other means including: 

i. Accommodation in a nearby settlement; or  
ii. By an existing dwelling at or near the site; or 
iii. Through the conversion of a suitable redundant or disused building on site; and 

d) Appropriate highway access can be provided. 
 

(2) Where the enterprise is well established, of a sufficient size to support a full-time worker, 
economically viable and has a clear prospect of remaining so, support will be given to the 
provision of a permanent new dwelling. 

 
(3) Where the enterprise does not meet the criterion set out to support the provision of a new 
permanent dwelling, the provision of temporary accommodation will be considered for an initial 
period of three years. 

 
(4) New accommodation provided for rural workers will be, and all existing dwellings at the rural 
business may be, subject to occupancy restrictions, and where it is felt appropriate by the Local 
Planning Authority, may be subject to a legal agreement tying its use to the specific rural 
business. 

Page 143



 
1.3 Paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 provides that isolated 

homes in the countryside should be avoided unless there are special circumstances, which 
includes the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work in 
the countryside. Paragraph 79 of the NPPF does not offer guidance for establishing what 
constitutes an 'essential need'. Policies ST07 and DM28 are considered to accord with national 
policy within the NPPF Paragraph 79.  

 
1.4 The Council has adopted a Rural Workers’ Dwellings Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

which is formally adopted and sets out the test for assessing a functional need under part 1 of 
Policy DM28. The following extract of the SPD include the paragraph numbers.  

 
3.6  Before permitting a new dwelling for a rural enterprise there must be a demonstration  

that it  is essential for the proper functioning of the enterprise for one or more worker to 
be readily available at most times at or near the place of work (NDTLP Policy DM28 (1) 
(a)). Whether this is essential in any particular case will depend on the operational 
needs of the enterprise. 

 
3.7  To establish a functional need the following requirements must be satisfied: 

 
I. a genuine need to live on the site and to be available at short notice at all times rather 

than living in a nearby centre or village; 
II.  it is not possible for the rural enterprise to run effectively without having the worker 

living on site; 
III.  no one undertaking the essential functional work already lives at the rural enterprise, or 

insufficient provision exists if there is a functional need for more than one worker; 
IV. there is no dwelling available at the rural enterprise for occupation by the worker and 

there is no possibility of adapting a building at the rural enterprise; and 
V.  there is no suitable and available dwelling in a nearby village available for occupation 

by a worker who is required to provide the functionally essential service. 
 

  3.8 The functional test requires an evaluation of risk. The policy test is not about ease, 
convenience or personal preference; it is about whether there is an “essential need” for 
the worker to be resident on site for the enterprise to function properly. It is recognised 
that many activities can be carried out more conveniently if a worker lives on site; 
convenience does not however constitute an essential need and will not therefore 
justify a need for a new dwelling. 

 
  3.18 NDTLP Policy DM28 also allows consideration to be given for a temporary dwelling to 

support a rural enterprise which is not well established, with such accommodation 
normally being a caravan or mobile home. The provision of temporary accommodation, 
normally over a three year period, offers the opportunity for the enterprise to become 
established while enabling operational needs to be met and confirmed prior to 
progression to a permanent dwelling if justified. 

 
 3.19  The operational need for a temporary dwelling will need to be demonstrated on the 

same basis as a permanent dwelling. The following will be expected to accompany a 
planning application for a temporary rural worker’s dwelling: 

 
I.  demonstration of an essential functional need for a resident worker arising from the 

enterprise; 
II. clear evidence of a firm intention and ability to develop the enterprise concerned; 
III. clear evidence that the enterprise has been planned on a sound financial basis, with a 

business plan provided; 
IV. evidence that the functional need could not be fulfilled by another existing dwelling on 

the business unit, the absence of a building capable of conversion suitable for the 
required use or any other existing accommodation in a nearby village or centre which 
is suitable and available for occupation by the worker(s) concerned; and 

Page 144



V.  other general planning requirements that would apply to any dwelling being met. 
 
1.5  To accompany the planning application a planning support statement and a business plan 

have been provided. Both the statement and the business plan demonstrate that there is an 
established functioning business which provides swimming lessons for 1500 pupils per week 
and a total of 15 local primary schools.  The site is open to the public 7 days a week and offers 
public swimming and aqua Zumba and other specialist classes and is available for hire to local 
community groups. The opening hours for the site are Monday to Friday 9am to 8pm, 
Saturdays 8.15am to 4.30 pm, and Sundays 08:45 to 22:00. The business has been able to 
employee an additional 7 members of staff since 2016 taking the number of staff to 21 due to 
the increase in demand and success of the business. This information was based on the 
operations prior to COVID 19.  

 
1.6 The business plans sets out future aspirational intentions for the expansion and diversification 

of the on site operations with a campsite and woodland walks, nature trails and a forest 
school. However, there is insufficient information provided to assess how the proposed 
expansion and diversification proposals would be brought forward. Furthermore, any 
expansion and diversification proposals to be considered within this application would need to 
be able to come forward without the need of planning permission independently. Therefore, 
two additional documents have been provided referred to as ‘further supporting information’ 
and ‘cash flow information’ which were received on the 2nd July, following a site meeting on the 
5th February. The site meeting discussed the potential requirements for a temporary dwelling 
that could be considered through the proposed expansion and diversification proposals which 
are initially stated in the business plan. The additional information provided to assess how the 
proposed expansion and diversification proposals would justify a ‘functional and essential 
need’ for a temporary dwelling is considered to provide insufficient justification. Therefore, the 
test for a ‘functional and essential need’ will be assessed against the established operations of 
the business based on the information provided.  

 
1.7 The justification for the functional and essential need for a rural workers dwelling have been 

outlined within the submitted information for the following reasons: 
 

• To reduce commuting hours  
• To improve security measures 
• To extend hours of operation, maintenance and management duties 
• To extend opening hours to the public  

 
1.8 The operations that provide justification from the submitted information for a ‘functional and 

essential need’ have been compared to the previous dismissed appeal 
APP/W1145/W/17/3190139 (which is a material planning consideration) within the principle 
section of this report. The material difference from the previous appeal scheme to the 
proposed application is the temporary nature of the dwelling. The fundamental tests for 
assessing a ‘functional and essential need’ are stated within the adopted Rural Workers’ 
Dwellings SPD. It is to be noted that the tests for the ‘functional and essential need’ for a 
temporary rural workers dwelling remain the same as a permanent rural workers dwelling.  

 
1.9 It is to be acknowledged that although a private facility, it provides a well supported community 

facility for rural communities, as per the 6 letters of support received by interested third parties.  
 
1.10 The site has been successfully providing a community facility since 2015 with an increasing 

demand for the current services offered by the facility and with a gross profit. Furthermore, the 
site operations since 2015 are considered to have established a successful business without 
the need for a rural worker living on the site. It is considered that the operations of the 
business although unique for an open countryside location and operating at a substantial 
scale, are not significantly different from the time of the dismissed appeal. Therefore, it is 
considered that there is currently no functional need for a worker to live on the site in order for 
the business to be able to function and operate successfully. Due consideration has been 

Page 145



given to the implications of COVID 19 in terms of the operation, management and planning in 
particular the additional risk assessment, reduction operational capacity, increase in labour 
and cleaning procedures required due to COVID 19. Within the additional information received 
it is considered the COVID 19 related operations and additional procedures in terms of 
justifying a functional need is not clear, and the future requirement of such processes and the 
potential impact on the future financial stability of the enterprise following COVID 19 has not 
been demonstrated. 

 
1.11 One of the reasons presented to demonstrate an essential need within the supporting 

information to justify the proposed temporary dwelling, is through removing the need to 
commute to the site which will reduce carbon emissions and will facilitate the operations of the 
site. The applicant lives some distance away from the site which incurs an estimated 45 
minutes travel time to the site. The weight afforded to the removal of commuting to justify an 
essential need has previously been considered by the Inspector who considered the ‘extent of 
the commute to not be excessive or unusual, especially in a rural area such as this’. The 
Inspector made recommendations that alterative locations within existing settlements such as 
Holsworthy, should be explored that would provide a more suitable location to live and reduce 
the burden of the time spent commuting. Furthermore, given the open countryside location 
living on the site would require a dependency upon services and facilities to meet the day to 
day needs, which would be reliant on and only accessible by the means of private transport, 
which is not considered sustainable and therefore would negate the justification for the 
reduction of carbon emissions from commuting.  Your Officers acknowledge that the time 
spent commuting could be utilised more efficiently in operating the business however, the 
commuting travel time could be sought to be resolved by the living in a settlement or location 
which has an existing residential use. It is to be noted within part 1 (c) of Policy DM28 requires 
an assessment to demonstrate that there is no suitable and no available accommodation 
within a nearby settlement. The information provided is considered insufficient information to 
demonstrate that there is no suitable and no available accommodation within nearby 
settlements such as Holsworthy or Halwill Junction. I can sympathise with the applicant’s 
financial commitments and additional pressures due to COVID 19, nonetheless all types of 
potentially suitable and available accommodation that considers all tenures need to be 
provided, unfortunately there is insufficient information to satisfy this aspect of Policy DM28.  

 
1.12 A further justification reason presented to support an essential need is that living on the site 

will enhance the on site security measures. As apart the application the Designing Out Crime 
Officer was consulted and confirmed that a person living on site will enhance security 
measures. Nonetheless, alternative measures can be adopted that would improve the security 
of the site, such as installing a CCTV security package and upgrading the existing intruder 
alarm can be achieved without the need for a person to live on the site.  The officer also stated 
that a person living on the site ‘should not be seen as a panacea to all security needs or the 
sole reason for granting permission’ . Therefore, security cannot form the primary or sole 
reason for a ‘functional and essential need’ however, it can be considered as a contributing 
factor towards establishing a ‘functional and essential need’. Within the dismissed appeal it 
was considered that there is no substantive evidence or record of crime or disorder at the site. 
Within this application there is no substantive evidence or record of crime or disorder at the 
site and therefore limited weight should be afforded toward security for this application in the 
assessment of the ‘functional and essential need’.  

 
1.13 It is stated that living on the site will enable the ability to extend hours of operations, 

maintenance and management duties which would in turn enable opening hours to be 
extended to the public.  To assist with extending opening hours the option of employing a key 
holder or site manager to open the business to extend hours of operations was explored. 
However, employing a person to assist with enabling opening hours to be extended is 
considered to not be a viable option for the applicant. From the information provided it has 
been evidenced that additional space to conduct management and planning duties is required 
due to the lack and insufficient office space at the site. Although the proposed dwelling seeks 
to incorporate the provision for an office space within the design a residential use is not 
considered to be justified or sufficiently evidence that for the business to operate a person 

Page 146



would need to live on the site. However, the provision of the principle of an office space to 
support and facilitate the operation and management planning duties is considered sufficiently 
evidenced and appropriate to support the operations of the existing business without the need 
to live on the site. It is acknowledged that living on or closer to the site would enable 
operations on the site to be conducted with greater ease and convenience. However, as 
outlined in paragraph 1.10 it is considered there is no functional need for the business to have 
a person living on the site for the business to function properly.  Furthermore, within 
Paragraph 3.8 of the SPD it states that ease, convenience or personal preference does not 
constitute an essential need or will justify the need for a new dwelling.  

  
1.14 In addition to the functional and essential need a judgement of the viability of the business 

needs to be considered in order to ensure economic sustainability of the business will 
continue. Within the business plan the business has been able to demonstrate a gross profit 
for the years 2016, 2017 and 2018.  However, within the additional information provided to 
further support the application future financial stability of the enterprise following COVID 19 
has not been demonstrated. Therefore, there is an uncertainty as to whether the business will 
be able to sustain pre-COVID 19 operations and therefore in the absence of detailed 
information on the future financial stability of the business, there are doubts that the business 
will be able to continue an on-going profitability to sustain a person working and living on the 
site.  

 
1.15 This application seeks for a temporary dwelling; the recognised purpose of a temporary 

dwelling is to support a rural enterprise which is not well established. In this instance the 
business operations are established without a person living on the site. No substantial 
evidence has been provided to demonstrate how the business is seeking to expand and 
diversify operations in order to justify a potential ‘functional and essential need’ that needs the 
support of a temporary dwelling to establish the growth of the business. Therefore it is 
considered that a temporary dwelling has not be justified nor appropriate, due to the 
established nature of the business operations which are considered to not be significantly 
different from the previous dismissed appeal. Furthermore, temporary dwellings are expected 
to provide the provision of accommodation in the form of either a caravan or mobile home. 
Within the application insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate that the 
proposed lodge dwelling would accord with the legal definition of a caravan in order to ensure 
the proposed dwelling is of a temporary nature and design.  

 
1.16  The proposed development seeks a residential use of the site in an open countryside location 

which is considered to not accord with the spatial strategy in the local plan under Policy ST07. 
However, the Council’s current position in relation to the 5 year housing land supply in the 
District has been successfully challenged at a recent appeal for a proposed residential 
development in Torrington. The appeal concluded that the Council cannot demonstrate a five 
year supply of deliverable housing sites and that paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF is engaged. 

 
Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF indicates that the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development should apply and that permission should generally be granted unless: 

 
Under paragraph 11(d) i: The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

 
Under paragraph 11(d) ii: Any adverse impacts of the development would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as 
a whole. 

 
In this instance, in respect of paragraph 11(d)(i), there is no clear reason to refuse the 
development based on a protected area or asset of particular importance.   

 
In relation to paragraph 11(d)(ii); an assessment of the NPPF’s requirement to approve an 
application unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits must be undertaken, through the application of a ‘tilted balance’ 

Page 147



assessment.  The ‘tilted balance’ assessment includes policies within both the NPPF and the 
Local Plan. 

 
Policy ST21 of the Local Plan notes that in the situation where the Council cannot meet its 
identified 5 year housing land supply with completions falling below 90% then proposals for 
additional residential development outside of defined settlement limits will be supported where 
they meeting the following requirements: 

 
(a) in a location and of a scale and nature commensurate to the deficit in required 
housing; 
(b) able to demonstrate the ability to contribute in a timely manner to addressing the 
deficit in housing supply; 
(c) broadly consistent with, not prejudicial to and contributing towards the positive 
achievement of the plan’s overall spatial vision and strategy for northern Devon, along 
with the relevant settlement vision and development strategy; and 
(d) in all other respects in accordance with other Local Plan policies, in so far as they 
apply’. 

 
1.16 In light of the Council’s under supply of delivering housing development Policy ST21 sets out 

the criteria for proposed development sites that lie outside of an identified settlement 
development boundary. The proposed development is not considered to be in an appropriate 
location for open market residential development. This is due to the lack of infrastructure and 
provision of services to support the daily needs of residential occupiers.  Therefore; the 
proposed development is considered an unsustainable location that will result in a 
dependency upon private car travel to access services within the settlements of Holsworthy 
and or Halwill Junction. 

 
1.17 It is to be noted that the above Policy, ST07 is considered to still remain relevant and 

substantial weight is attributed toward the Policy. Policy ST07 is considered to remain in 
accordance with the NPPF, irrespective of the successful challenge of the Council’s 5 year 
housing supply. In term of the tilted balance assessment an open market residential use of the 
site within the open countryside location is considered to have adverse impacts that would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the residential development. 
Therefore, open market residential development would not accord broadly with the spatial 
strategy as set out in the North Devon and Torridge Local plan and therefore would result in 
unsustainable development. Therefore, residential development at the proposed site can only 
remain to be considered through the exceptional circumstance of a rural workers dwelling or 
through the conversion of a disused and redundant building.  

 
1.18 In light of the above assessment detailed within this report, it is considered that the operations 

of the business have not been demonstrated to be significantly different from the dismissed 
appeal on the site; and the justification presented for the functional and essential need within 
this application is not considered to demonstrate that there is a functional and essential 
business need. The justification presented for the functional and essential need test are 
considered to be on the bases of ease, convenience and personal preference. The only 
aspect of the justification that can be afforded weight toward justifying an essential need is the 
enhancement to on site security measures. Nonetheless, alternative measures can be 
implemented that do not require a person to live on the site. Furthermore, security as a factor 
towards justifying an essential need cannot be the primarily or sole reason for an essential 
need. Given the absence of any record for crime and disorder at the site it is considered that 
there remains no functional nor essential need. Therefore, the proposed development is 
considered to not accord with Policy DM28 (1) (a), the Rural Workers’ Dwellings SPD and 
Paragraph 79 of the NPPF. 

 
1.19 Additionally, there is insufficient information provided to demonstrate that there is no suitable 

and no available accommodation within nearby settlements such as Holsworthy or Halwill 
Junction that considers all tenures to satisfy Policy DM28 (1) (c) and the Rural Workers’ 
Dwellings SPD. Furthermore, the assessment of proposed development needs to take into 

Page 148



account the economic sustainability of the business, which has demonstrated a gross profit for 
the years 2016, 2017 and 2018. However, within the additional information provided to further 
support the application future financial stability of the enterprise following COVID19 has not 
been demonstrated. Therefore, there is an uncertainty as to whether the business will be able 
to sustain pre-COVID 19 operations and therefore in the absence of detailed information on 
the future financial stability of the business, there are doubts that the business will be able to 
continue on-going profitability to sustain a person working and living on the site.  No clear 
prospect of the business remaining economically viable has been presented in order to satisfy 
the policy requirement of DM28 (2) and the Rural Workers’ Dwellings SPD.  

 
 1.20 Due to the establish nature of the operations of Ruby Oak Park and the insufficient information 

provided to demonstrate any expansion and diversification proposals; the principle of a 
temporary rural workers dwelling is considered to not be appropriate for the established nature 
of the business operating at the site. Additionally, there is insufficient information to 
demonstrate the dwelling accords with the legal definition of a caravan in order to ensure the 
proposed dwelling is of a temporary nature and design. Therefore, the proposed development 
does not accord with Policy DM28 (3) and the Rural Workers’ Dwellings SPD. 

 
1.21 For the reasons as set out above, the principle of proposed temporary rural workers 

development is considered to conflict with Policies ST07, ST21, DM28 and Adopted Rural 
Workers Dwelling SPD NDTLP and Paragraph 79 of the NPPF 2019.  

 
   
 
2. Character and Appearance 
2.1 Policy ST04 and Policy DM04 of the Local Plan relates to design and notes that development 

proposals should be appropriate and sympathetic to their setting in terms of scale, density, 
massing, height, layout appearance, fenestration, materials and their relationship to 
surrounding buildings and landscape features. 

 
2.2 The proposed design of the dwelling seeks to erect a building of a modest single storey scale 

the proposed sitting is considered to be an appropriate location that is will related to the 
existing built form on the site. However, the proposed design of the material for the external 
cladding have not be clarified as well as how the proposed building will be a temporary and 
able to be removed. Therefore, there is inconclusive information to assess the design of the 
proposed dwelling against Policies ST04 and DM04. 

 
 

3. Neighbouring Amenity 
3.1 Policy DM01 of the Local Plan states that development will be supported where it would not 

significantly harm the amenities of neighbouring occupiers or uses, nor the future occupants of 
the proposed development. 

 
3.2 As a part of the application Bradford & Cookbury Parish Council were consulted and provided 

comments of support for the application. Furthermore, no objection comments were received 
from interested third party. Due to the open countryside location within the vicinity of the site 
there are not neighbouring dwellings. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed dwelling 
would unlikely result in any amenity harm and therefore the development will accord with 
Policy DM01.  

 
 
4. Highways 
3.1 Policy DM05 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that development proposals do not adversely 

affect the local or strategic highway network and that vehicular accesses are safe and well 
designed. Further, Policy DM06 requires an appropriate level of parking to be provided for new 
development proposals. 

 

Page 149



3.2  As a part of the application the Highway Authority were consulted and raised no objections in 
terms of highway safety as the site has an established vehicle access which the proposed 
dwelling would utilise. Furthermore, the site has sufficient capacity for car parking within the 
site.  Comments from the Highway Authority refer to sustainability however this can been 
addressed within the principle of development. Therefore, it is considered that the 
development would accord with Policies DM05 and DM06. 

 
 
5. Foul and Surface Water Drainage  
5.1  Policy DM02 requires that development does not result in unacceptable impacts from 

contaminated land, pollution to water from surface or ground and the atmosphere.   
 
5.2 The proposed development will seek to utilise an existing foul and surface water drainage 

systems therefore it is considered that the proposed development will not result in any 
significant harm to the environment and therefore would accord with Policy DM02.  

 
 

6. Ecology 
6.1  Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of development on 

wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning application under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
2006, The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (Habitats Regulations 
2010).  

 
6.2 This is further reinforced within the NDTLP through Policies ST14 and DM08, which require 

development to maintain or where possible enhance biodiversity and mitigate the potential loss 
of habitats. Policy ST14 promotes the addition of providing net gain where possible through 
management, expanded network of designated sites and green infrastructure. 

 
6.3 A Wildlife Trigger List was submitted as part of the planning application which concluded that    

there will be no effect on protected species as a result of this scheme, additionally it is 
considered unnecessary for net gain to be implemented, due to the nature and scale of the 
development. It is thereby considered that the local planning authority has satisfied its statutory 
duty. 
 

 
7. Conclusion 
7.1 All material considerations have been taken into account including the dismissed appeal and 

present impacts of COVID 19. The Councils acknowledges the importance of Ruby Oak Park’s 
facilities and services that it provides to rural communities within Torridge.  Given the impacts 
of COVID 19 and the temporary closure and the associated economic pressures this has 
inflicted upon rural businesses, the Council is seeking to retain and support rural local 
businesses were possible particularly in this instance were a community facility is provided.  
However, in light of the above assessment based on the evidence submitted to support this 
application, it is considered that there is no sufficient or significantly different evidence to 
demonstrate that there is a ‘functional and essential need’, in comparison to the dismissed 
appeal as the business has been able to demonstrate being able to function successfully 
without a person living on the site since opening in 2015. Therefore, the proposed 
development is considered to fail to demonstrate and justify a ‘functional and essential need’ 
for a rural worker to live on the site and therefore the application does not accord with Policy 
DM28 (1) (a), the Rural Workers’ Dwellings SPD and Paragraph 79 of the NPPF. 

 
7.2 Additionally, there is insufficient information provided to demonstrate that there is no suitable 

and no available accommodation within nearby settlements such as Holsworthy or Halwill 
Junction that considers all tenures. Therefore, the proposed development does not satisfy the 
aspect of Policy requirement of DM28 (1) (c) and the Rural Workers’ Dwelling SPD. There is 
also uncertainty as to whether the business will be able to sustain pre-COVID 19 operations 
and an absence of detailed information on the future financial stability of the business. No 

Page 150



clear evidence has been provided that the business will be able to continue on-going 
profitability to sustain a person working and living on the site and therefore no clear prospect 
of the business remaining economically viable has been presented in order to satisfy the 
policy requirement of DM28 (2) and the Rural Workers’ Dwellings SPD.  

 
7.3 Due to the establish nature of the operations of Ruby Oak Park and the insufficient information 

provided to demonstrate any expansion and diversification proposals, the principle of a 
temporary rural workers dwelling is considered to not be appropriate for the established nature 
of the business operating at the site. Additionally, that there is insufficient information to 
demonstrate the dwelling accords with the legal definition of a caravan in order to ensure the 
proposed dwelling is of a temporary nature and design. The proposed development does not 
accord with Policy DM28 (3) and the Rural Workers’ Dwellings SPD.  

   
7.4 Given the above, the principle of the proposed development is considered to conflict with 

Policies ST07, ST21, DM28 and Adopted Rural Workers’ Dwellings SPD and Paragraph 79 of 
the NPPF.  

  
7.5    In addition to the principle of the development not being acceptable, there is insufficient 

information provided in order to determine a positive of outcome of the proposed development 
with regards to the design and details of the proposed temporary design and materials. 
Therefore, there is inconclusive information to assess the design of the proposed temporary 
dwelling against Policies ST04 and DM04. 

 
7.6 In terms of the considerations for the neighbouring amenity, foul drainage, highways and 

ecology the proposal accords with Policies DM01, DM05, DM06, ST14 and DM08.  
 
 
Human rights 
 
Consideration has been given to the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 
 

1) It is considered that an essential operational need for a full time worker to be resident at Ruby 
Oak Park, which is in a countryside location, has not been demonstrated contrary to Policy 
DM28 of the adopted North Devon & Torridge Local Plan (NDTLP), the adopted Rural 
Worker’s Dwellings Supplementary Planning Document and Paragraph 79 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019). The case has not been proven as to why the business 
could not continue to operate as it does at present remotely and in particular from one of the 
larger nearby settlements which is in easy travelling distance of the site. Whilst the Council 
currently lacks a 5 year housing land supply, this is not considered to override the key tests of 
sustainability in relation to new housing locations. It is considered that residential development 
on the site would not accord broadly with the spatial strategy as set out in the North Devon 
and Torridge Local plan and therefore would result in unsustainable development contrary to 
Policies ST07 and ST21 of the NDTLP. Furthermore, insufficient information has been 
submitted to assess the design considerations of the proposed dwelling against Policies ST04 
and DM04 of the NDTLP. 

  
 
Plans Schedule 
 
Reference Received 

  

Page 151



Location Plan  14.11.2019 
   

Proposed Site Plan  14.11.2019 
   

Proposed Elevations & Floor Plans  02.12.2019 
  

 
 
   
Statement of Engagement 
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in dealing with 
this application, the Council has worked with the applicant in the following and positive and proactive 
manner. We have made available detailed advice in the form of our statutory policies in the 
Development Plan, Supplementary Planning Documents and other informal written guidance, as well 
as offering the opportunity on numerous occasions for the applicant to provide sufficient information to 
address the concerns raised.  Therefore, the applicant has been given every opportunity to submit an 
application which is likely to be considered favourably. In such ways the Local Planning Authority has 
demonstrated a positive and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to 
the planning application. 
 
The Local Planning Authority has provided numerous opportunities for the applicant to provide further 
information required to support the application. Due to the application’s sites community facilities and 
service it provides and the financial impacts of COVID 19, the Local Planning Authority have explored 
all options prior to the determination. However, the information provide is deemed insufficient.  
Therefore, the Local Planning Authority is of the option that the only way to proceed with the 
application is with a refusal.  In such ways the Local Planning Authority has demonstrated a positive 
and proactive manner in seeking solutions to problems arising in relation to the planning application. 
 

Page 152



 
 

APPEAL DECISIONS SUMMARY 
Committee 3 September 2020 

 
 
 

Application No. 
 
1/0433/2019/FUL 

Address/Proposal 
 
Land At Reeds Farm 
Beaford 
Devon 
Application for the retention of timber building 
including erection of poly tunnels 

Appeal 
Decision 
 
Allowed 

Officer 
Recommendation 
 
Refuse 

Committee/ 
Delegated 
 
Delegated 

Costs 

 

P
age 153

A
genda Item

 8



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 21 July 2020 

by Tobias Gethin  BA (Hons), MSc, MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 30 July 2020 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/W1145/W/20/3247353 

Reeds Farm, Beaford, Devon EX19 8LR 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr John Palmer against the decision of Torridge District Council. 
• The application Ref 1/0433/2019/FUL, dated 20 May 2019, was refused by notice dated 

29 August 2019. 
• The development proposed is for the erection of a timber building to serve part of the 

site to be used for bee keeping and growing of exotic plants. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the erection of a 

timber building and polytunnels to serve part of the site to be used for bee 

keeping and growing of exotic plants at Reeds Farm, Beaford, Devon EX19 8LR 

in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref 1/0433/2019/FUL, dated 
20 May 2019, and subject to the following conditions: 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: Location Plan (dated 07-05-2019); Block Plan 

(titled Site Location Plan, dated 17/06/2019); Drainage layout; Proposed 

Polytunnels (elevations, floor plan and section); and Timber Building 
(elevations, section and floor plan, dated May 2019). 

2) Within 3 months of the date of this decision, details of the proposed foul 

drainage system including percolation tests shall be submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority for their approval in writing. The approved drainage 

system shall be implemented on the site within 6 months of the date of this 
decision and retained thereafter. 

Procedural Matters 

2. At my site visit, I saw that the timber building had been constructed. The 

appeal documents also include reference to the provision of polytunnels, as 

shown on the proposed site plan and included within the description of 

development on the Council’s Decision Notice. I have therefore dealt with the 

appeal on this basis and amended the description of development taken from 
the application form to better capture the scope of the development. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are:  

Page 154

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3247353 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

• whether the proposed development would be in an appropriate location, 

with particular regard to the timber building and its effect on the 

character and appearance of the surrounding area; and  

• whether drainage provision on the site would be adequate for the 

proposed development. 

Reasons 

Location 

4. Situated outside of the development boundary of Beaford, the appeal site is 

defined by the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (NDTLP) as 

being within the countryside. Forming part of a field, the site clearly relates to 
its rural setting. However, being located on the edge of Beaford, there is a 

variety of built form in the vicinity of the site, including agricultural and 

residential buildings. A water treatment works is also located nearby.  

5. Although the timber building has a semi-domestic appearance due to aspects 

such as its glazed doors and windows, the materials used in the construction of 
its roof and walls ensure that it has a relatively rustic and understated design. 

It therefore reads as a building that would not be unexpected in a rural setting 

and does not appear out of character with its countryside and edge-of-

settlement situation. Its appearance also sufficiently responds to its context 
and it does not appear incongruous in relation to the varied built form in the 

surrounding area. 

6. The sloping topography of the area and the screening provided by existing 

hedges, trees and soft landscaping means that the site and timber building are 

not particularly visible from the surrounding area. Although there may be 
greater visibility when trees and plants are not in leaf, I observed on my site 

visit that the timber building, given its relatively low profile and that it has 

been built down into the site, would be likely to only be visible in limited views 
from the highway during the winter months. The Design and Access Statement 

also refers to the planting of a new hedge and on my site visit I observed 

numerous young trees planted to the rear of the timber building. It seems to 
me that these will clearly provide additional screening as they mature. 

7. NDTLP Policy ST07 sets out that development in the countryside will be limited 

to, amongst other aspects, that which is enabled to meet local economic and 

social needs and development which is necessarily restricted to a countryside 

location. On my site visit, I observed that the timber building housed various 
equipment to serve the bee keeping and farming-related, plant growing 

activities as referred to by the appellant. There were also seven bee hives on 

the site – significantly more than at the time of the Council’s decision – and 

bases for additional hives. Amongst other aspects, the appellant indicates that 
the development would supply a local need for pollinators for local farms. 

8. With the current number of bee hives and the proposed number of polytunnels, 

the existing and proposed activities appear to be sufficient to justify and 

support the need for the building and would make reasonable use of the land. 

Furthermore, the keeping of bees and the growing of plants clearly requires a 
certain amount of space. With the development intended to serve these 

activities, it therefore seems to me that the need for such space also 

necessitates the site’s countryside location. 

Page 155

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3247353 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

9. I note that the Council queries the location of the timber building in relation to 

the bee hives and its central position within the field and separation from 

existing buildings. However, given my findings regarding the development’s 
effect on the character and appearance of the surrounding area, its limited 

visibility in the locality and that it would meet a local need and is restricted to a 

countryside location, the central position of the timber building within the field 

does not lead me to a different conclusion. 

10. For the above reasons, I conclude that the proposed development would be in  
an appropriate location, with particular regard to the timber building and its 

effect on the character and appearance of the surrounding area. I therefore 

find that it accords with NDTLP Policies ST04, ST07, DM04 and DM08A. 

Amongst other aspects, these: set out the Council’s spatial development 
strategy for northern Devon’s rural area; and require high quality design that is 

appropriate to its setting, respects landscape character and responds to and 

reinforces the characteristics of the locality. 

Drainage 

11. An existing non-mains foul drainage system is proposed to be used to provide 

drainage for the development. This would involve a septic tank and discharge 

to a drainage field or soakaway. 

12. The appellant’s submitted percolation test results show an average percolation 
value of 13.58. As identified by the Council, this is below the minimum value 

set out in BS6297:2007 to ensure that untreated effluent cannot percolate too 

rapidly into the ground and potentially pollute groundwater.  

13. However, the available evidence indicates that this does not mean that 

satisfactory drainage cannot be provided on the site. For example, the 
comments of the Council’s Environmental Protection Team on the planning 

application indicate that percolation rates below 15 require a permit from the 

Environment Agency. Alternatively, the team suggests that further percolation 

tests could be undertaken to demonstrate that minimum values can be 
achieved without tertiary treatment. Failing that, additional treatment 

measures – such as the installation of reed bed filtration, a pond or connection 

to the main sewage, as suggested by the appellant – could be provided.  

14. There is little substantive evidence before me which indicates that all of these 

options would be unachievable. I note that South West Water have also 
suggested that the development be connected to the public foul or combined 

sewer, and the submitted drainage layout plan shows a public sewer running 

near to the site. Furthermore, the appellant’s Foul Drainage Assessment Form 
indicates that the system would discharge to a drainage field that would be 

designed and constructed in accordance with BS6297:2007.  

15. Accordingly, it would in this instance be reasonable and relevant to use a 

planning condition to secure the provision of further details relating to foul 

drainage on the site. This would ensure that drainage provision would be 
adequate and the proposed development would thus not pollute groundwater. I 

therefore find that it accords with NDTLP Policy DM02. Amongst other aspects, 

this sets out that development will be supported where it does not result in 
unacceptable impacts to pollution of ground water. 

  

Page 156

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/W1145/W/20/3247353 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

Other matters 

16. The Council does not allege that the development would harm the Beaford 

Conservation Area, and the heritage officer has not objected. Having 

considered the development and visited the site, I concur with that view. 

Accordingly, I find that the development would preserve the character and 
appearance of the designated heritage asset and its setting. 

Conditions 

17. I have had regard to the various planning conditions that have been suggested 
by the main parties. I have considered them against the tests in the 

Framework and the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance. I have made such 

amendments as necessary to comply with those documents, for clarity and 

consistency, and to ensure that details are submitted to and considered by the 
Council where relevant. 

18. I have imposed a condition requiring that the development is carried out in 

accordance with the approved plans in the interests of certainty. A condition 

relating to drainage is necessary to ensure that the development does not 

pollute groundwater. This condition also covers the matters raised by South 
West Water. 

19. However, the standard time limit condition is not necessary because the 

development has already begun and the timber building has been constructed. 

Given the building would not be suitable for residential occupancy and such a 

use has not been applied for, it is not necessary to include a condition in 
relation to this matter. The Council have also not suggested such a restriction. 

Conclusion 

20. For the above reasons, the appeal is allowed. 

Tobias Gethin 

INSPECTOR 

Page 157

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

AGMB DECISIONS 23.07.2020 – 20.08.2020 
 

Application Number Address/Proposal Decision 
 

 
1/0396/2020/AGMB 

 
Agricultural Building At 
Lower Forda, Bradworthy, 
Devon. 
 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of 
agricultural building to 1 
no. dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under class Q   

 
Approved 

 
1/0489/2020/AGMB 

 
Berrington Farm, 
Ashwater, Beaworthy. 
 
Prior notification for the 
change of use of 
agricultural building to 1 
no. dwellinghouse and 
associated building 
operations under class Q   

 
Refused 

 

Page 158

Agenda Item 10



Torridge District Council 

 Planning Decisions 

Between 23.07.2020 and 20.08.2020 

List of Applications 
 
Application 
No: 

Officer Proposal and Address Applicant Decision/Date 

 
 

PERMITTED 
1/1343/2018/
OUTM 

Helen 
Smith 

Outline application for residential 
development of up to 110 dwellings, 
public open space and associated 
infrastructure with all matters 
reserved except access - Land At 
Wooda Road, Pitt Lane, Appledore. 

Baker Estates 
Ltd 

PER 
11.08.2020 

 
1/0330/2019/
FUL 

Helen 
Smith 

Proposed Conversion Public House 
to 2 Residential Units & Erection of 
x 2 three bedroom dwellings in 
grounds - Green Dragon, Fore 
Street, Langtree. 

Mr Colin 
Edworthy 

PER 
14.08.2020 

 
1/0618/2019/
FUL 

Shaun 
Harringt
on 

Proposed flats and associated 
parking (variation of condition 2 of 
planning permission 
1/0831/2017/FUL) - Land Adjacent 
76 Atlantic Way, Westward Ho!, 
Devon. 

Clearsky 
Developments 
Ltd 

PER 
05.08.2020 

 
1/0037/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Proposed detached dwelling - 
Highdown, North Road, High 
Bickington. 

Mr David 
Lickerish 

PER 
29.07.2020 

 
1/0076/2020/
REMM 

Kristian 
Evely 

Reserved matters (Appearance, 
Landscaping, Layout and Scale) for 
the erection of 130 dwellings 
pursuant to 1/1192/2015/OUTM - 
Daddon Hill, Northam, Devon. 

 PER 
12.08.2020 

 
1/0161/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Proposed general purpose 
agricultural building. - Land At 
Patchill, Petrockstowe, Devon. 

Mr & Mrs Bright PER 
05.08.2020 

 
1/0244/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Change of use of poultry farm 
building to sui generis for marquee 
business. - Agricultural Building At 
Kinangop Farm, Winkleigh, Devon. 

Mr Alex Phillips PER 
05.08.2020 

 
 
 
 

Page 159

Agenda Item 11



1/0292/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Agricultural roof over yard and 
loading area as a part of Mid-Tier 
Countryside Stewardship - East 
Hele, Buckland Brewer, Bideford. 

Mr Harvey 
Brown 

PER 
27.07.2020 

 
1/0319/2020/
OUT 

James 
Jackson 

Outline planning permission for 2 
dwellings with all matters reserved 
except for access. - Land Adjacent 
Myhouse, Bradworthy, Devon. 

Mr and Mrs 
Craske 

PER 
06.08.2020 

 
1/0328/2020/
FULM 

Laura 
Davies 

Solar park and ancillary 
development (Variation of condition 
2 of planning permission 
1/1177/2015/FULM - Alteration to 
layout and module row spacing, 
change in location of access track 
and reduction in number of 
transformers) - Land At Bulkworthy, 
Devon, . 

Ecotricity 
(Bulkworthy 
Solar) Ltd 

PER 
14.08.2020 

 
1/0337/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Rear and side extension and 
replacement garage - Tawcott, 
Brushford, Chulmleigh. 

Mr Richard 
Chandler 

PER 
30.07.2020 

 
1/0349/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Agricultural building for the storage 
of fodder and machinery - Field 
Adjacent To Highworthy Cross, 
Shebbear, EX21 5SS. 

Mr David 
Skinner 

PER 
30.07.2020 

 
1/0356/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Roof over existing cattle handling 
yard - Higher Hopworthy, Pyworthy, 
Holsworthy. 

Paul Symons PER 
30.07.2020 

 
1/0364/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Creation of access to dwelling 
approved under reference 
1/1297/2018/AGMB - Agricultural 
Building At Beechcroft, St Giles On 
The Heath, Launceston. 

Holland PER 
11.08.2020 

 
1/0379/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Boyle 

Extension to roof to incorporate loft 
conversion and single storey 
extension to rear with balcony deck. 
- 25 Windmill Lane, Northam, 
Bideford. 

Mrs Sarah 
Bailey 

PER 
29.07.2020 

 
1/0382/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Alterations and renovations to listed 
building - 33 South Street, 
Torrington, Devon. 

Mr Christopher 
Bright 

PER 
11.08.2020 

 
1/0396/2020/
AGMB 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under class Q - 
Agricultural Building At Lower 
Forda, Bradworthy, Devon. 

Mr M Walter PER 
04.08.2020 

 
 
 

Page 160



1/0401/2020/
FUL 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Extension to agricultural building to 
provide covered yard to reduce dirty 
water levels - Horwood Barton, 
Frithelstockstone, Bideford. 

Mr S Beer PER 
27.07.2020 

 
1/0402/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Change of use of agricultural land 
and creation of menage and round 
pen - Horwood Coombe, Monkleigh, 
Bideford. 

Ms S Brown PER 
10.08.2020 

 
1/0409/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Single storey extension, internal & 
external repairs and alterations. - 
Pear Tree Cottage, Aller Road, 
Dolton. 

Miss Corinne 
Clark 

PER 
29.07.2020 

 
1/0410/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Single storey extension, internal and 
external repairs and alterations. - 
Pear Tree Cottage, Aller Road, 
Dolton. 

Miss Corinne 
Clark 

PER 
29.07.2020 

 
1/0412/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

First floor extension to rear of house 
and conversion of barn to holiday 
cottage to include single-storey 
extension - Cornish House, 1 Bull 
Hill, Bideford. 

Mr Ellor PER 
05.08.2020 

 
1/0413/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

First floor extension to rear of house 
and conversion of barn to holiday 
cottage to include single-storey 
extension - Cornish House, 1 Bull 
Hill, Bideford. 

Mr Ellor PER 
30.07.2020 

 
1/0415/2020/
FUH 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Extension to bedroom to create 
ensuite bathroom - 23 Moreton 
Avenue, Bideford, Devon. 

Mr Buckland PER 
31.07.2020 

 
1/0417/2020/
FUL 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Single storey extension to front, 
conversion of conservatory to en-
suite and installation of a dormer 
window to rear - Fairview, Warren 
Close, Torrington. 

Ms Helen 
Corrick 

PER 
30.07.2020 

 
1/0420/2020/
FUH 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Erection of a single storey side 
extension - 2 St Marys Close, 
Taddiport, Torrington. 

Mr Matthew 
Barnes 

PER 
14.08.2020 

 
1/0429/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Conversion and enlargement of 
existing garage to family room and 
first floor bedroom. Erection of utility 
and garage extension, with first floor 
over. Alterations including the 
raising of the ridge and alterations to 
the access. (Amendment to 
previous application: 
1/0235/2018/FUL) - Newstead, 
Hatchmoor Road, Torrington. 

Mr & Mrs 
Danny Jenkins 

PER 
03.08.2020 

 
 

Page 161



1/0430/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Single storey side and rear 
extension and car port - 64A 
Hanson Park, Northam, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs G 
Wilkins 

PER 
31.07.2020 

 
1/0431/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Repairs, alterations and 
reinstatement works (Affecting a 
Public Right of Way) - Priestacott 
Farm, Frithelstockstone, Torrington. 

Ms Heather 
Short 

PER 
05.08.2020 

 
1/0432/2020/
FUL 

Angelo 
Massos 

Internal alterations and demolition of 
the existing extension and 
conservatory, with replacement of a 
new single storey extension 
occupying a similar footprint. - 106 
Irsha Street, Appledore, Bideford. 

Maria Wilson PER 
05.08.2020 

 
1/0433/2020/
LBC 

Angelo 
Massos 

Internal alterations and demolition of 
the existing extension and 
conservatory, with replacement of a 
new single storey extension 
occupying a similar footprint. - 106 
Irsha Street, Appledore, Bideford. 

Maria Wilson PER 
05.08.2020 

 
1/0437/2020/
TRE 

Mr Peter 
Stapley 

Crown reduction of 4.5m, remove 
hazardous deadwood, crown 
shaping branch reduction of 1-1.5m, 
to copper beech tree covered by 
TPO/0004/1972 - 88 Atlantic Way, 
Westward Ho!, Bideford. 

Mr Colin Ward PER 
27.07.2020 

 
1/0443/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Proposed toilet facilities - St 
Swithuns Church, Littleham, Devon. 

Littleham Parish 
Council 

PER 
14.08.2020 

 
1/0441/2020/
FUL 

Tracey 
Blackmo
re 

Replacement single-storey 
extension, new porch and internal 
reconfiguration. Conversion of 
existing store into guest annex. - 
Rixlade Cottage, Abbotsham, 
Bideford. 

Mrs Chloe 
Belskaia 

PER 
31.07.2020 

 
1/0455/2020/
FUL 

Laura 
Davies 

Retrospective application for a 
replacement agricultural building 
and two biomass boilers - Youldon 
Farm, Pancrasweek, Holsworthy. 

Mr Charles 
Merchant 

PER 
06.08.2020 

 
1/0454/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Installation of internal stud walls to 
provide better access to residential 
accommodation. - Italian Kitchen, 21 
Bridgeland Street, Bideford. 

Ruth Gould PER 
14.08.2020 

 
1/0458/2020/
FUL 

Kristian 
Evely 

Erection of detached double garage 
plus creation of private courtyard 
serving dwelling onto disused deck 
area - Cleave Quay, Lower Cleave, 
Northam. 

Mr Bruce 
Deane 

PER 
19.08.2020 

 
 

Page 162



1/0467/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Proposed rebuilding of eastern 
gable existing brick chimney stack 
to conform with Building Regulations 
- Higher Skellies, Riddlecombe, 
Chulmleigh. 

Miss Amy 
Roberts 

PER 
06.08.2020 

 
1/0468/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Proposed rebuilding of eastern 
gable existing brick chimney stack 
to conform with Building Regulations 
- Higher Skellies, Riddlecombe, 
Chulmleigh. 

Miss Amy 
Roberts 

PER 
06.08.2020 

 
1/0470/2020/
FUH 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Two storey extension - Roborough, 
First Raleigh, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Cousins 

PER 
18.08.2020 

 
1/0475/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement windows and doors - 4 
The Quay, Appledore, Bideford. 

Ms Zoe Lyall PER 
10.08.2020 

 
1/0472/2020/
FUH 

Laura 
Davies 

Proposed single storey side 
extension - Nethercleave, Littleham, 
Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs 
Robert Guy 

PER 
18.08.2020 

 
1/0476/2020/
LBC 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Replacement windows and doors - 4 
The Quay, Appledore, Bideford. 

Mrs Zoe Lyall PER 
10.08.2020 

 
1/0483/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Erection of a general purpose 
agricultural storage building - Great 
Dinworthy, Bradworthy, Holsworthy. 

A W Pomeroy 
and Son 

PER 
19.08.2020 

 
1/0503/2020/
FUL 

Sarah 
Chappel
l 

Proposed extension (Variation of 
condition 2 of planning permission 
1/0326/2017/FUL) - Bearah, 
Buckland Brewer, Bideford. 

Mr And Mrs T 
Mills 

PER 
20.08.2020 

 
1/0533/2020/
FUL 

Debbie 
Fuller 

Replacement wall to front boundary 
- 20 Highfield, Northam, Bideford. 

Mr Brian Martin PER 
19.08.2020 

 
1/0548/2020/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of a general purpose 
agricultural building - Markadon 
Farm, Hartland, Bideford. 

J & S Dennis PER 
28.07.2020 

 
1/0557/2020/
TCA 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Removal and felling of Copper 
Beech tree - 1 Tannery Row, 
Church Lane, Torrington. 

Mr Henry 
Harraway 

PER 
14.08.2020 

 
1/0560/2020/
AGR 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Erection of steel frame agricultural 
barn - Land At Grid Reference 
244166 102503, West Chilla, 
Devon. 

Mr William 
Mcphee 

PER 
07.08.2020 

 
1/0579/2020/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Erection of general purpose 
agricultural building - Westlakes, 
Thornbury, Holsworthy. 

Mr Tim Priest PER 
05.08.2020 

 
 
 

Page 163



1/0591/2020/
AGR 

Ryan 
Steppel 

Cover over existing slurry store 
(affecting a public right of way) - 
Upcott, Halwill Junction, Beaworthy. 

Mr Robert 
Veale 

PER 
14.08.2020 

 
1/0595/2020/
AGR 

Angelo 
Massos 

Steel frame shed to cover existing 
dung pit - Luffincott Barton, Tetcott, 
Holsworthy. 

Mr Britton PER 
06.08.2020 

 
 

REFUSED 
1/0416/2020/
OUT 

Laura 
Davies 

Outline application with all matters 
reserved for the erection of 1 
dwelling - Whitcott House, Bucks 
Cross, Bideford. 

Mr & Mrs D and 
T Morgan 

REF 
30.07.2020 

 
1/0489/2020/
AGMB 

Laura 
Davies 

Prior notification for the change of 
use of agricultural building to 1 no. 
dwellinghouse and associated 
building operations under class Q - 
Berrington Farm, Ashwater, 
Beaworthy. 

Ms. Heather 
Blease 

REF 
06.08.2020 

 
 
 

Page 164


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7a Application No. 1/0407/2019/FULM
	7b Application No. 1/0041/2009/OUTM
	7c Application No. 1/0460/2020/FUL
	1_0460_2020_FUL appendix
	0460-2020 Appendix

	7d Application No. 1/0398/2020/FUL
	7e Application No. 1/0457/2020/FUL
	7f Application No. 1/1054/2019/FUL
	8 Appeal Decisions Summary
	Final Decision

	10 Delegated Decisions - AGMB Applications
	11 Planning Decisions

